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TOWN OF LEBANON

ELECTED OFFICIALS
2017-2018

Office Town Officer’s Name
First Selectman Betsy Petrie
Selectman Glen Coutu
Selectman John A. Bendoraitis Jr.
Town Clerk Mary Ellen Wieczorek
Treasurer Deborah Reichard Martin
Tax Collector Joyce A. Hofmann

Board of Finance

Elizabeth S. Charron
Meghan Bruce
Kevin Cwikla

Philip R. Johnson
Diane S. Malozzi
David A. Scata

Board of Finance Alternates

David M. Geligoff
Michael E. Ninteau
Vin Shea

Board of Education

Albert B. Vertefeuille
Berthier R. Bosse
Maureen McCall

Nicole McGillicuddy
Alexis Margerelli-Hussey
William R. Meese

James Mello

Jason E. Nowosad

Keith Wentworth

Board of Assessment Appeals

Scott H. McCall
William R. Meese
Wendy E. Salisbury



TOWN OF LEBANON
ELECTED OFFICIALS
2017— 2018

Planning and Zoning Commission

James W. Jahoda
Wayne M. Budney
Robin A. Chesmer
Keith L. LaPorte
Francis Malozzi
Thomas G. Meyer
Kathleen L. Smith

Planning and Zoning Commission Alternates

Allyn Miller
Joyce R. Okonuk
Ethan K. Stearns

Zoning Board of Appeals

Jeffrey T. Walsh
Mark P. DeCaprio
David M. Geligoff
Michael E. Ninteau
Keith A. Sczurek

Zoning Board of Appeals Alternates
Donna R. Skaats

Jerome Walsh
Open Position

Registrars of Voters

Catherine L. McCall
Berkeley C. Nowosad

* Library Board of Trustees

Catherine L. McCall
Michelle A. Kersey
Diane L. McCall
Maureen D. McCall
Colleen Meese
Berkeley C. Nowosad
Judith Vertefeuille
Eileen B. Weinsteiger
Mary B. Withey
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Justice of the Peace
(1/3/2017 thru 1/4/2021)

Mary P. Anderson
Raymond F. Andrews
Ellen L. Bauwens
Pierre A. Belisle
Nancy A. Brouillet
Karen K. Buffkin
Sandra D. Dearborn
G. Scott Deshefy
Mark C. Favrow
Linda R. Finelli
Robert M. Gentes
Brian Green

Melissa A. Hofmann
Bonnie L. LeBlanc
Robert A. Leone
Oliver J. Manning
Allyn H. Miller

Joyce R. Okonuk
Michael A. Okonuk
T. Allan Palmer
Arthur B. Richardson
Nancy Ann Roberts-Schweitzer
Michael P. Samaha
Donna Skaats

Robert M. Slate
Edward W. Tytor
Jerome E. Walsh
Michael P. Wallace
Karen A.K. Wax



Board of Selectmen Annual Town Report 2017-2018

The 2017-2018 Fiscal Year began with a strange start as the State of Connecticut’s months-long budget
impasse prevented the Town of Lebanon from being able to pass its own budget until November 2017.
At a Special Town Meeting, residents voted to approve the 2017-2018 Fiscal Year Budget in the amount
of twenty-five million, four hundred fifty-five thousand, one hundred three dollars and no cents
($25,455,103.00) with Revenue Estimates of seven million one, one hundred three thousand, five
hundred twelve dollars and no cents. The remainder of the funds were to be covered with taxes with an
estimated mil rate of 29.4 mils.

This year saw Lebanon face extreme weather, including heavy snow and wind. In October 2017 and in
March and May 2018, many Lebanon residents were left without power for days as a result of these
storms and an inadequate response from Eversource. The Town has made it clear to Eversource that this
is not acceptable.

These weather events were made worse by weakened trees from recent droughts and gypsy moth
infestations. Although the infestation appears to have subsided, the damage to trees could affect
Lebanon and other towns around the state for many years. To help mitigate these issues, the Town has
been working proactively to remove as many dead trees as possible before they become hazards.

Despite difficult weather, the Town completed its projects to build a garage at the Senior Center to
house the vehicles used for the Senior Transportation program as well as repainting the interior of that
building. The Town also completed renovations to the Town Hall and the Jonathan Trumbull Jr. House
Museum. Work also began on the development of the North Lebanon Cemetery on Synagogue Road.

During this fiscal year, the Town also made significant progress in its legal case to resolve ownership
concerns over the Town Green and parcels of land on which municipal buildings, Town Hall, Jonathan
Trumbul! Library, and Public Works Garage reside. Clarifying the Town’s legal ownership of these parcels
would clear the way for work to begin on the expansion of the Jonathan Trumbull Library as approved
by voters in May 2015.

On behalf of the Board of Selectman, thank you to all of you who have helped the Town over the past
year.

Thank you

Betsy Petrie
First Selectman



TOWN OF LEBANON
TOWN CLERK REPORT
Fiscal Year July 1, 2017— June 30, 2018

The Town Clerk plays a central role in the operation of local government. The office interfaces with
state, federal, and local departments. The office is responsible for maintaining the records of the
town and its citizens.

The Town Clerk has diverse responsibilities including serving as clerk to town meetings, municipal

records management land record transactions, map filings, trade name certificates and veterans
discharge filings are all recorded and maintained by the Town Clerk’s office. The vault stores land
records dating back to the early 1700’s. As Registrar of Vital Statistics, the Town Clerk issues
marriage licenses and certified copies of birth, death and marriage licenses. Other services
provided by the Town Clerk are the issuance of dog licenses, sports licenses, notary registrations,
liquor permits and burial permits.

The Town Clerk works in tandem with the Registrar of Voters creating election materials and
overseeing elections, referenda and primaries including the printing and distribution of absentee
ballots. In the absence of the Registrar, is able to issue voter registration cards.

The following transactions for Fiscal Year 2017-2018 were recorded in the Town Clerk’s office:

Land Recordings, 1,333

Survey Maps, 12

Trade Names/Dissolutions, 33

Military Discharges (DD-214), 22

Birth Certificates, 64 with 3 home births
Marriage Licenses, 51

Death Certificates, 60

Sports Licenses, 104

Dog Licenses, 777 with 6 Kennels
Absentee Ballots (11/7/2017 Municipal Election), 37
Notary Services (2/26/18-6/30/18), 116

We continue to participate in the Historic Documents Preservation grant program through the
State Library Public Records Administrator’s office. This year’s $4,000 preservation grant funds
were used to microfilm and create minute books from original documents. Approximately 8,000
pages of minutes of the 1973-2016 Board of Education and the 2016 Board of Finance minutes were
recreated. This project has reinforced the importance of preserving and protecting our town
records.

In May of 2018, the Town Clerk’s office began accepting electronic land record recordings (E-
Recordings). This technology provides a fast, efficient and transparent process that allows
processing of electronic documents in the same familiar fashion as traditional over-the-counter
documents. In addition, the Department of Revenue Services introduced a new e-REC portal for
the State OP236 conveyance tax forms. This is an optional feature for recorders to file the state
form electronically. I am pleased to announce, that Lisa Clark was hired as the Assistant Town Clerk
in February 2018. Lisa brings excellent knowledge as she previously worked for the Town of
Scotland. Lisa is a former Lebanon resident and Lyman Memorial graduate. We pride ourselves in
serving all who come to our office and are honored to have the opportunity to do so.

Respectfully submitted,

Mary Ellen Wieczorek CCTC 7
Town Clerk



Town of Lebanon
Report of Tax Collector

COLLECTIONS
Fiscal Year 2017 — 2018

The Tax Collector is responsible for the administration and participation of the collection
of taxes, in conformity with Connecticut State Statutes, ordinances and established
policy. The Lebanon Tax Collector is also the agent for the Flood and Erosion Control
Board and the collector for the Amston Lake Water Pollution Control Authority.

We strive for a professional atmosphere in the Tax Office. The Tax Collector is a
member of the Connecticut Tax Collector’s Association and the New London County
Tax Collector’s Association. These associations hold regular meetings for professional
development. I attend these conferences for continuing education credits essential for
certification.

We are pleased to report that the tax bills are on line. You may go to www.lebanonct.gov
to download bills open and paid and you may pay on line from this site. It is my pleasure
to serve you.

Taxes __ $1851211422
Interest $  134,121.14
Lien Fees S 6,159.68
Suspense S 17,354.24
'WPCA Use ¢ 160,664.00
WPCA Use Interest S 3,488.37
WPCA Lien s 168.00
WPCA Assessments  $  223,309.26
WPCA Lien Fees S 192.00

‘WPCA Interest Deliquent $ 5,579.96
WPCA Borrowed Interest 5 72,729.81

Total '~ $19,135,880.68

L S
lRéséctfully Submjfted,
. Joyce A. Hofmann'CCMC

Kelly Lawer, Assistant Tax Collector



Town of Lebanon Board of Finance
2017 — 2018 Annual Report

The primary duties of the Board of Finance (BOF) as stated in the Connecticut General Statutes
are:

Preparing and controlling the town budget

Setting the property tax rate to support the budget
Approving special budget appropriations and transfers
Determining how town financial records are to be kept
Arranging for the annual audit of town accounts
Publishing the annual town report

The 2017 — 18 budget audited in this report required a tax rate of 29.4 mils and was approved at a
special town meeting on November 20, 2017. This represented a 1.6% increase in the mil rate.
The original budget proposal presented at the annual town meeting in May was voted down
because the state had not yet approved a budget and the revenue the town could expect from the
state was a moving target. The state finally approved a budget in late October. By the time this
budget was presented on November 20", the Governor had announced “holdbacks” amounting to
$437,495 for Lebanon. The townspeople decided to approve the budget anyway because our fund
balance was healthy enough to withstand the projected reduction in revenue. Final results,
however, show revenue only slightly under budget due to other unanticipated revenue recieved.

The approved budget continued the approach to capital expenditures that the BOF introduced
many years ago. This approach establishes a schedule over the years of needed expenditures
and schedules those purchases in the appropriate year. This allows us to purchase needed capital
items each year and put them to use rather than saving annually for each item until the full
purchase price has been saved. No new leases were established by the approved budget;
however, several leases are still being paid. We continued the funding of three capital sub-
accounts for our schools: the School Improvement Plan (SIP), Technology, and Athletic Facilities.
This has enabled the BOE to make significant progress in the repairs and improvements needed
for our schools.

Funding for the Library project was decreased to $0 because of the delay in starting that project
due to the property ownership issues. Funding will need to be resumed at the $250,000 level once
that project gets off the ground.

Over the past few years, the BOF has worked to codify the Policies & Procedures we use for
various tasks. These can now be found on the towns website under Town
Governance/Boards/Board of Finance (bottom of the page under Resources).

The BOF would like to take this opportunity to thank the elected officials, town agencies, boards,
commissions and town employees for the cooperation and support we have received in the past
year and for the good work they have done in managing their budgets.

Respectfully submitted,
Liz Charron, Chairman

Members as of June 2017: Liz Charron (Chairman), David Scata (Vice-Chairman), Meghan Bruce
(Secretary), Kevin Cwikla, Phil Johnson, and Diane Malozzi. Alternates: Mike Ninteau, Vin Shea,
Stephen Salisbury.
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Anderson
Anderson
Arndt
Ashcom
Avery
Battye
Bendoraitis
Blakeslee
Blakeslee
Boyd
Brashears
Brewster
Byam
Calvert
Chester
Clark
Clark
Coutu
Coutu
Culp
DeCaprio
Dennler, IlI
Dolan
Dwyer
Earls
Elliott
Ely-Decarlo
Epler
Faustman
Forrest
Garrity
Haley
Harkness
Hofmann
lves

Jenco
Johnson
Kochiss
Konow
Leone
Levesque-McKinne
Littlefield
Luckey
McCall
McCall
McCall
McComber

TOWN OF LEBANON
TREASURER'S REPORT OF WAGES PAID TO TOWN EMPLOYEES

AND ELECTED OFFICIALS
2017 - 2018
1006 R McComber
2178 L McDonald
59045 A McMahon
20349 E Macauley
6549 J Maddocks
41627 D Mahue
6541 H Marien
7235 D Martin
1342 A Matson
40 B Meyers
9731 B Nowosad
433 J Nowosad
61018 S Olearnick
92213 B Padewski
83599 K Plante
51079 R Pogmore
11248 J Pomerleau
6441 J  Prescott
29955 M Rice
43369 K Ricketts
3311 W Riley
3788 D Roberts
26066 A Robitaille
23357 M  Schuett
16616 S Schuett
184 L Shaner
8202 L Slate
242 H Smith
1194 N Sorensen
430 E Sousa
10047 P Spedaliere
9606 J Sweet
7276 A Talarico
55331 B Treiss
3820 S Tremblay
10193 J  Tuttle
12388 D Valliere-Peay
1993 K  Walker
1911 A Wallace
58235 L Wallace
11352 M Waters
60667 E Weinsteiger
524 D Wengloski,Jr
9682 M Wieczorek
207 J  Wood,Jr
207 H Worthington
67849 S Yeo

7531
45354
1148
48
294
26527
828
602
91
330
8831
79550
94
19250
13548
72
44411
8041
34
285
11500
5461
64020
10181
14204
1691
40983
44052
6286
72024
156920
13300
401
12287
18591
86430
1455
204
204
201
2334
11607
60446
45974
54088
246
204
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Office of the Registrars of Voters

Registrars of Voters, in conjunction with the Town Clerk, are responsible for all aspects of preparing and
administering elections including federal, state, municipal, primary, and referenda. This includes staying
up to date on state and federal election laws, holding special voter registration sessions, hiring and
training election workers including Moderators, and complying with the laws and regulations of
Connecticut, ensuring the fairness and integrity of elections. Throughout the year Registrars maintain
the voter registry list, and conduct an annual canvass to ensure its accuracy.

Municipal Election held November 7, 2017:

Turnout: 1650 of 4554 eligible voters (36%)

Changes to the Active Voter Registry List 7/1/17-6/30/18

Voters added: 286
Voter Changes: 260
Voters removed: 626

Highlights of 2017 / 2018

e Presentation and registration session held at Lyman Memorial High School

e Both registrars attained mandated Registrar Certification

e Attended several professional conferences and county meetings of the Registrars of Voters
Association of Connecticut

Respectfully Submitted:
Catherine McCall

Berkeley Nowosad

1



Town of Lebanon

Annual Report for Fiscal Year 2018
7/1/2017 - 6/30/2018
Land Use Office

Permits Issued:

Building Department

Permit Count

Fees Collected

Est. Value of Construction

Accessory Structure - Other 5 $4,111.72 $304,300.00
Addition 11 $6,263.79 $396,720.00
Alterations/Repairs 173 $25,591.32 $2,214,460.92
Commercial - New Structure 1 $81,349 80 $6,591,746.00
Deck 15 $3,140.52 $155,845.77
Demolition 4 $311.00 $24,800.00
Electrical 166 $10,727.77 $1,160,944.49
Fuel Tank 2 $70.78 $3,000 00
Garage 7 $3,414.48 $215,700.00
Mechanical 122 $5,777.20 $371,182 00
New Dwelling Year Round Residential 9 $30,041.03 $2,292,090.00
Plan Review 2 $400 00 N/A
Plumbing 42 $1,123.69 $68,337 28
Porch 1 $171.30 $5,000 G0
Seasonal Conversion Application 13 $850 00 N/A
Shed/Barn 11 $2,169.14 $105,150.00
Swimming Pool Above Ground 5 $987.15 $31,660 29
Swimming Pool Inground 2 $1,741 91 $124,137.00
Tent 3 $105.52 $3,000.00
Woodstove 18 $754.81 $46,663.54
Total Building Department 612 $179,102.93 $14,114,737.29
Inland Wetlands Commission Permit Count Fees Collected Est. Value of Construction
Wetlands As of Right 6 $0 00 N/A
Wetlands Buffer 15 $1,740.00 N/A
Wetlands Regular 10 $760 00 N/A
Total Inland Wetlands Commission 31 $2,500.00 N/A
Land Use Office Permit Count Fees Collected Est. Value of Construction
Coples 29 $154 50 $4.00
Total Land Use Office 29 $154.50 $4.00
Planning & Zoning Commission Permit Count Fees Collected Est. Value of Construction
Amendments to Zoning Regulations 2 $0.00 N/A
Certificate of Zoning Comphance 4 $200.00 N/A
Earth Excavation 1 $760 00 N/A
Home Occupation 4 $200 00 N/A
Re-subdivision 1 $760 00 N/A
Site Plan Approval/Modification 1 $260.00 N/A
Special Permit 5 $3,900 00 N/A
Temporary Use 5 $250 00 N/A
Total Planning & Zoning Commission 23 $6,330.00 N/A
Public Works Permit Count Fees Collected Est. Value of Construction
Driveway 12 $600 00 N/A
Total Public Works 12 $600.00 N/A
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WPCA Permit Count Fees Collected Est. Value of Construction

Electrical 2 $70.52 $2,000.00
Plumbing 3 $105.78 $3,000.00

Septic - Removal 2 $0.00 N/A

Total WPCA ) 7 $176.30 ) $5,000.00
Zoning Permit Count Fees Collected Est. Value of Construction
Zoning 64 $1,700.00 N/A

Total Zoning 64 $1,700.00 N/A
Zoning Board of Appeals Permit Count Feas Collected Est. Valus of Construction
Variance 2 $920.00 N/A

Total Zoning Board of Appeals 2 $920.00 N/A

Total Permits 780 $191,483.73 $14,119,741.29
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Inspections Completed

Building Department Completed
Backfill 22
Driveway Apron Final 7
Electrical 195
Electrical - Sewer 2
Final Certificate of Occupancy/Complance 309
Fireplace/Chimney Throat 4
Footing 55
Framing 68
Gas Piping/Pressure Test 66
Highway Excavation Final 1
Insulation 48
Mechanical 59
Plumbing 56
Plumbing - Sewer 3
Seasonal Conversion 28
Septic Abandonment Final 2
Trench/Conduit 29

Total Building Department 954

Fire Marshal Completed
Final Certificate of Occupancy/Compliance 1
Gas Piping/Pressure Test 1

Total Fire Marshal 2

Health Department Completed

Seasonal Conversion 14

Total Health Department 14




Zoning

Completed
Final Certificate of Occupancy/Compliance a4
Total Zoning 44
Total Inspections 1014

A 6 € v % 3 o8 A A E S L3 A LR E RN T E LA K EET N AR ERNTE S AN KRN EE AR KR AT EA N KRNV E NS ANV IR

Respectfully submitted:
Jason Nowosad, Building Official
Patrick McCormack, Director Uncas Health District
Scott Schuett, Fire Marshal
Holli Pianka, Land Use Secretary
Robert Tuttle, Public Works Foreman
Philip Chester, Town Planner/Zoning Officer
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ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS

Town of Lebanon
579 Exeter Road, Lebanon, Connecticut 06249
(860) 642-6028, Fax (§60) 642-7716

ANNUAL REPORT

July 1, 2017 — June 30, 2018

The Zoning Board of Appeals collected $800.00 in fees for FY 2017-2018 and
received two (2) applications requesting a variance.

Zoning Board of Appeals Members included: Jeffrey Walsh, Chairman
Michael Ninteau,Vice Chairman
Mark DeCaprio
David Geligoff
Keith Sczurek
Donna Skaats, Alternate
Jerome Walsh, Alternate
Philip Ziel, Alternate

Office Staff:  Holli Smith, Recording Secretary

Respectfully Submitted,

Jeffrey Walsh, Chairman
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Planning and Zoning Commission

Town of Lebanon

579 Exeter Road, Lebanon, CT 06249
(860) 642-2006, fax (860) 642-7716

ANNUAL REPORT
FISCAL YEAR 2017 - 2018

For the year ending June 30, 2018 the Commission held 12 regular meetings, 3 special
meetings, and 8 regulation review subcommittee meetings. 136 development applications
were processed by the Planning and Zoning Commission or the Town Planner as follows:

Earth Excavation

Site Plan Approvals or Modifications
CGS Sec. 8-24 Municipal Improvement Reports
Resubdivision

Zoning Regulation Amendments

Home Occupation

CGS Sec. 7-159b Pre-Application Review
Certificates of Zoning Compliance
Special Permits

Temporary Use Permit

Zoning Certificates of Occupancy

Zoning Permits

N
AR TUTDE D DBNR R R R

(@)

Lebanon's Planning and Zoning Commission was established by Town Meeting in 1961 and
has the powers and duties prescribed in the Connecticut General Statutes (Chapters 124
and 126) and other applicable General Special Acts of the General Assembly. In summary
these powers and duties include:

v" To prepare, adopt, or amend the Plan of Conservation and Development.

v' To establish, change or repeal zoning and subdivision regulations and zoning
districts.

v" To hear, consider, and decide upon applications for approval of subdivision or
resubdivision plans, site plans and special permits.

v" To provide for the manner in which the zoning regulations are to be enforced and to
take appropriate actions to enforce them.

v" To review and make recommendations on proposed municipal improvements, i.e.,

streets, bridges, schools, parks, utilities, sidewalks, public housing, etc.

To prepare and file surveys, maps or plans of proposed streets.

To approve or disapprove municipal applications to DEEP for grants-in-aid of

programs established to preserve open space lands.

ANIAN

16



The Planning Office works to implement Lebanon’s Plan of Conservation and Development
(POCD). The POCD or Master Plan identifies town goals and makes recommendations
relative to guiding future land use development in Lebanon. All Town Boards and
Commissions are expected to rely on the POCD when making short and long term
decisions.

The Planning and Zoning Commission supports Lebanon’s land preservation efforts.
Preserving and growing the town’s agricultural land base helps retain Lebanon’s rural
character and ease the local tax burden, both of which are highly regarded by town
residents. The Commission is also open to residential and non-residential development
when a master plan proposal meets the physical, social, economic, and environmental
needs of the community.

The Land Use Office, under the guidance of the Town Planner, works with property owners
interested in land development or land conservation. The Office is working toward the
development of vacant commercial parcels at the Route 2 interchange; expansion of age-
restricted housing; management of grants to support the preservation of farms, promotion
of agriculture, and the Lebanon’s Farmers Market; and enforcement of wetlands, zoning,
and subdivision regulations.

The Zoning and Subdivision Regulations, Plan of Conservation and Development, and
development applications are available online at www.lebanonct.gov. If you have ideas you
wish to convey to the Commission please contact us through Town Planner Philip Chester,
(860) 642-2006, pchester@lebanonctgov or attend a Commission meeting. The
Commission holds its regular meetings on the third Monday of the month at 7:00 p.m. in
Lebanon Town Hall. All meetings are open to the public.

The Commission wishes to thank its members on the Village Business District and Village
Green District Design Review Boards for their invaluable input into development in and

around the Green.

Planning and Zoning Commission Members

James Jahoda, Chair Francis Malozzi
Kathleen Smith, Secretary Thomas Meyer

Wayne Budney Allan Miller, Alternate
Robin Chesmer Joyce Okonuk, Alternate
Keith LaPorte Ethan Stearns, Alternate

Commission Staff
Philip Chester, Town Planner Holli Pianka, Land Use Secretary

Respectfully Submitted,
James Jahoda, Chair

17



Inland Wetlands Commission

Town of Lebanon

579 Exeter Road, Lebanon, Connecticut 06249

(860) 642-2006, Fax (860) 642-7716

ANNUAL REPORT
JULY 1, 2017 - JUNE 30, 2018

The Lebanon Inland Wetlands Commission (regulating agency) enforces all provisions of the
Inland Wetlands and Watercourses Act and shall issue, issue with modification, or deny permits
for all regulated activities on Wetlands and within 100 feet of Wetlands in the Town of Lebanon
pursuant to Section 22a-36 through 45, inclusive, of the Connecticut General Statutes.

As defined in the Town of Lebanon Inland Wetlands Regulations, a regulated activity means any
operation within or use of a wetland or watercourse, including but not limited to, removal or
deposition of materials, or any obstruction, construction, alteration or pollution, of such wetland
or watercourses, but shall not include the specific activities in Section 4 of the Inland Wetlands
Regulations. Furthermore, any clearing, grubbing, filling, grading, paving, excavating,
constructing, depositing or removing of material and discharging of storm water on the land
within one-hundred (100) feet from the boundary of any wetlands or watercourse is a regulated
activity. Therefore, any activity affecting inland wetlands and watercourses within the Town are
prohibited, except as may be permitted by the Inland Wetlands Commission or its Agent.

The Inland Wetlands Commission conducted 10 regular meetings and 1 special meeting and
reviewed 31 applications for the following regulated activities:

As-of-Right Permit 6
Buffer Permit 15
Inland Wetlands Regular Permit 10

The Commission meets the first Monday of the month at 7:00 p.m. in Town Hall. Inland Wetlands

Regulations, applications, and timber harvest forms are available at www.lebanonct.gov. With
questions please contact Town Planner Philip Chester at (860) 642-2006.

Respectfully submitted:

James McCaw, Chairman James Bender James Hallene
Robert Slate, Secretary John Drum Dennis Latchum
Carl Bender Dean Gustafson David Martin

Staff: Philip S. Chester, AICP
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Conservation and Agriculture Commission

Town of Lebanon

579 Exeter Road, Lebanon, Connecticut 06249
(860) 642-2006, Fax (860) 642-7716

ANNUAL REPORT
FISCAL YEAR 2017 -2018

On March 5, 2012 the Conservation and Agriculture Commission was established by Town Ordinance at a
Town Meeting which authorizes in part that:

The Commission shall extol the role of Lebanon’s natural resources and agriculture as major contributors to the
Town’s quality of life and the economy. The Commission will advocate for conservation and agricultural issues
before non-profit agencies, civic organizations, municipal boards or commissions, elected officials and residents.

The Commission is made up of 10 residents appointed by the Board of Selectmen that work to:
- inventory and map Lebanon'’s natural resources;
- develop open space funding resources to assist land owners interested in preserving their property;
- assist farmers with land use issues;
- form relationships with organizations such as the USDA, CT Department of Agriculture, Connecticut
Farmland Trust, and Joshua’s Land Trust to help preserve Lebanon’s landscape; and
- conduct community outreach to educate residents to the importance of agriculture and land preservation.

In FY 2017 /18 the town worked with the United Stated Department of Agriculture and CT Farmland Trust
to preserve the Leone Farm on Barker Road. The Commission also received funding commitments to
preserve the Wolf (REW), Geer, McCall, and Bender Farms in 2019. Be sure to visit the farm photo display
in the lower level of Town Hall.

The Commission published its annual newsletter which was mailed to all Lebanon households. and
continues to maintain Commons Hill Trail accessed off Schalk Road/Rte. 87 and Five-Mile-Rock Trail
accessed off Randall Road. The newsletter and trail maps are available at www.lebanonct.gov. The
Commission also monitors several conservation easements throughout town. If you are interested in
becoming a steward to one of our trails or help monitor a conservation easement please come contact us!

The Commission meets at 4:30 p.m. on the first Monday of each month at Town Hall where the public is
invited to participate. We accept applications for land preservation assistance and are always available as
a resource on matters of protecting our community’s rich agricultural heritage and natural resources. We
are committed to assuring that the Town'’s natural, historical and agricultural resources are preserved for
current and future generations. You may contact us through Town Planner Philip Chester (860-642-2006)
or email us at ConservationComm@lebanontownhall.org.

Respectfully submitted,
Marc Lang, Chair

Jan Fitter, Vice Chair Keith LaPorte Chris Condit, Alternate
Alton Blodgett Jon Slate Paul Trubey, Alternate
Emery Gluck Ethan Stearns Antoinette Willard, Alternate

Staff: Philip Chester, Town Planner 19



Town of Lebanon

Solid Waste Coordinator
Town Hall
Lebanon, CT 06249
Annual Report
2017-2018

The Solid Waste Commission holds regular meetings at 7:00 pm in the Community Center. Lebanon
residents are encouraged to attend and participate in the meetings.

The Commission oversees the operation of the Lebanon Solid Waste Facility and the maintenance of the
closed landfill. The Solid Waste Facility includes a transfer station for waste and recyclable materials.
The transfer station and landfill are located on Route 207. The Commission continued the required
ground water monitoring program at the landfill during the year.

The Solid Waste Facility is open on Wednesdays and Saturdays, 8-4. During the 2017-2018 fiscal year
approximately 453 tons of municipal solid waste, 405 tons of bulky waste, and various amounts of
recyclable materials were accumulated at the transfer station and shipped off site for treatment,
disposal, or reuse. A detailed summary of the wastes and recyclable materials handled during the year
is show below.

Municipal Solid Waste 453 tons
Bulky Waste 405 tons
Single Stream 203 tons
Lead Acid Batteries 0 tons
Scrap Metal 70.78 tons
Leaves, Grass & Brush 172  tons

' Used Oil 4,300 gallons
Antifreeze 350 gallons
Tires 23.2 tons
Fluorescent Light Bulbs .39  Ibs.
Mattresses 2.26 tons
Electronics 8.06 tons
Paint 5.62 tons

The Town collects user fees at the Solid Waste Facility from residents who deposit certain wastes and
recyclable materials. During the year, user fees totaling $102,730.16 were collected from residents.
Other Town departments deposited materials with a total unfunded fee cost of $1,159 at the facility.

The Solid Waste Commission in cooperation with a number of other local communities sponsored
several household hazardous waste collection days for residents during the year.

Respectfully submitted by,
Doug Blakeslee, Solid Waste Coordinator
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Cemetery Commission Annual Report

The Cemetery Commission is a seven-member commission appointed by the Board of Selectmen to
manage the town's 17 burial places. Commission members as of March 2019 are:

Keith LaPorte (Chairman), Daniel DelBiondo, Marc Lang, Shaun McCarthy, Thomas Meyer, Allyn Miller
and Daniel Moore.

Marcia Schuett is the Sexton. She is a Town employee who runs the day-to-day operations of the
cemeteries and participates in all commission meetings.

In Calendar year 2018, there were 12 full burials and 28 cremation burials. 11 cemetery plots were sold
for a total of $3,300. Sexton fees totaled $8,000.

During Calendar year 2018, cemetery rules were updated and posted on the Lebanon Town website
(www.lebanonct.gov>Town Governance>Commissions>Cemetery Commission). Requirements for
construction of monuments were also developed to prevent long term leaning or falling.

The condition of several of the colonial cemeteries was surveyed and a Connecticut State grant was
obtained to help offset the cost of needed repairs. A five-year plan for repair of leaning, fallen and
broken monuments was developed. Overgrowth near the edges of the Trumbull and Liberty Hill
cemeteries was removed.

The five-year plan also includes use of a commercial software program for record keeping and gravesite
location for the New Lebanon Cemetery (Waterman Road) and North Lebanon Cemetery on Synagogue
which is expected to open in late 2019.

Development of North Lebanon Cemetery continued in 2018. At present, the road has been constructed
and the first areas to be used have been seeded. A town ordinance was passed setting fees for the
North Lebanon Cemetery. A standard grave site, 4 feet x 11 feet will accommodate 1 casket or up to 8
cremation urns. The cost of a standard grave site will be $500. A cremation plot, 4 feet x 5.5 feet, will be
$250 and accommodate up to 4 cremation urns. These prices apply only to North Lebanon Cemetery.
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Jonathan Trumbull Library
580 Exeter Road ¢+ P.O. Box 145 + Lebanon, CT 06249
Tel. 860 642-7763 + Fax 860 642-4880

Jonathan Trumbull Library
Annual Report 2017-2018

Library Board Members:

Catherine McCall, Chairman, Mary Withey, Vice-Chairman, Maureen McCall, Secretary,
Michele Kersey, Diane McCall, Colleene Meese, Berkeley, Nowosad, Judy Vertefeuille, and
Eileen Weinsteiger.

This was a year of change for the Jonathan Trumbull Library with the retirement of Julie
Culp after 15 years of service and the hiring of Matt Earls as library director. His vision is that
JTL will be the center of the community, a place where young families, teens and older adults
will want to spend time every week. To do this, he is creating a living room atmosphere for
Littles, a cafe style area for middle schoolers, and an area for teens.

The Jonathan Trumbull Library has a collection of 54,567 physical books, magazines,
audiobooks, DVDs, music CDs, puppet, and games. From 7/1/17 to 6/30/18 the library added
3788 unique items, circulated 56274 physical items from our library. In addition, the library
loaned 5210 items to other libraries in our consortium for loans to their patrons. The library also
circulated 3761 digital items from Overdrive from 227 unique users and 623 electronic
magazines from RBdigital (formerly Zinio). Library computer sessions totalled 1131. There
were 2897 registered active borrowers.

As part of our Technology Plan, we have installed two new wifi routers and run a staff
network as well as two public networks. Through the Town Improvement Plan, we have
received three stand-up desks, four laptop computers for the public, SSD drives for our existing
computers, and three new monitors.

Library program attendance was 76 adult programs with 904 attendees. The children’s
department had 161 programs with 2337 attendees.

The library was open 38 hours per week: Monday 9-8, Tuesday 1-8, Wednesday 10-6,
Thursday 1-8, and Saturday 9-2. The library was closed on Fridays and Sundays. JTL is a
member of Bibliomation, a nonprofit library consortium with a shared circulation system.

JTL received grants from the Hugh Trumbull Adams fund for programming, from the Lions
Club for audiobooks, the Heller fund, and several patrons including matching gifts from
employers.

My sincere thanks to the Board of Trustees for your support and assistance as I learn about
Jonathan Trumbull Library, the library staff and the community of Lebanon, CT.
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Annual Report
Town of Lebanon Resident Trooper Office and Lebanon Police Department

Fiscal Year 2017-2018

During the fiscal year of 2017-2018 the Resident State Trooper program remained In place in the Town of
Lebanon. TFC Collin Konow has served as the town’s Resident State Trooper since January 2014 The
town was also served by the three part time officers of the Lebanon Police Department The Lebanon
police officers supplement coverage by working additional patrols during mainly evening and weekend
hours as well as at special events. Additional patrol coverage provided by State Troopers from Troop K
ensured non-stop police presence in town throughout the entire fiscal year. Additionally, in November
2018 the Lebanon Police Department added a new full time police officer to serve in the role of a School
Resource Officer (SRO). Officer Rob Magao comes to the Lebanon Police Department with 21 years of
experience in many different areas of law enforcement. Officer Magao currently services all three schools
in the district in a variety of ways

The Resident Trooper’s office continues its emphasis on proactive community policing This allows us to
deter crime in both the residential and commercial areas of the town while simultaneously establishing a
strong relationship with the community. The Resident Trooper and Town of Lebanon officers work closely
with members of the community and town officials to ensure the needs of the town are being met. Crimes
of theft and burglary (aka breaking and entering) have been significantly reduced over the past several
years using this methodology.

Although the crimes of theft and burglary have been significantly reduced, the town has seen an increase
in crimes that fall under the category of disturbance/domestic violence. These numbers have essentially
doubled. Prior to the 2016-2017 fiscal years these numbers were not broken down into sub-categories
and were combined. Although an unsettling trend, 1t is very difficult to determine why these numbers are
on the rise. However, this trend is also one being seen national leve! as well. Also, traffic stops, DWI
arrests and infractions (tickets) have also decreased. This is largely due to the significant reduction in
federal and state grants for traffic safety and enforcement over the past several years.

Additionally, the majority of complaints that come into the Resident Trooper office/ Lebanon Police
Department are speeding complaints. Most of these complaints occur in the summer months.
Enforcement efforts are concentrated in the areas where we get the most complaints. Many times we find
that the offenders are people who live in close proximity to where the complaint was made. Please be a
good neighbor and responsible community member and be mindful of your speed, especially on
secondary town roads.

As a reminder, ALL emergency calls should be directed to 911. It Is the safest and fastest way to get a
police response to your location. If you are in doubt that it is an emergency, use 911 as it is better to err
on the side of caution. It is important to remember that the Resident Trooper office is NOT manned 24/7
and that we are usually out on patrol. Contact us by calling one of the below listed numbers if you stop at
the office and we are not there Also, if you are the victim of a crime, please report it to the police, even if
you do require or want a formal report. It helps us to solve other crimes and compile accurate data in
order to better serve the community.
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Police performance indicators for the Town of Lebanon (includes State Police Troop K):

2012- 2013- 2014- 2015- 2016- 2017-
Town of Lebanon 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Total calls for service 5103 4962 4419 4750 4655 3753
Motor vehicle accidents with
injury 12 5 2 12 10 14
M.otor vehjcle accidents 82 87
without injury 62 70 82 84
Fatal motor vehicle
accidents 0 0 1 0 1 0
Alarm responses 172 193 226 224 230 189
Assist to citizen calls 318 297 274 281 311 250
Assist to motorist calls 254 329 290 255 224 245
Traffic stops 1931 1551 1441 1628 1578 1009
Burglaries 17 25 20 19 16 8
Larcenies 17 21 43 38 22 5
Disturbances//Domestic 42 35 40 47 371121 42/23
Disturb
DWI arrests 24 26 15 22 13 13
Narcotics Violations 14 17 14 13 8 1
Tickets//Warnings 1524//616 | 1220//440 | 1227//359 | 1402/418 | 1441//427 892/77
Resident Trooper's office..... 860-642-7730 TroopK. . ......coo.eeee......860-465-5400
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Lebanon Volunteer Fire Department, Inc.
23 Goshen Hill Road « P.O. Box 51
I.ebanon, Connecticut 06249
Phone: (860) 642-7546 « Fax: (860) 642-3429

ANNUAL REPORT
July 2017- June 2018

The mission of the Lebanon Volunteer Fire Department is to provide Fire, Emergency Medical,
Hazardous Material and Mutual Aid services for the preservation and protection of life, property
and the environment from fire, medical and environmental emergencies within the Town of
Lebanon and surrounding areas.

The Lebanon Volunteer Fire Department Inc. has over 40 active, reserve, probationary, and cadet
members to provide Fire, Rescue, and Emergency Medical Services to the citizens of Lebanon.

The members of the Lebanon Volunteer Fire Department Inc. are proud to provide a
professional, cost effective, volunteer service to the Town of Lebanon and their fellow citizens.
Recent calculations from the National Volunteer Fire Council, when applied to the statistics from
our town, identify a savings to the Town of Lebanon of over 1.5 million dollars when compared
to a career department.

Department Executive Officers elected at the September 2017 annual meeting for 2 year terms
(September 2017- September 2019), were President Mark Elliott, Vice President Todd Kulman,
Secretary Maggie McCaw, Treasurer Brian Green.

Between July 1, 2017 and June 30, 2018, the Lebanon Volunteer Fire Department responded to a
total of 738 incidents, 49 responses over last year. Fires, including buildings (4), chimneys (1),
vehicles (5), outside brush grass or rubbish (7), and others, accounted for 20, or 2.71%, of the
total incidents.

Rescue and Emergency Medical Services responses, which include medical emergencies and
motor vehicles accidents, accounted for 546 or 73.98% of the total incidents. Among other
hazardous conditions responded to (57), were, wires down (44), carbon monoxide alarms (4),
and electrical problems (8). The remainder of the calls were a variety of Service Calls (112),
Good Intent Calls (2). False alarms and alarm activations, without fire or carbon monoxide (56),
and other service related calls accounted for the balance.

If responding to the emergency incidents and attending required training doesn’t tax the men and
women of the Department enough, members also spend many hours per year ensuring the
emergency equipment is maintained in a constant state of readiness. Weekly inspections of the
vehicles and all portable equipment are done to ensure they are ready for whatever incident may
occur. All Department fire hose, fire pumps, fire extinguishers and ground ladders are tested
annually in accordance with National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) standards. SCBAs are
tested monthly in accordance with NFPA and OSHA standards.
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These and other demands on the memberships’ time this past year has amounted to over 6,500
hours of donated time in excess of that time spent on emergency calls and training.

This year the Department began work on a training site located at the Lebanon transfer station.
This facility will allow us to enhance our training without having to travel distances to utilize
props for firefighting and rescue exercises. Using Department funds, mostly from donations,
along with our members’ time and labor, this is an asset that will prove its value in coming years.

Other planning was on a more festive note, as we have begun planning our 75" anniversary
celebrations. Among events planned are outings for our members and their families, as well as a
more formal banquet in early fall 2018.

Long term planning has also taking place. We have been in discussion with a local campground
exploring the concept of leasing space from them to relocate a fire engine to the western end of
town. We have engaged the Board of Selectman in this process as a possible step towards our
long term goal of establishing a substation in that area.

To the men and women of the Lebanon Volunteer Fire Department, we commend and thank each
and every one of you for your time and dedication in fulfilling our mission to the citizens of our
community. To the citizens of the Town, thank you for your words of appreciation and for your
continued support.

Respectfully submitted,

Mark Elliott, President

Vel Such

Lebanon Volunteer Fire Department

FY7/17-6/18
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FIRE MARSHAL The War Office, Lebanon, Connecticut
P.O. BOX 184 Lebanon, Connecticut 06249 Site 1f over 1100 meetings of
Telephone: (860) 642-7143 Cell: (860) 208-6089 FAX: (860) 642-7716 e Conmectiout Couneil of Safty
E-mail: firemarshal@lebanontownhall.org o

FIRE MARSHAL’S ANNUAL REPORT

The primary job of the Fire Marshal is to protect public safety. As such, your Fire Marshal
and his deputies work very closely with the Building Official, Police and Fire Department personnel
to help assure your safety. Their areas of training and expertise include fire prevention and education,
building safety and hazardous material control.

Fire prevention and education begins with our children. This year’s theme focused on the
importance of fire safety by encouraging us “Look. Listen. Learn. Be aware - fire can happen
anywhere.” Special thanks go to the Lebanon Volunteer Fire Department for their assistance with
the program. In addition, special thanks go to the Lebanon businesses that provided financial support
to help provide fire prevention materials to go home with the children.

Building Safety is often misunderstood and unappreciated. The Life Safety Code establishes
minimal standards for all public buildings and private residences before human occupancy is
allowed in the building. Local group homes, schools and public buildings are inspected periodically
to assure public safety.

Hazardous materials includes blasting permits, fireworks inspections, Underground Tank
Removal inspections. Last fiscal year no blasting permits were issued for construction and highway
improvements. The only fireworks permit was for the Lebanon Meet Your Neighbor Day on the
Green.

During the fiscal year, there was 1 major structure fires totaling damages in excess of
$17,500. The total number of Structure Fires was 4. There was a total of 51 false alarms to which
the Fire Department responded. Fortunately, there were no fire department related injuries reported.

I'would like to give a special thanks to the fire department for their prompt and professional
response to all our emergencies. I also join with them in thanking the wonderful citizens of Lebanon
for their continued support of all our emergency services.

Respectfully Submitted,

Scott R. Schuett
Lebanon Fire Marshal

Mark Waters
Deputy Fire Marshal

John Meigel
Deputy Fire Marshal
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FIRE MARSHAL The War Office, Lebanon, Connecticut
P.O. BOX 184 Lebanon, Connecticut 06249 Site 1f over 1100 meetings of
Telephone: (860) 642-7143 Cell: (860) 208-6089 FAX: (860) 642-7716  '° C"“““‘l‘;‘;gcl‘;‘é‘;c” of Safety
E-mail: firemarshal@lebanontownhall.org )

BURNING OFFICIAL’S REPORT

In 1972, the State of Connecticut enacted legislation to regulate open burning. The purpose of said
legislation was to abate air pollution and wildfires. As such, the Town of Lebanon does its part to
maintain air quality and to lessen the risk of wildfires by local regulation of burning. For fiscal year
July 1, 2017 - June 30, 2018, a total of 151 burning permits were issued to Lebanon residents.
Twenty Five of the issued permits were for Agricultural burning. Eight permits were not issued for
various reasons. A total of 5 open burning investigations were also carried out to ensure compliance.
The control of Open Burning helps assure better air quality, as well as helping control wildfires.

In 2010, the Town of Lebanon updated our Open Burning Ordinance. Those wishing to read the
Ordinance are able to do so by going to the Town Website at www.lebanontownhall.org, click on
the “Resources” button and then click on the “Documents and Forms” button. The Ordinance is
titled, “Ordinance Regarding Outside Burning Rev. 2010". Additional information about Open
Burning in Connecticut may be found at the DEEP Website under Air and Water Quality.

Applications for Residential Burning Permits and Agricultural Permits are kept at the Town Clerk’s
Office and are available during her normal business hours. All other burning permit requests must
be made through the Open Burning Official himself. No verbal permits are issued. Extensions of
time will be considered as long as the original material is still being burned and the permit has not
yet expired. Only one verbal extension will be granted. For any other questions about Open Burning,
residents are urged to call 208-6089.

It has been an honor and privilege to serve the good people of Lebanon for the past year.
Respectfully Submitted,

Scott R. Schuett
Lebanon Burning Official

Mark Waters
Deputy Burning Official

Lee Schuett
Deputy Burning Official
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Town of Lebanon
Commission on Aging
Annual Report 2017-2018

The purpose of the Commission on Aging is to be aware and to assist in the needs and conditions
of Lebanon’s aging in both the public and private sectors, in relation to housing, economics,
transportation, health, social services, recreation and other matters. The COA shall, also, develop and
implement programs to meet the needs and improve the conditions of the aging and shall make
recommendations to the Board of Selectmen and the Annual Town Meeting regarding services to the
Aging.

The COA sponsors Senior and Handicapped transportation, Lebanon Senior Center, Municipal
Agent for the Town of Lebanon, and Meals on Wheels. The COA partners with AARP. Uncas Health
District and other ogranizations to offer many diverse services to our Lebanon Seniors.

Our Senior Transportation program transports seniors and disabled persons to doctor’s
appointments, to work, grocery shopping and personal errands. A Wellness trip is offered several times a
month to encourage socialization and exploring something new. The program is funded with local dollars
as well as a matching state grant which requires quarterly reporting.

The Senior Center offers many programs for good health as well as socialization to our seniors.
Whether it’s a heart healthy exercise class, a spirited game of cards, or a delicious lunch on a Tuesday our
seniors utilize the center every day of the week.

We have many volunteers that make all the programs sponsored by the COA a great success,
we’d like to recognize them here and give them a great big “THANK YOU”.

Our seniors and town are most fortunate to have a dedicated group of people on the COA. I
personally wish to express my appreciation to each of them for their time and efforts contributed to the
Lebanon Seniors. If you have any suggestions for us to enhance programs for the seniors, please do not
hesitate to contact the COA. Member: Jane Cady, Jim Donnelly, Darlene Hathaway, Donna Lennox, Geri
McCaw, Gary Rockafeller, Marion Russo, and Liz Shilosky.

Respectfully submitted: Bonnie LeBlanc
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LEBANON PUBLIC SCHOOLS

Mission Statement: The Lebanon Public School District is a community of learners which values
an active partnership with families, school and community. Our goal is to prepare students to
succeed in a global world by providing a quality and challenging education in a safe
environment.

The Lebanon Public School District consists of three schools: Lebanon Elementary School,
Grades Pre-K-4; Lebanon Middle School, Grades 5-8 and Lyman Memorial High School, Grades
9-12. The Pre-K program is accredited by the National Association for the Education of Young
Children. Lyman Memorial High School is accredited by the New England Association of
Schools and Colleges. Lyman also is home to the Lebanon Regional Agricultural Science &
Technology Center, established in 1959. Students in each of the schools are provided a rigorous
academic program designed to promote excellence and high achievement for all students in all
grades.

The 2017-18 school year was the second year of implementing the Lebanon Public Schools
Strategic Plan. The plan was developed collaboratively with advisory committees consisting of
students, parents, community leaders, district staff and BOE members. The plan has 7 focus
areas, each with its own goal:

Academics- The Lebanon Public Schools will provide a challenging and robust academic
program preparing students for college, career and life success.

Climate and Culture- The Lebanon Public Schools will provide a supportive, engaging
and caring educational environment for all students.

Talent- The Lebanon Public Schools will recruit, support, evaluate and retain the best
educators.

Operations- The Lebanon Public Schools will utilize efficient systems for maintaining a
highly effective educational system.

Enrollment- The Lebanon Public Schools will maintain a viable Pre-K through 12
educational system.

Finances- The Lebanon Public Schools will secure appropriate funding to support all
curricular and extracurricular programs.

Student Activities and Athletics- The Lebanon Public Schools will provide student
activities and athletic opportunities reflective of student interests

Teachers and administrators work collaboratively to ensure all students receive education
opportunities that are of high rigor, aligned to the goals in the strategic plan and of interest and
importance to our students. Instructional Rounds, with teams composed of teachers and
administrators, observe instruction and instructional materials to ensure professional practices
match our high expectations. The district is committed to using a variety of data resources to
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guide instruction, provide students with individualized supports, and provide professional
learning options for staff. The Lebanon Public School students perform at or above state and
national levels on standardized assessments. Based upon the 2017-2018 results on Next
Generation Accountability System, each of our schools have increased their Accountability
Index score. We are proud that this progress has led to Lebanon Elementary School being
named a School of Distinction by the Connecticut State Department of Education.

To meet goals identified in the Strategic Plan, we continued with our one to one computing
program by expanding down to grades 2 and 3 with a Chromebook for each student. We also
increased the part time technology teacher position at LES to full time. The district received a
Title IV grant and used the funds to send staff to the International Society for Technology in
Education annual conference and to implement coding and robotics at Lebanon Elementary
School and Lebanon Middle School. Lyman Memorial High School joined into a cooperative
football program with Coventry High School, Bolton High School and Windham Technical High
School. The team won the Pequot League Championship, hanging our first footbali banner in
the school. 2017-2018 also saw the reinstatement of the 4™ grade band program at Lebanon
Elementary School and a music technology class in 5™ grade at Lebanon Middle School. We
also expanded the French language instruction at Lebanon Middle School.

Parents and the community take pride in their district schools and volunteer to work in the
buildings in a variety of capacities. Groups and organizations such as PTO, PTA, FFA Parent
and Alumni Association, Lions Club, American Legion, Lebanon Recreation Department,
Lebanon Kids and various booster groups provide support, programs and activities directly to or
in alignment with school initiatives. The school district, town government and greater town
community work cooperatively to provide the best education possible for the students of the
Lebanon Public Schools.

Respectfully submitted

Robert J. Angeli
Superintendent of Schools
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Lebanon Board of Education

Budget Status Report FY 2017-2018

PROGRAM

Personnel
Salaries and Wages
Employee Benefits

Instructional Materials/Services

Special Education

Speech, Hearing, Language, OT/PT

Remedial Eduation
Art

Business

Computer Science
Language Arts

World Languages
Family & Consumer Stiences
Technology Education
General Education
Math

Music

Physical Education
Science

Social Studies
Agricultural Science
Health

Student Activities
Athletics

Guidance
Library/Media
Tutitioned Programs

Support Programs
Nursing & Medical

Psychaology

Central Administration

Building Administration
Facilities Services

Information Technology
Utilities

Student Transportation

Audit - Transfer in/Adjustments
Program Totals

as of June 30, 2018
FY 2017-2018 FY 2017-2018  Variance
Approved Actual
Budget

$ 10,509,521 $ 10,516,794 $ (7,273)
s 3,172,503 $ 3,107,124 § 65,385
$ 2,051,793 $ 1,895,778 $ 56,015
$ 43,265 $ 20,379 § 22,886
] 8,322 § 7,534 $ 788
$ 17,912 & 19,655 S (1,743)
s 3,229 $ 2913 $ 316
$ 3,273 § - ] 3,273
S 33,159 S 30,419 $ 2,740
$ 7,310 § 3,256 $ 4,054
s 7,200 $ 6,066 $ 1,134
s 20623 $ 20,433 S 190
S 2,500 $ 2415 § Bs
] 35,147 $ 33,058 $ 2,089
S 33,677 § 21,917 $ 11,760
s 16,620 S 15,679 § 941
5 32,609 $ 26,419 § 6,190
$ 17,731 $ 19,305 § {1,574)
$ 81,621 $ 73,975 § 7,646
$ 1530 $ 1,871 $ {281)
$ 10,077 § 10,077 $ -

$ 231,310 S 202,479 S 28,831
5 8943 § 9,795 $§ {852)
s 35,483 $ 33,679 $ 1,804
$ 189,305 § 188,844 § 461
$ 15,800 § 16,836 $ (1,036)
S 5350 $ 5,359 $ {9)
3 156,513 § 178,165 % {21,652}
S 131,904 $ 131,674 S 230
$ 779,255 $ 826,210 S  (46,955)
$ 163,866 $ 189,368 $§  (25,502)
$ 412,633 § 447,647 §  (35,014)
S 813,887 $ 809,409 $ 4,478
5 - $ - -

$ 19,053,937 § 18,974532 $§ 79,405
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GRADE
PK

HWN R R

0O N O Un

10
11
12

Total Enrollment

Received in District

Lebanon Public Schools
Enroliment
2017-2018

ENROLLMENT
53
53
59
65
61
51
342 342 Elementary School

83
79
69
80
311 311 Middle School

83
83
96
99
361 361 High School

1,014

67

33



Employee

ALBERT, CORY D.
ALLEGRO, DEVON
ALLEN, DAVID
ANASTASIO, ELIZABETH

ANDREWS, CHRISTOPHER T.

ANGELASTRO, ANNE P.
ANGELI, ROBERT J.
APICELLI, JAMES
ARCHER, BARBARA E.
AYER, DIANE J

BARNES, RICHARD
BARRY, SEAN

BAUER, LAUREN
BELISLE, SANDRA

BELL, BRENT C.
BERGERON, AMY E
BIEKERT, CHERYL J.
BIRRELL, ANN

BIRRELL, PATRICK
BISSON, ROSE
BLANCHARD, EMILY A.
BOADA, BETHANY J.
BOONE, TAMMY A.
BOSCO, SARINA
BOURGOIN, HELEN
BRENCHLEY, LAURA
BROADBENT, ROBERT S
BROCHU, GRETCHEN
BURELLE, CHRISTINE
CALAMO, ANITAMARIE
CALER, JULIE
CASTILLO, JESSICA A.
CHALIFOUX, CHRISTINE
CHAMBERLAIN, VIRGINIA
CHILCOTE, MICHAELA
CHIN, OLWEN

COFFEY, ROSANNE
COLEMAN, IVY
COLEMAN, JAMIE
COLLINS, KAREN A.
CORNELL, ABIGAIL R.
COTE, JOHN W

COTY, JENNIFER
COVINO, DAVID R.
CREME, CATHERINE A.

Wage Report 17-18
4,454
1,190

425
80,218
71,497
21,838

170,644
138,105
80,218
80,218
5,576
873
9,052
44,998

570

80,218
128,195
112,913
23,189
4,200
50,362
67,997
11,339

750

170
15,898

3,882
84,713
80,218
80,218
7,813

350
36,073
22,077

375
46,111
15,940
20,949
18,161
75,497
48,187
75,497

425
43,273
28,606
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Employee

CROSS, GWENDOLYN
CZAJKA, RICHARD M.
DANIELS, ANDREA L.
DANIELS, PAUL
DELONG, VIRGINIA A,
DELSESTO, JORDAN
DEROSIER, CHERYL
DIERBERGER, HEATHER
DIMURO, EMILY
DOYLE, MARKT.
DUBE, DENISE

DUFF, VICKI F
DUHAIME, LORI J.
DULAC, JACQUES
DUNN, JUNE K.
DUTKO, BENJAMIN
EAKIN, AMANDA
ELLIOTT, SCOTT A
ESCOTT, SABENA
FABRY, CHRISTOPHER G
FABRY, RYAN R
FAUSTMAN, CAROL
FERRI, MAY

FIGOTEN, SANDRA
FRANSON, CRISTYN
FRAZIER, BARBARA
FRYER, ALEXANDRIA G.
GAMACHE, LISA ANN
GAUCHER, ERIN C
GAUCHER, JEFFREY P
GELIGOFF, DAVID
GERBER, LAURA A.
GERVAIS, JAN M.
GILLESPIE, MARGARET
GILPATRICK, SARAH
GIRASOLI, BRIAN C.
GIZA, MICHAEL
GLODE, JEAN
GODAIRE, JANICE
GOMEZ, MARTIN
GONNELLI, AJAY
GONZALES, MIGUEL A.

GOODRICH, MARGARET A.
GORBORINO, JACQUELINE

GRAY, GEORGE

Wage Report 17-18
11,596
38,556

2,357
4,685
69,825
41,786
56,541
6,029
47,786
53,467
19,304
14,491
21,048
86,254
60,212
15,489
380
80,218
67,997
80,218
80,218
480
52,646
6,400
10,870
10,937
43,273
80,218
80,218
80,218
5,470
53,070
80,218
10,703
19,947
50,362
23,499
54,983
80,218
80,218
425
18,396
3,753
65,339
80,218
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Employee

GREEN, NICOLE
GROGAN, MEGAN E.
GUINAN, BRITTANY
GUPTA, RUMA
HALBARDIER, TERESA
HALBROOKS, JF G
HAMILTON-BRODIE, KEVIN S
HANDY, PATTI
HARTNETT, MICHAEL T
HARTNETT, SONIA
HARTZELL, MARY
HEON, MONTANA M.
HERMANN, LORI-ANN
HISMAN, CYNTHIA D
HOEBEL, MELISSA
HOGG, PATRICIA A
HUNTINGTON, MEGAN
HUSTUS SR., KENNETH
IENI, DEBRA A
INGRAM, JUDITH J
JARVIS IV, JOHN L.
JENNEY, MEGAN
JOHNSON, CHRISTINE G
JOHNSON, LYN K
JOHNSON, ZACHARY
KANSLER, MATTHEW D.
KINSTLER, LISAP
KLOSOWSKI, JOHN
KONOW, KAREN L.
KORZHOFF, NATALIA
KOWALYSHYN, KAREN
LADEGARD, JASON T
LADEGARD, JENNIFER M
LAKE, JULIE L.
LANGDON, MARIE F
LAPLANTE, TONYA R
LAPORTE, KEITH
LASKARZEWSKI, ROBERT M.
LASKOW, DENISE
LATHROP, MOLLY L
LAZUR, BARBARA
LAZUR, EVAN P
LEARNED, CAROL
LUCAS, SHAWN

LUND, DAVID W.

Wage Report 17-18
3,250
67,836
6,095
80,218
80,218
84,713
84,713
9,931
38,113
32,227
4,972
5,463
21,172
80,218
48,890
84,713
52,646
32,913
80,218
80,218
38,903
14,034
80,218
21,200
46,111
50,362
23,592
80,218
21,476
55,047
3,135
75,497
71,497
21,140
80,218
59,325
38,726
133,105
20,752
80,218
80,218
5,889
20,029
59,292
40,363
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Employee
LURETTE, RICHARD J
LYNCH, KERRY M.

LYON-MILES, HEATHER M.

MACKEWICZ, MARISSA L.
MADRAK, MELYSSA
MAGNAN, TAMELAJ
MAIORANO, HOLLIS L.
MANFRE, SARAH
MCANENY, NICHOLAS
MCGRAIL, CHRISTINE

MCLEAN, CHRISTOPHER S.

MCNEILL, PAULA
MEAKEM, MAEGAN
MERRITT, TAYLOR
MEYER, SVEA
MICHELE, KRISTY
MICHELE, NICOLE L.
MITCHELL, KAREN D.
MORELLO, MARK
MORSE, ASHLEY N.
MORSE, SHANE
MOTYKA, JAMES B.

MOZAK-PEZZA, KATHLEEN M.

MULLER, PATRICIA
NARITA, KYOTARO J
NELSON, MIRANDA
NIEMANN, PATRICIA
NIXON, KELSEY
NIXON, SAMANTHA G.
NOVOTNY, ROBIN
NOWAK, KAMILA
NOWOSAD, GENEVIEVE
NOWOSAD, JOANNE
O'CONNOR, ROBERT
O'HEARN, CANDIS A
OLSEN, JENNIFER C.
ORLANDO, MELISSA E.
ORSINI, PAULJ.
ORTEGON, KRISTIN M
OZARK, NICOLE
PAGLIARINI, DAWN M.
PAGNOZZ|, THERESA M.
PARKER, HOLLY A
PARLA, STACY

PAYER, PATRICIA M.

Wage Report 17-18
34,488
50,362
60,212

2,443
8,033
36,562
19,969
39,277
1,445
168
80,218
17,998
62,776
450
23,628
30,136
19,584
38,379
80,218
55,047
71,497
80,218
123,105
80,218
80,218
75
2,894
255
53,467
9,721
41,786
52,646
13,095
1,150
23,938
80,218
60,212
44,814
27,738
1,105
80,178
48,187
42,712
3,080
21,509
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Employee

PERRY, PIA V.

PESTEY, KELLY E.
PESTEY, MICHAEL
PETERSON, LINDA JOYCE
PICARD, GEOFFREY
PICARD, JEANNETTE
PISTEL, ERIN M
PORTER, SARAH
PROVOST, CAROLYN
QUICK, MICHAEL
QUILES-GLOVER, RITA
RENNA, BARBARA
REYNOLDS, ADAM C.
REYNOLDS, AMY

RIOS, SANDRA
ROBACKER, CATHERINE
ROBINS, SPENCER
RUCKDESCHEL, LEIGH H
SANCHEZ, LENA
SCORSO, JESSICA
SCZUREK, JOANNE
SERRENHO, KAREN
SHEDD, HEATHER
SHEPAUM, MYRIAH
SHUMAN, ERIN D.
SIECZKOWSKI, NICOLE
SIROIS, OLIVIA
SIRPENSKI, ROBERT A.
SKILES, GRETA
SLAVINSKI, KATE
SMILGEL, MATTHEW
SMITH, KATHLEEN L
SMITH, REBECCA L.
SOKOLA, MARIA
SOLARI, GAYLE
SPEDALIERE, SANDRA A.
STARR, STEVEN

STRENKOWSKI, LORRAINE M.

STROHM, LARRY
STRONG, ERICA J.
SUMARA, PATRICIA
SWANSON, ADREANNE A.
SYLVESTER, MARYLIN G
TARTAGLIA, LAURA J.
TEDESCO, DAVID M

Wage Report 17-18
50,362
19,223
41,817
23,512
62,207
84,713
80,218
18,449
80,218
28,113

119,839
18,733
67,997
71,497
55,047
80,218

7,534
84,713
19,330
84,713
44,998
84,713
10,735
19,286
75,497
44,814
48,187
93,050
80,218
55,047
2,995
80,218
22,663
65,815
2,628
20,142
18,188
18,576
80,218
43,273
7,586
855
23,640
18,987
84,497
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Employee
THOMPSON, CAROLINE
THOMPSON, JENNIFER
TOROCKIO, HALLE S
TRUAX, LINDA J

TULLY, JENNIFER
ARPIN, APRIL

VIELE, LISAM
VILLANUEVA, THERESA
VIOLETTE, CYNTHIA M
VONEDWINS, CAROL
WADJA, DONNA
WALDRON, JOANNE
WALLACE, MONICA
WARNER, LINDSAY
WATFORD, HANNAH
WIECZOREK, NATALIE
WILDES, BRENDA
WILLIAMS, CHELSEA D.
WILLIAMS, ELAINE
WILLIAMS, ERIN
WILSON, MARGARET
WILSON, SHERI C
ZARZECKI, NORAH

Wage Report 17-18
46,111
35,954
80,218
20,033
49,833
57,565
21,615
18,505
80,218

3,535
19,329
57,549
10,287

1,360

553
283
78,880
30,877
3,075
405
48,187
80,218
3,300
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Spencer Lee Abney

Cassidy Belle Ainsley

Zachary Brian Allard +

Jomes Daniel Allen

Emily Carolyn Anderson
Alexis Nicole Augustyn
Emerson Monroe Bailey
Victoria Anne Beckwith #
Nicole Ashley Bibeau NHS
Megan Elizabeth Breaul
Joshua Thomas Cardinol
Bridget Rose Charland * NHS +
Grant Aorop Chesmer

Mecgan Elizabeth Cormicr
Scott Benjamin Coumoyer
Kaycee Valerie Crider

Natalie May Curtis * NHS +
Evan Alexander Dias

Mecghan Elizabeth Domanico +
Madison Taylar Dominique
Ray Giuseppe Flegert * NHS
Dakoin Elizabeth Fox

Michael Vincent Franchi +
Adam Joseph Gamache
Gabricl Edward Garcin

Jack David Gural

Crystal Way Harwood

Leslic Mabelle Hisman * NHS +
Kevin Thomas Hnath

MEMBERS OF THE CLASS OF 2018

Jordyn Elise Holbrook

Alyssa Nicole Holmes #
Samantha Elizabeth Hussey * NHS +
Kati Elizabeth leni

Anna Katarina Justh

Jesse Sam Kirsch

Annic Dolores Konrnd NHS
Mason Gregory LoFlam
Douglas Orrin Lambert

Katic Theresa Landry

Cory Jason Langworthy 4
Shelby Nicole LeBreux

Alexis Theresa LeTourneay A
Daved Edward Lewandowski
Christopher Luke Loeser
David Fernando Lopez, Ir.
Destiny Lubsay

Cassandra Leigh Lucey A
Kayla Chase Macha

Kayla Rase Maynard

Brandon Edward McGillicuddy
Kathryn Elizabeth Meese * NHS +
Marina Lee Megson *
Meredith Lynn Morin

Aaron Tyler Northrop

Surnh Page Olearnick

Silas David Olsen * NHS +
Dominique Eliezer Onliz
Jeremias Calin Otero

*Top Ten
INHS National Honor Saciety
+ Honors Senior Project

A Qutstanding Seniar Project Oral Visual

Tanner Matthew Parker

Mary Hannah Pasqualini
Micah Roy Person

Danesha Monice Pontes
Allison Taylor Powers * NHS +
Crystal Jean Ricard

Hayley Alexis Rich +

Grace Laurel Rodgers * NHS
Thomas Jacob Rogers

Lauren Lily Russo

Emily Marjorie Sala +

Kyle David Sasman

Amanda Rathbone Scars
Ryan Joseph Skafl

Andrew Robert Snyder
Elizabeth Amelia Spedalicre +
Taylor Shea Speight

Jessica Summer Stewart

Mury Maragret Strickland
Jessica Louise Strong

Hunler Joseph Tomick

Hailey Smith Tompkins +
Darin James Tourville

Jnson Richard Valliere

Meg Ellen Verizzi +

Lenh Michelle Vichas

Clark Ronald Vigue

Tristan Michael Walker
Bradley Charles Wieczorek
Alexandria Yasmine Woods * NHS 4
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Bill #

2003-01-0002097
2003-01-0002870

2004-01-0002140
2004-01-0002894

2005-01-0002176
2005-01-0002924

2006-01-0002222
2006-01-0002967

2007-01-0002212

2008-01-0002096
2008-01-0003545

2009-01-0002089
2009-01-0003535

2010-01-0002081
2010-01-0003530

2011-01-0001183
2011-01-0002070
2011-01-0003516

2012-01-0001188
2012-01-0002061
2012-01-0003512

2013-01-0000700
2013-01-0001188
2013-01-0001663
2013-01-0002061
2013-01-0002592
2013-01-0003512

2014-01-0000700
2014-01-0000889
2014-01-0001188
2014-01-0001663
2014-01-0002046
2014-01-0002061
2014-01-0002215

Town of Lebanon
Uncollected Taxes
as of June 30, 2018

Name

LOWNEY JEREMIAH J & VIRGINIA
POMPROWICZ EDWARD M & KNAPP

LOWNEY JEREMIAH J & VIRGINIA
POMPROWICZ EDWARD M & KNAPP

LOWNEY JEREMIAH J & VIRGINIA
POMPROWICZ EDWARD M & KNAPP

LOWNEY JEREMIAH J & VIRGINIA
POMPROWICZ EDWARD M & KNAPP

LOWNEY JEREMIAH J & VIRGINIA

LOWNEY JEREMIAH J & VIRGINIA
UNKNOWN

LOWNEY JEREMIAH J & VIRGINIA
UNKNOWN

LOWNEY JEREMIAH J & VIRGINIA
UNKNOWN

GAAL ARAPAD
LOWNEY JEREMIAH J & VIRGINIA
UNKNOWN

GAAL ARAPAD
LOWNEY JEREMIAH J & VIRGINIA
UNKNOWN

CIERI MARY JANE

GAAL ARAPAD

JENNES JOAN C & NOEL H
LOWNEY JEREMIAH J & VIRGINIA
PANG LAN

UNKNOWN

CIERI MARY JANE

DAPICE ANN

GAAL ARAPAD

JENNES JOAN C & NOEL H
LOMBARDO KATHRYN

LOWNEY JEREMIAH J & VIRGINIA
MAZZOLI DAVID

PP PP DA RAPH PP © AP M SN h»H ©« ¥ o N H R © ©“H h R ©“ &

Tax Due

77.36
185.94

80.34
193 12

84.00
201.90

88 98
213.86

90.30

102.04
405.34

105.86
420.56

109.22
246.70

1,294.00
113.04
255.36

1,310.44
114.48
258.60

648.32
1,878 68
741.38
86.57
1,805.36
313.88

659.82
1,247 60
1,912.00

754.52
1,699.90

88.11

258.30
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Bill #

2014-01-0002592
2014-01-0003012
2014-01-0003179
2014-01-0003365
2014-01-0003389
2014-01-0003512

2015-01-0000109
2015-01-0000582
2015-01-0000700
2015-01-0000889
2015-01-0001188
2015-01-0001448
2015-01-0001635
2015-01-0001663
2015-01-0001771
2015-01-0001935
2015-01-0001949
2015-01-0002046
2015-01-0002061
2015-01-0002092
2015-01-0002215
2015-01-0002285
2015-01-0002286
2015-01-0002592
2015-01-0002640
2015-01-0002968
2015-01-0003012
2015-01-0003179
2015-01-0003214
2015-01-0003365
2015-01-0003389
2015-01-0003480
2015-01-0003512

2016-01-0000004
2016-01-0000099
2016-01-0000100
2016-01-0000101
2016-01-0000112
2016-01-0000565
2016-01-0000580
2016-01-0000619
2016-01-0000648
2016-01-0000668
2016-01-0000767

Town of Lebanon
Uncollected Taxes
as of June 30, 2018

Name

PANG LAN

SAJKOWICZ JOSEPH F

SIROIS JEFFREY M & MARILU O
SYLVESTER ANTHONY M
SZCZESNIAK STANISLAW & MARIA
UNKNOWN

ANDREWS LORRAINE ET AL
CAPULLI JEAN

CIERI MARY JANE

DAPICE ANN

GAAL ARAPAD

HARPER PATRICIA
JACKSON EMILY K

JENNES JOAN C & NOEL H
KILTON KEVIN J & ROBIN L

LATHROP CHARLES L IV & ANDREW S &

LAZUR BARBARA A

LOMBARDO KATHRYN

LOWNEY JEREMIAH J & VIRGINIA
MACKEWICZ MICHAEL & KAREN J
MAZZOLI DAVID

MCNARRY CATHERINE
MCNARRY CATHERINE

PANG LAN

PEARSON DAVID W

ROTH NANCY G

SAJKOWICZ JOSEPH F

SIROIS JEFFREY M & MARILU O
SMITH REBECCA & DAVID
SYLVESTER ANTHONY M
SZCZESNIAK STANISLAW & MARIA
TREISS INGRID

UNKNOWN

894 LLC

ANDREWS LORRAINE ET AL
ANDREWS LORRAINE ET AL
ANDREWS LORRAINE ET AL
ANGELIDES MICHAEL J & SUSAN H
CAPULLI JEAN

CARLSON LAURENCE E JR & SHARON

CERBERUS HOLDINGS CORP
CHESMER LINCOLN B & AMY A
CIERI MARY JANE

CORMIER PATRICIAM

Tax Due
1,837.38
4,780.56
1,786.58
1,276.30
1,003.36

319.44

4,854.02
889.84
664.42

1,256.28

1,925.32

2,681.28

3,218.60
759.78

3,256.16
118 20

2,878.44

1,711.76

88.72

3,256.44
260.10

1,338.36

1,491 24

94.21

2,325.88

1,012 96

4,813 88

1,799.04

4,462.16

1,285.18

1,010.34

5,330.32
32166

3,501.84
214.92
9.70
4,944.06
31.16
905.24
3,416.88
3,834 36
5,002.12
675.92
268.14
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Bill #

2016-01-0000768
2016-01-0000920
2016-01-0001089
2016-01-0001138
2016-01-0001176
2016-01-0001219
2016-01-0001241
2016-01-0001277
2016-01-0001357
2016-01-0001358
2016-01-0001359
2016-01-0001360
2016-01-0001455
2016-01-0001458
2016-01-0001492
2016-01-0001535
2016-01-0001628
2016-01-0001641
2016-01-0001644
2016-01-0001669
2016-01-0001722
2016-01-0001776
2016-01-0001811
2016-01-0001858
2016-01-0001880
2016-01-0001910
2016-01-0001911
2016-01-0001940
2016-01-0001954
2016-01-0002009
2016-01-0002049
2016-01-0002064
2016-01-0002095
2016-01-0002154
2016-01-0002218
2016-01-0002219
2016-01-0002229
2016-01-0002283
2016-01-0002284
2016-01-0002580
2016-01-0002623
2016-01-0002741
2016-01-0002746
2016-01-0002758
2016-01-0002846
2016-01-0002848

Town of Lebanon
Uncollected Taxes
as of June 30, 2018

Name

CORMIER PATRICIA MISSERI TRUSTEE
DEVOE STEPHANIE A

WOOLMAN TRAVIS & VICKIE L
FOBERG RONALD S

GAAL ARAPAD

GDOVIN RICHARD P & JOANN C
GIANTS LANE LLC

PALACIOS ELISE C & ORLOWSKI PHILLP.
GREEN GATE LLC

GREEN GATE LLC

GREEN GATE LLC

GREEN GATE LLC

HARMON ALMA

HARPER PATRICIA

HAZLETT GEORGE R JR EST OF
HILSDON MICHAEL J

INSALACO PHILIP J

IVES WESLEY & DEBORAH
JACKSON EMILY K

JENNES JOAN C & NOEL H
KALISZ CHESTER

KILTON KEVIN J & ROBIN L
JANELL LOREA

KRAVETZ TUNIE L TRUSTEE
LAFLASH STEPHANIE A

LANDON MARY R

LANDON MARY R

LATHROP CHARLES L IV & ANDREW S &
LAZUR BARBARA A

LEVONICK ROBERT

LOMBARDO KATHRYN

LOWNEY JEREMIAH J & VIRGINIA
MACKEWICZ MICHAEL & KAREN J
MARGELOT HI WALTER R & KATHLEEN
MAYNES JAMES & YVETTE C
MAZZOLI DAVID

MCCARTHY JENNIFER

MCNARRY CATHERINE
MCNARRY CATHERINE

PANG LAN

PEARSON DAVID W

POSTEMSKI CAROLYN
POSTEMSKY CAROLYN
PRESCOTT JAMES H

REED NATASHA

REED PAULAL & JOHN H

PR NDDDDPPRADDODDDDANPAPPLDODDDDDDADPDPADPLDLODNDDLDLDBPLDDL PP PO

Tax Due
1,824.28
1,068.40
5,555.14
1,603.48
1,958.64
538.32
6,753.48
2,828.28
3,448.04
3,182.26
92 90
49.98
683.56
2,994 98
2,513.70
4,980.96
5,287.60
4,928 04
3,274.28
772.94
268.42
3,312.50
4,424.70
171.12
2,706.56
5,157.94
1,650.52
120.26
2,928.24
4,143.94
1,741.36
90.26
3,008.12
1,744.90
3,393.64
264.60
4,206.56
1,361.52
1,517.04
95.84
2,366.12
2,325.84
4,391.78
2,040.56
4,424 70
4,763.10
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Bill #

2016-01-0002953
2016-01-0002999
2016-01-0003164
2016-01-0003196
2016-01-0003199
2016-01-0003341
2016-01-0003346
2016-01-0003347
2016-01-0003348
2016-01-0003364
2016-01-0003408
2016-01-0003410
2016-01-0003470
2016-01-0003502
2016-01-0003693

Town of Lebanon
Uncollected Taxes

as of June 30, 2018

Name

ROTH NANCY G

SAJKOWICZ JOSEPH F

SIROIS JEFFREY M & MARILU O
SMITH MONICA T & RUSSELL E
SMITH REBECCA & DAVID
SYLVESTER ANTHONY M
SYPHER CARL |

SYPHER CARL I

SYPHER CARL | &
SZCZESNIAK STANISLAW & MARIA
TERWILLIGER MARILOU
TERWILLIGER MARILOU
TREISS INGRID

UNKNOWN

THE HILL FIELDS LLC

WPCA Sewer Assessment

Bill #

2013-07-0000133
2013-07-0000135
2013-07-0000151
2013-07-0000160
2013-07-0000211
2013-07-0000280

2014-07-0000023
2014-07-0000133
2014-07-0000135
2014-07-0000151
2014-07-0000160
2014-07-0000211
2014-07-0000245
2014-07-0000263
2014-07-0000280

2015-07-0000023
2015-07-0000035
2015-07-0000133
2015-07-0000135
2015-07-0000151
2015-07-0000160
2015-07-0000170

Uncollected Taxes

as of June 30, 2018

Name

SPEER SHERI A

HARLOW BRETT J & SALLY
HAMILTON DOLORES

SPOONER DONALD J JR & JANET M
LOMBARDO KATHRYN

GLANERT KATHLEEN M

CORMIER PATRICIA M

SPEER SHERI A

HARLOW BRETT J & SALLY
HAMILTON DOLORES

SPOONER DONALD J JR & JANET M
LOMBARDO KATHRYN

LANE JULIE

FOBERG RONALD S

GLANERT KATHLEEN M

CORMIER PATRICIAM

LYON GILLIAN A

SPEER SHERI A

HARLOW BRETT J & SALLY
HAMILTON DOLORES

SPOONER DONALD J JR & JANET M
OLSEN ANJA

PP ANDPDADADPAPAOPAPADOLN

B AADPHPOPHPOHLH PP H OO

PO PP P PP

Tax Due
1,030.48
4,897.16
1,830.16

208.74
4,539.36
1,307.42
1,473.82

240.80
4,721 64
1,027 82

740.88
2,854.74
5,422.54

327.22
7,999.74

Tax Due

1,786.80
1,786 80
1,786.80
650.94
622.45
1,786.80

571.25
1,700 17
1,700.17
1,700.17
1,700.17
1,700.17

848.39
1,567.10
1,700.17

860.61
1,135.20
1,540 49
1,540 49
1,540.49
1,640.49
1,563 64
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Bill #

2015-07-0000211
2015-07-0000245
2015-07-0000263
2015-07-0000280
2015-07-0000302

2016-07-0000023
2016-07-0000035
2016-07-0000133
2016-07-0000135
2016-07-0000151
2016-07-0000160
2016-07-0000170
2016-07-0000211
2016-07-0000245
2016-07-0000263
2016-07-0000280
2016-07-0000302

2017-07-0000023
2017-07-0000035
2017-07-0000133
2017-07-0000135
2017-07-0000151
2017-07-0000160
2017-07-0000170
2017-07-0000211
2017-07-0000245
2017-07-0000263
2017-07-0000277
2017-07-0000280
2017-07-0000282
2017-07-0000285
2017-07-0000302
2017-07-0000305

2018-07-0000009
2018-07-0000015
2018-07-0000023
2018-07-0000035
2018-07-0000036
2018-07-0000057
2018-07-0000059
2018-07-0000072
2018-07-0000080
2018-07-0000086

Town of Lebanon
Uncollected Taxes
as of June 30, 2018

Name

LOMBARDO KATHRYN
LANE JULIE

FOBERG RONALD S
GLANERT KATHLEEN M
CISZEWSKI STEVEN M

CORMIER PATRICIA M
LYON GILLIAN A

SPEER SHERI A

HARLOW BRETT J & SALLY
HAMILTON DOLORES
SPOONER DONALD J JR & JANET M
OLSEN ANJA

LOMBARDO KATHRYN
LANE JULIE

FOBERG RONALD S
GLANERT KATHLEEN M
CISZEWSKI STEVEN M

CORMIER PATRICIAM

LYON GILLIAN A

SPEER SHERI A

HARLOW BRETT J & SALLY
HAMILTON DOLORES

SPOONER DONALD J JR & JANET M
OLSEN ANJA

LOMBARDO KATHRYN

LANE JULIE

FOBERG RONALD S

KENDALL ANN

GLANERT KATHLEEN M
CARRIER KENNETH & SANDRA L
RIOUX KAREN A

CISZEWSKI STEVEN M
VALENTE JEREMY &

SPEIGHT SHANE D
IMPELLITTERI DANIEL

CORMIER PATRICIA MISSERI TRUSTEE

LYON GILLIAN A

DAVIS STEVEN J & LINDEBERG ERIKA B

OSTRAGER BARRY R
BIELERT ROBERT E
HALLE PAUL & JAMES
STEC ALLISON M
GUEST JOEY E

PP PO POP PP PP PR AL AN NP DD DL PO PBDAAPAAPADADPHPDHHAH fe R

Tax Due
1,540.49
1,057.75
1,646.17
1,540.49

791.38

1,431.68
1,436.27
1,419.29
1,419.29
1,419.29
1,423.46
1,436 27
1,419.29
1,431.95
1,423 46
1,419 29
1,440.64

1,329.98
1,272.90
1,322.10
1,322 10
1,322.10
1,324.75
1,332.90
1,322 10
1,330.15
1,327.43

663 22
1,322 10

668.09
1,341.22
1,335.68

658.56

1,181 86
1,186.88
1,179.89
1,131 14
577.59
6.73
577 60
577.63
577 61
1,189 35
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Bill #

2018-07-0000096
2018-07-0000120
2018-07-0000133
2018-07-0000135
2018-07-0000144
2018-07-0000148
2018-07-0000149
2018-07-0000151
2018-07-0000156
2018-07-0000160
2018-07-0000168
2018-07-0000170
2018-07-0000187
2018-07-0000188
2018-07-0000189
2018-07-0000195
2018-07-0000196
2018-07-0000198
2018-07-0000208
2018-07-0000211
2018-07-0000223
2018-07-0000233
2018-07-0000234
2018-07-0000241
2018-07-0000242
2018-07-0000245
2018-07-0000248
2018-07-0000263
2018-07-0000277
2018-07-0000278
2018-07-0000280
2018-07-0000281
2018-07-0000282
2018-07-0000285
2018-07-0000287
2018-07-0000302
2018-07-0000305
2018-07-0000308

Bill # Susp

2015-06-0000160

Town of Lebanon
Uncollected Taxes
as of June 30, 2018

Name

MACLEAN LOIS M

RICHARDS RANDY D & DONNA C
SPEER SHERI A

HARLOW BRETT J & SALLY
BOURQUE FLORENCE P
ROSSBAUM ELIZABETH K
HOLCOMB MATTHEW L
HAMILTON DOLORES

LAVOIE KENNETH J

SPOONER DONALD J JR & JANET M
HANCOCK WILLIAM

OLSEN ANJA

PORTS WILLIAM C & JUDY M
SONG GU YANG

PORTS WILLIAM C & JUDY M

TUCKER F RICHARD & GERALDINE S

BISHOP DALE E

KOWALSKI FREDERICK H & LUCILLE

RADICAN JAMES P & THOMASINE
LOMBARDO KATHRYN
OSTRAGER BARRY R

BUDA JOHN J IV

WACHA KEVIN & JENNIFER
NEAL TRACI A & JOHN A
OVERTURF DAWN N & DANNY D
LANE JULIE

DEVITO GISELLE

FOBERG RONALD S

KENDALL ANN

BEAULIEU JOAN B

GLANERT KATHLEEN M

MAGRATH NINA & PISTRITTO ELIZABETH

DION-WEST AMANDA

RIOUX KAREN A

WEINER JARED M & ELVIRA L
CISZEWSKI STEVEN M
VALENTE JEREMY &
PISTRITTO ELIZABETH

WPCA Sewer Useage
Uncollected Taxes
as of June 30, 2018

Name

SPOONER DONALD J JR & JANET M

PO DA AN PO PBDPDPAPADDODD PO ANOPLDDPLDDBPDODOL P LD Y PB G

Tax Due
577.56
5.75
1,176.53
1,176.53
152.76
588.98
577.58
1,176.53
577.65
1,177.66
11.88
1,181.13
588.97
596.94
589.01
16.19
12.20
577.62
1,188.18
362.02
6.73
537.49
577.59
577.53
1,186.72
1,179.96
577.64
1,178.81
1,187.09
577.62
1,176 53
1,186 79
1,187.19
1,185.89
349.17
1,182.32
1,186.81
58362

Tax Due

817.97
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Bill #

2015-06-0000170
2015-06-0000203
2015-06-0000302

2016-06-0000160
2016-06-0000203
2016-06-0000263
2016-06-0000302

2017-06-0000015
2017-06-0000096
2017-06-0000142
2017-06-0000160
2017-06-0000170
2017-06-0000179
2017-06-0000203
2017-06-0000242
2017-06-0000263
2017-06-0000277
2017-06-0000282
2017-06-0000285
2017-06-0000302

2018-06-0000009
2018-06-0000015
2018-06-0000024
2018-06-0000035
2018-06-0000047
2018-06-0000050
2018-06-0000060
2018-06-0000063
2018-06-0000074
2018-06-0000076
2018-06-0000081
2018-06-0000086
2018-06-0000091
2018-06-0000092
2018-06-0000094
2018-06-0000095
2018-06-0000096
2018-06-0000102
2018-06-0000105
2018-06-0000111
2018-06-0000118
2018-06-0000134
2018-06-0000135

Town of Lebanon
Uncollected Taxes
as of June 30, 2018

Name

OLSEN ANJA

DOWNING STEPHEN P SR
CISZEWSKI STEVEN M

SPOONER DONALD J JR & JANET M
DOWNING STEPHEN P SR

FOBERG RONALD S

CISZEWSKI STEVEN M

IMPELLITTERI DANIEL
MACLEAN LOIS M

DECARMINE ANTHONY
SPOONER DONALD J JR & JANET M
OLSEN ANJA

WHITCHER DAWN

DOWNING STEPHEN P SR
OVERTURF DAWN N & DANNY D
FOBERG RONALD S

KENDALL ANN

DION-WEST AMANDA

RIOUX KAREN A

CISZEWSKI STEVEN M

SPEIGHT SHANE D
IMPELLITTERI DANIEL

GREEN HAROLD L

LYON GILLIAN A

BELANGER SANDRA & RODNEY A
CARABALLO ELBERT

JOHNSON THERESA P
VERRAVAS JACK & KULLI
SINDER BERNADETTE M EST
BAREISS DAVID G & MICHELLE M
PEASE LESLEY W & ALLEN H JR
GUEST JOEY E

ANDRYCHOWSKI WILLIAM A & LEONA

RICE LEONARD S
SORRENTINO BETH
RAY DONALD & LAURIE
MACLEAN LOIS M

SENCABAUGH STANLEY W AND JULIE A

DOOLEY JOAN H &
SHAW MAUREEN E &

FOSTER JEFFREY F& DONNAMARIE F

MASON RICHARD
HARLOW BRETT J & SALLY

BA DA POD DDA ADD DDA DODODLLLL R AR < o e R A R R R R N ) ©HHHh B h PP

Tax Due
19.84
535.46
535.46

1,006.22
1,006.22

923.13
1,006.22

887.96
496.46
441.20
887.96
887.96
441.20
887.96
441.20
887.96
326.69
441.20
796.66
887.96

454.00
454.00
218 00
454.00
218.00
218.00
218 00
6.36
941
9.41
218.00
454 00
218.00
218 00
218.00
6.54
454.00
218.00
6.54
9.41
218 00
3.18
218.00
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Bill #

2018-06-0000139
2018-06-0000142
2018-06-0000148
2018-06-0000149
2018-06-0000150
2018-06-0000154
2018-06-0000156
2018-06-0000158
2018-06-0000160
2018-06-0000168
2018-06-0000169
2018-06-0000170
2018-06-0000175
2018-06-0000179
2018-06-0000181
2018-06-0000182
2018-06-0000186
2018-06-0000188
2018-06-0000195
2018-06-0000196
2018-06-0000203
2018-06-0000206
2018-06-0000221
2018-06-0000231
2018-06-0000233
2018-06-0000234
2018-06-0000239
2018-06-0000241
2018-06-0000242
2018-06-0000243
2018-06-0000248
2018-06-0000260
2018-06-0000263
2018-06-0000267
2018-06-0000277
2018-06-0000279
2018-06-0000281
2018-06-0000282
2018-06-0000285
2018-06-0000291
2018-06-0000294
2018-06-0000298
2018-06-0000302
2018-06-0000305
2018-06-0000306

Town of Lebanon
Uncollected Taxes

as of June 30, 2018

Name

PETERSON JOHN A Il ET AL
DECARMINE ANTHONY
ROSSBAUM ELIZABETH K
HOLCOMB MATTHEW L
JOVANOVIC DRAGAN

RILEY ANN

LAVOIE KENNETH J

BERUBE KIRK T & MIAE
SPOONER DONALD J JR & JANET M
HANCOCK WILLIAM

DUFFY KARLA GEE

OLSEN ANJA

CHICOINE REVOCABLE TRUSTE
WHITCHER DAWN

POWERS PHILLIP J

LEPPO RILEY

RECORDS DAVID P & CAROL A
SONG GU YANG

TUCKER F RICHARD & GERALDINE S
BISHOP DALE E

DOWNING STEPHEN P SR
MICALIZZI WILLIAM AR
CARABALLO ELBERT

ROSADO TAMARA

BUDA JOHN J IV

WACHA KEVIN & JENNIFER
OBST CYNTHIAM

NEAL TRACI A & JOHN A
OVERTURF DAWN N & DANNY D
KINELL WILLIAM H LIFE USE
DEVITO GISELLE
KALLENBERGER DONNA
FOBERG RONALD S

CLEMENTS JAMES P & PAULA L
KENDALL ANN

KINNEY TONYA L

MAGRATH NINA & PISTRITTO ELIAZABET

DION-WEST AMANDA

RIOUX KAREN A

ROMAN MICHAEL & LAURIE
PRENTICE TODD R & LAURIE S &
THARPE PHILIP H & EILEEN M
CISZEWSKI STEVEN M
VALENTE JEREMY &

KLOSEK JOANNA &

PO A DD DD PO PO AP DPDDPD DD DAL PLRLD DD PLDNDPDDPADADLDO DO DL DY

Tax Due
12.36
454.00
224.00
218.00
218.00
218 00
218 00
218 00
454 00
212.00
218.00
454.00
6.36
454.00
454 00
218.00
218 00
224.00
6 36
6.36
454.00
218 00
218 00
218.00
218.00
218.00
218.00
454.00
454.00
218.00
6.36
218.00
454.00
6.36
454.00
204 92
472.34
454.00
454.00
218.00
218.00
218.00
454.00
454.00
10 30
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Independent Auditors' Report

Board of Finance
Board of Selectmen
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely
presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut,
as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Town’s
basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and the fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, the standards applicable to financial audits contained
in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, and the State Single Audit Act (C.G.S.
Sections 4-230 to 236). Those standards and the State Single Audit Act require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and thereasonableness of significantaccounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of
the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut, as of June 30, 2018, and the respective changes in
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof and the respective budgetary comparison for the general fund for the
year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.



Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 17 to the financial statements, during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut,
adopted new accounting guidance, GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than
Pensions. The net position of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut, has been restated to recognize the net other postemployment
benefit hiability in accordance with GASB Statement No. 75. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion and analysis
on pages 3 through 10 and the pension and OPEB schedules on pages 58 through 62 be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Government Accounting
Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquires
of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the Town of
Lebanon, Connecticut’s basic financial statements. The accompanying combining and individual fund financial statements, the
schedule of debt limitation, the schedule of property taxes levied, collections and outstanding balances, and the schedule of
expenditures of state financial assistance as required by the State Single Audit Actare presented for purposes of additional analysis
and are not a required part of the basic financial statements

The accompanying combining and individual fund financial statements, the schedule of debt limitation, the schedule of property
taxes levied, collections and outstanding balances, and the schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance are the
responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. In our opnion, the information described above is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial
statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standaxds

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 31, 2018, on our consideration
of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe
the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Town
of Lebanon, Connecticut’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Stephen T. Hopkins, CPA, PC

7/ . CPd P
Foone 7 o, ot

Scarborough, Maine
December 31, 2018



Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2018

Our discussion and analysis of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s financial performance provides an overview of the Town’s
financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. Please read this analysis in conjunction with the basic financial statements,
notes to the basic financial statements, and required supplementary information of the Town. This management discussion and
analysis is being presented for the current fiscal year with a focus on the comparative analysis of the information for the
governmental and business-type activities of the Town as found in the government-wide financial statements.

Financial Highlights - Government-wide financial statements - Governmental activities

The Town’s total assets exceeded 1ts total liabilities by $42,022,705 (net position) as of the end of the current fiscal year. This
compares to the prior fiscal year when total assets exceeded total liabilities by $41,927,841 as restated. This represents a
favorable increase of $94,864 or approximately .23%.

The Town's net investment in capital assets net position balance is used to account for the total capital assets of the Town
reduced by the total accumulated depreciation on those assets, reduced by the total outstanding debtincurred to purchase those
assets. The total net investment in capital assets net position balance of the Town was $32,816,689 as of the end of the current
fiscal year. This compares to the prior fiscal year balance of $32,552,663. This represents an increase of approximately .81%
which is the result of a decrease in the related long-term debt of ($553,163), current depreciation in the amount of $1,832,473,
current net capital asset additions in the amount of $1,644,455 and current net disposals of ($101,119).

The Town’s restricted net position is used to account for funds received with constraints imposed by creditors, grantors,
contributors, or other rules and regulations as imposed by other governments or enabling legislation This net position cannot
be used to finance the day-to-day activities and operations of the Town. The total restricted net position balance of the Town
was $4,775,597 as of the end of the current fiscal year. This compares to the prior fiscal year balance of $4,693,526. This
represents an increase of approximately 175%. This increase is due in large part to an increase in the small cities program
funds in the amount of $55,603, an increase in the prepaid expenditures balance in the amount of $43,626 and a decrease in the
restricted investments fund in the amount of ($43,709).

The Town's unrestricted net position balance is the component of net position which is used to finance the day-to-day activities
and operations without constraints imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or other rules and regulations as imposed by
other governments or enabling legislation. The total unrestricted net position balance of the Town was $4,450,419 as of the end
of the current fiscal year. This compares to the prior fiscal year balance of $4,681,652 as restated. This represents an
unfavorable decrease of approximately 4.94%. Unrestricted net positionis calculated by subtracting the known net investment
incapital assets balance and the restricted net position balance from the known total net position balance. Therefore, the change
in this balance is a direct correlation of the changes in the other two components.

The Town's total revenues for its governmental activities were $30,513,193 for the current fiscal year. This compares to the prior
fiscal year balance of $30,489,650. This represents a slight increase of $23,543 or approximately .08%. This 1s due to a number
of increases in revenue categories such as property tax revenues which increased by $279,086, the change in investment fair
value which decreased by ($138,127), operating grants and contributions which increased by $66,311 and charges for services
which decreased by ($54,462).

The cost of the Town's governmental activities was $30,418,329 for the current fiscal year. The amount of these costs ultimately
financed by general revenues of the Town, however, was only $19,204,894 due to a portion of these costs being paid for by
individuals receiving certain benefits through charges for services in the amount of $1,471,591 and through operating and
capital grants received from the State (state and federal dollars) in the amount of $9,741,844. This amounts to approximately
63.14% of the cost of these governmental activities actually being financed by the general revenues of the Town. This compares
to approximately 61.81% of the cost of the governmental activities of the Town being financed by the general revenues of the
town for the prior fiscal year as restated. The individual breakdown of how these charges for services and operating and capital
grants where received by department for the current fiscal year is shown on Statement B on page 12 and 13.

The Board of Education and the related programs of the Town received approximately $1,075,225 in grant dollars from a
number of sources including State grant funds and Federal pass-through grant funds to assist in a number of educational
programs and projects from the school lunch program to improving basic programs. This compares to approximately
$1,140,806 in the prior fiscal year. These revenue amounts represent the amounts recorded by the Town in the fund financial
statements as part of the non-major special revenue funds. The amounts shown in the government-wide financial statements
have been adjusted for unearned amounts which are recorded as unearned revenues on the Statement of net position.



Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2018

Financial Highlights - Government-wide financial statements - Business-type activities

*  The Town established two mternal funds to account for the operations of the Amston Lake Water Pollution Control Authority
(the Authority). The benefit assessment proprietary fund which is shown as a business-type activity in both the fund financial
statements and the government-wide financial statements is responsible for the related capital assets of the project, debt
repayment and benefit assessment collections. The operating proprietary fund which is also shown as a business-type activity
in both the fund financial statements and the government-wide financial statements is responsible for the operating costs of
the authority and as such the billing and collection of user fees. Current fiscal year assessment principal collections totaled
approximately $210,994 leaving a current and long-term receivable amount due of $3,026,796. Current fiscal year borrowed
interest collections totaled approximately $68,300 including currently billed amounts and previously billed amounts leaving
a outstanding receivable of $28,357. Current fiscal year user fee collections totaled approximately $145,802 including currently
billed amounts and previously billed amounts leaving a outstanding receivable of $21,396.

Using this annual report

This annual report consists of a series of financial statements. The government-wide financial statements consist of the Statement
of net position and the Statement of activities which are shown on pages 11 through 13 and which provide information about the
governmental and business-type activities of the Town as a whole and present a longer-view of the Town’s finances. The fund
financial statements consist of the Balance sheet and the Statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances which
are shown on pages 14 and 16 and tell how the services of the Town were financed in the short-term as well as what remains for
future spending Fund financial statements also report the Town’s operations in more detail than the government-wide financial
statements by providing information about the Town’s most significant funds. Budget to actual information is reported in these
fund financial statements for the general fund on pages 18 and 19. The proprietary fund financial statements consist of a Statement
of net position, a Statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position and a Statement of cash flows which are shown on
pages 20 through 22. The proprietary activities of the Town are accounted for within two enterprise funds which are used to account
for the activities of the Amston Lake Water Pollution Control Authority and an internal service fund which is used to account for
the self funding dental plan of the Town. The fiduciary fund financial statements consist of a Statement of fiduciary net position
and a Statement of changes in fiduciary net position which are shown on page 23. The fiduciary activities of the Town are those
for which the Town acts solely as a trustee or agent for the benefit of groups outside of the Town. These statements relate to agency
funds for which the Town is acting in a purely custodial capacity for student and other groups and for private purpose trust funds
when amounts have been given to the Town for specific purposes.

Reporting the Town as a whole

Our analysis of the Town as a whole begins on page 11 with the Statement of net position. One of the most important questions
asked about the Town's finances is, “Is the Town as a whole better off or worse off as a result of the current fiscal years activities?”
The statement of net position and the statement of activities report information about the Town as a whole and about its activities
in a way that helps answer this question. The statement of net position includes all of the non-fiduciary assets and liabilities of the
Town using the accrual basis of accounting. This basis of accounting is similar to the accounting policies and procedure utilized
by most private-sector (for profit) companies. All of the current fiscal year revenues and expenses are taken into account regardless
of when cash is received or paid in the statement of activities. The statement of activities presents the operations of the
governmental and business-type activities of the primary government of the Town and the discretely presented component unit
of the Town for the fiscal year. The operations of the Town are shown in a format which reports the net (expense) revenue of the
individual functions of the Town The purpose of this net (expense) revenue format is to report the relative financial burden of each
of the Town’s functions on the taxpayers Program revenue is applied to each function based on which function generated the
specific charges for services and for which functions the operating and capital grants have been received.

These two statements report the Town’s net position and the changes in this net position. You can think of this net position as one
way to measure the financial health and financial position of the Town. The net position balance is made up of the difference
between the assets and liabilities of the Town. Over time, increases and decreases in the Town’s net position is one indicator of
whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating. However, you also need to consider other non-financial factors which
affect the overall financial health of the Town such as changes in the property tax base, the conditions of the infrastructure of the
Town, and the general economy present at the time. These two statements are divided into three different kinds of activities on the
reporting level. These categories are governmental, business-type, and component units. The Authority’s activities are classified
as both governmental activities and business-type activities and are characterized as follows:



Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2018

¢ Governmental activities - All of the Town’sbasic services are reported here, including general government, public safety, public
works, health recreation and social services, community preservation, education, and other unclassified programs and activities.
Property taxes, charges for services, State and Federal operating and capital grants and other funding, and other miscellaneous
revenues finance most of these activities in whole or in part.

* Business-type activities - Business-type activities are reported in funds which focus on the determination of operating income,
changes in net position, and cash flows. The business-type activities of the Town are accounted for within proprietary funds
and more specifically enterprise funds. The Town uses two enterprise funds to account for the activities of the Amston Lake
Water Pollution Control Authority which are designed to account for charges for services and other collections to be used to
fund the operating activities and the repayment of long-term debt and the capital assets of the Authority.

Reporting the Town’s most significant funds

Our analysis of the Town’s major funds begins on page 14 with the Balance sheet. The fund financial statements provide detailed
information about the most significant funds of the Town but not a combined picture of the Town as a whole. Some of these funds
are required to be established by State law and by bond covenants. In addition, the Board of Finance of the Town has the authority
to establish other funds which it uses to help control and manage funds for particular purposes (such as the community center or
recreation commission) or to show that it is meeting legal responsibilities for using certain taxes, grants, or other money (such as
therevenuereceived and expended for educational grants) The Town uses governmental funds which are characterized as follows:

*  Governmental funds - All of the Town’s basic services are reported in governmental funds, which focus on how money flows
into and out of those funds and the balances left at fiscal year-end that are available for spending. These funds are reported
using a current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. This basis of accounting
measures cash and all other financial assets that can readily be converted into cash. The governmental fund financial
statements provide a detailed short-term view of the Town’s general government operations and the basic services it provides.
Governmental fund information helps you determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent
m the near future to finance the Town’s programs and activities. The relationship between governmental activities and
governmental funds is presented in a reconciliation at the bottom of the fund financials.

Reporting the Town’s other funds - Proprietary funds

Our analysis of the Town’s proprietary funds begin on page 20 with the Statement of net position. The statement of net position
presents the financial position of the proprietary funds at the end of the fiscal year. This statement reports the assets, liabilities, and
netposition of the Town. The assets and liabilities are presented in a classified format to distinguish between currentand long-term
assets and liabilities. In addition, the assets and liabilities are presented in the order of their relative liquidity. The statement of
revenues, expenses and changes in net position is the operating statement of proprietary funds. This statement also segregates
revenues and expenses between the category of operating and non-operating. Operating revenues and expenses are subtracted to
come up with the operating income or loss from operations. Non-operating revenues and expenses are then shown by line item
in a section following the results of the operations. The proprietary funds of the Town will also utilize a statement of cash flows.
The purpose of the statement of cash flows is to provide relevant information about the cash receipts and payments made by these
funds during each reporting period. The Town’s proprietary funds are characterized as follows:

*  Proprietary funds - Proprietary funds are both governmental and business-type activity funds which focus on the determination
of operating income, changes in net position and cash flows. Proprietary funds include both enterprise funds (business-type)
and internal service funds (governmental funds).

The Town as a trustee - Fiduciary funds

Fiduciary fund reporting focuses on net position and changes in net position. Fiduciary funds are used by the Town to report assets
held in a trustee or agency capacity for other groups and therefore cannot be used to support the Town’'s own programs. The type
of fiduciary funds for which the Town is trustee are private purpose trust funds and agency funds. Private purpose trust funds
account for the assets held by the Town in a trustee capacity on behalf of the schools in the form of scholarship funds and on behalf
of the library and cemeteries in sumilar funds. All of the resources of these funds, including any earnings on invested resources,
may be used to support their activities. There is no requirement that any portion of these resources be preserved as capital. Agency
funds are used to report resources held by the Town in a purely custodial capacity such as student activity accounts.
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

June 30, 2018

The Town as a whole - Assets, liabilities, and net position

The mformation provided below represents government-wide information for the governmental and business-type activities of the
Town for the current fiscal year compared to the prior fiscal year. The current ratio compares the current assets of the Town as a
whole to its current liabilities as a whole and gives an indication of the Town’s ability to pay current obligations. As of the end of
the current fiscal year the total current ratio of the Town was 4.06 to 1 compared to the end of the prior fiscal year when the total
current ratio was 3 66 to 1. Another indication of the Town's ability to meet its current obligations with current assets is called its
working capital. This is calculated by subtracting the current liabilities and those non-current liabilities due within one year from
the current assets of the Town as a whole. As of the end of the current fiscal year the Town's positive total working capital balance
was $9,573,248. This compares to the prior fiscal year positive balance of $9,585,885.

Current assets
Other assets
Capital assets

Deferred outflows of resources

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Due within one year

Due after one year

Deferred inflows of resources

Net position:
Net Investment capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted

Restricted net position:
Expendable:
Restricted investment funds
Restricted donation funds
Enabling legislation funds
Community projects
Encumbrances
Permanent funds residual

Non-expendable:
Prepaids and inventory
Permanent funds principal

Governmental activities Business-type activities Totals

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
$11,737,021  $12,243,897 $ 960,481 $ 946,624 $12,697,502  $13,190,521
3,917,288 3,854,298 3,743,914 3,905,563 7,661,202 7,759,861
34,066,505 34,355,642 6,070,002 6,156,717 40,136,507 40,512,359
49,720,814 50,453,837 10,774,397 11,008,904 60,495,211 61,462,741
288,666 499,562 - - 288,666 499,562
2,509,806 2,899,640 27,090 38,030 2,536,896 2,937,670
501,816 574,242 97,542 92,724 599,358 666,966
4,870,926 5,551,676 4,136,150 4,333,692 9,007,076 9,885,368
7,882,548 9,025,558 4,260,782 4,464,446 12,143,330 13,490,004

104,227 - - - 104,227 -
32,816,689 32,552,663 1,836,310 1,730,301 34,652,999 34,282,964
4,755,597 4,693,526 - 4,755,697 4,693,526
4,450,419 4,681,652 4,677,305 4,814,157 9,127,724 9,495,809
$42,022,705  $41,927,841 $ 6,513,615 $ 6,544,458 $48,536,320  $48,472,299

$ 2,830,286 $ 2,873,995 $ - $ - $ 2,830,286 $ 2,873,995
300,191 291,584 - - 300,191 291,584
81,720 76,672 - - 81,720 76,672
1,077,256 1,021,653 - - 1,077,256 1,021,653
47,688 49,526 - - 47,688 49,526
37,106 42,372 - - 37,106 42,372
4,374,247 4,355,802 - - 4,374,247 4,355,802
62,078 18,452 - - 62,078 18,452
319,272 319,272 - - 319,272 319,272
381,350 337,724 - - 381,350 337,724

$ 4755597 $ 4,693,526 $ - $ - $ 4,755,597 $ 4,693,526




Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2018

The Town as a whole - Revenues, expenses, and changes in net position

The information provided below represents government-wide information for the governmental and business-type activities of the
Town for the current fiscal year as compared to the prior fiscal year. The revenues and expenses shown below are recorded on the
accrual basis of accounting. Program revenuesreceived by the Town specifically relating to or generated by individual departments
areapplied to the departmental expenditures to determine the amount of total Town expenditures actually financed by the general
revenues of the Town. This amount is shown at the bottom of this schedule and should be used to give the reader an indication
of how the Town’s activities were financed during the current fiscal year in comparison to the prior fiscal year.

Governmental activities Business-type activities Totals
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Program revenues
Charges for services $ 1,471,591 $ 1,526,053 $ 238796 $ 281,229 $ 1,710,387  $ 1,807,282
Operating grants 9,611,357 9,545,046 - - 9,611,357 9,545,046
Capital grants 130,487 71,696 - - 130,487 71,696
General revenues
Property tax revenues 18,638,510 18,359,424 - - 18,638,510 ° 18,359,424
State tax relief revenues 8,653 47,709 - - 8,653 47,709
Other state revenues 112,247 213,729 - - 112,247 213,729
Investment fair value change -49,118 89,009 - - -49,118 89,009
Interest and dividends 136,732 133,329 1,679 1,677 138,411 135,006
Miscellaneous 452,734 478,281 9,602 14,399 462,336 492,680
Transfers - 25,374 - -28,632 - -3,258
Total revenues 30,513,193 30,489,650 250,077 268,673 30,763,270 30,758,323
Expenses
General government 1,219,600 1,004,444 - - 1,219,600 1,004,444
Public safety 729,563 642,565 - - 729,563 642,565
Public works 1,540,941 1,524,723 - - 1,540,941 1,524,723
Education 21,397,265 21,250,590 - - 21,397,265 21,250,590
Education - on behalf 2,945,941 1,993,866 - - 2,945,941 1,993,866
Health & social 938,362 970,520 - - 938,362 970,520
Community preservation 242,782 203,241 - - 242,782 203,241
Unclassified and program 835,638 1,007,255 - - 835,638 1,007,255
Capital outlay - - - - - -
Depreciation
General infrastructure 512,648 507,370 - - 512,648 507,370
Debt service
Interest 55,589 75,511 110,660 115,895 166,249 191,406
Sewer - - 170,260 218,173 170,260 218,173
Total expenses 30,418,329 29,180,085 280,920 334,068 30,699,249 29,514,153
Change in net position 94,864 1,309,565 -30,843 -65,395 64,021 1,244,170
Net position - July 1 - restated 41,927,841 40,618,276 6,544,458 6,609,853 48,472,299 47,228,129
Net position - June 30 $42,022,705  $41,927,841 $ 6,513,615 $ 6,544,458 $48,536,320  $48,472,299
Financed by general revenues:
Total expenses $30,418,329  $29,180,085 $ 280,920 $ 334,068 $30,699,249  $29,514,153
Less charges for services -1,471,591 -1,526,053 -238,796 -281,229 -1,710,387 -1,807,282
Less operating grants -9,611,357 -9,545,046 - - -9,611,357 9,545,046
Less capital grants -130,487 -71,696 - -130,487 -71,696

$19,204,894  $18,037,290 $ 42,124 $ 52,839 $19,247,018  $18,090,129




Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2018

Capital assets

The capital assets of the Town include Jand, land improvements, buildings, building improvements, vehicles, equipment, and
infrastructure assets that are used in the operations of the Town and that have an initial useful life extending beyond a single fiscal
year. Infrastructure assets are long-lived capital assets that are normally stationary in nature and can normally be preserved for
a significantly greater number of years than most capital assets. The types of infrastructure assets recorded by the Town include
but are not limited to improved town roads, unimproved town roads, and bridges and the Amston Lake sewage system. The
infrastructure assets shown below include the current and prior fiscal year expenses of the Town for improvements to roads within
the Town recorded at their actual historical cost or estimated historical cost when the actual costs were not available. More detailed
information on the capital assets of the Town can be found in item J of note 1 on page 30 and note 5 on page 40.

Governmental activities Business-type activities Totals
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Land and improvements $ 2,228,189  $ 2,228,189 $ - $ - $ 2,228,189 $ 2,228,189
Buildings and improvements 37,386,189 37,093,685 - - 37,386,189 37,093,685
Vehicles 4,958,348 4,416,725 - - 4,958,348 4,416,725
Equipment 1,618,454 1,449,533 - - 1,618,454 1,449,533
Infrastructure 30,263,740 29,760,221 - - 30,263,740 29,760,221
Sewage system - - 6,503,574 6,503,574 6,503,574 6,503,574
Construction in progress 108,844 108,844 - - 108,844 108,844
Total historical value 76,563,764 75,057,197 6,503,574 6,503,574 83,067,338 81,560,771
Less accumulated depreciation  -42,497,259 -40,701,555 -433,572 -346,856 -42,930,831 -41,048,411
Total capital assets (net) $34,066,505  $34,355,642 $ 6,070,002 $ 6,156,718 $40,136,507  $40,512,360

Debt administration

The debt of the town includes long-term bonds, notes and capital leases payable, accrued landfill post-closure care costs and accrued
compensated absences (accumulated vacation and sick time) in accordance with the established personnel polices of the Town and
Board of Education and pension contributions payable, net pension liability and other post employment benefit Labilities in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. All long-term debt related outstanding payables are incurred through
the approval of the inhabitants of the Town m accordance with applicable state statutes. The applicable state debt limitations as
set forth in the Connecticut General Statutes, Section 7-374 (b) and the towns outstanding balances in comparison to these limitations
can be found in the schedule of debt limitations, Sub-schedule E on page 81. More detailed information on the Town debt can be
found in note 6 on pages 41 and 42.

Governmental activities Business-type activities Totals
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Qutstanding payables:

Portion due within one year $ 489,816 $ 553,163 $ 97542 $ 92,724 $ 587358 $ 645,887

Portion due after one year 760,000 1,249,816 4,136,150 4,333,692 4,896,150 5,583,508
Other liabilities:
Accrued compensated absences

School employees 44,981 34,597 - - 44,981 34,597

Town employees 48,040 47,045 - - 48,040 47,045
Accrued landfill post-closure 18,631 30,631 - - 18,631 30,631
Pension contribution payable - 9,079 - - - 9,079
Net pension liability 848,408 1,007,396 - - 848,408 1,007,396
Total OPEB liability 3,162,866 3,194,191 - - 3,162,866 3,194,191
Total debt $ 5,372,742  $ 6,125,918 $ 4,233,692 $ 4,426,416 $ 9,606,434  $10,552,334




Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2018

The previous sections of this management discussion and analysis have been presented for the current fiscal year with a focus on
the comparative analysis of the information on the governmental and business-type activities of the Town as found in the
government-wide financial statements. Comparative financial information has not been included for the fund financial statements
of the Town. The following financial highlights, however, do relate to the balances and results of the activities of the Town’s
individual funds as found in its fund financial statements. Detailed current year information on the Town’s individual funds can
be found on the Balance sheet on page 14 and the Statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances on page 16.

Financial highlights - Fund financial statements - Governmental funds

The total assets of the Town’s governmental funds exceeded the total liabilities by $12,554,297 which represents the fund
balance of these funds as of the end of the current fiscal year. This compares to the prior fiscal year when total assets exceeded
total liabilities by $12,768,621, an unfavorable decrease of ($214,314) or approximately 1.68%. This unfavorable decreaseis due
to the negative results of the general fund of ($215,773), the Trumbull investment funds of ($43,709), the town capital funds of
($58,883) and the positive results of the small cities program funds of $55,603 and the non-major governmental funds of $48,438.
These increases and decreases can be seen by reviewing Statement D on page 16 and the corresponding combining schedules
and sub-schedules as shown in the table of contents.

The total revenues of the Town's governmental funds were $30,430,904 for the current fiscal year in comparison to $30,684,831
in the prior fiscal year. This represents a decrease of ($253,927) or approximately .83%. This is due in large part to the current
year change in property tax revenues which was a decrease in the amount of ($130,513). This decrease was due to both a higher
annual commitment butalower then anticipated collection rate. In addition, the intergovernmental other revenue current year
change was a decrease of ($257,586) while the current year change in intergovernmental education revenue was a decrease of
($655,571) due to decreases in state funding while on-behalf state benefits revenue was an increase of $952,075.

The total expenditures of the Town’s governmental funds were $30,645,228 for the current fiscal year in comparison to
$29,359,066 in the prior fiscal year. This represents an increase of $1,286,162 or approximately 4 38%. This increase 1s made
up a number of increases and decrease within the funds of the Town. The town capital funds increased its expenditures by
$278,982 due in part to the purchase of three public works vehicles, an ambulance, a police car and a new chipper also for the
public works department. The small cities program funds decreased its expenditures by ($209,175) due in part to the
completion of one grant and the approval and beginning of a new grant. There were a number of other expenditure account
increases and decreases from the prior fiscal year to the current fiscal year which affected the overall increase.

The net change in fund balance (excess or deficiency of revenues over-under expenditures) for the Town's general fund was
a negative ($215,773) for the current fiscal year in comparison to a positive $1,037,264 for the prior fiscal year. This represents
an unfavorable decrease relating in part to the following selected current and prior fiscal year budgetary highlights.

The actual revenues received in the Town’s general fund were ($44,031) lower than the budgeted revenues for the current fiscal
year which is an unfavorable variance in comparison to $857,874 higher for the prior fiscal year which was a favorable variance.
The current fiscal year actual school tuition revenue received was ($132,287) lower than the budgeted amount in comparison
t0 $183,559 higher for the prior fiscal year. The current fiscal year actual revenue amounts received from the State for education
cost sharing and related revenues were ($45,944) lower than the budgeted amount in comparison to $9,351 higher for the prior
fiscal year. The current fiscal year recorded tax revenues were ($58,897) lower than the budgeted amount in comparison to
$342,423 higher for the prior fiscal year.

The actual program expenditures in the Town's general fund were $348,687 lower than the adjusted budgeted expenditures
for the current fiscal year which is a favorable variance in comparison to $857,842 lower than the adjusted budgeted
expenditures for the prior fiscal year which was also a favorable variance. This current fiscal year under expenditure can be
attributed in large part to the Board of Education which was $79,405 under the original budget, the contingency account which
was $90,887 under the adjusted budget, the insurance account which was $23,390 under the original budget and the tax
collector account which was $19,298 under the original budget amount.

In the current fiscal year, the inhabitants of the Town approved the use of $519,000 of its unassigned general fund balance
relating to the purchase of two highway plow trucks in the amount of $190,000 each and the purchase of a highway pickup
truck in the amount of $72,000 and a chipper in the amount of $67,000 at a special town meeting. This in effect is the same as
budgeting for aloss due to the fact that prior year accumulated balances cannot be shown as current year revenues. In the prior
fiscal year, the inhabitants of the Town voted to use $317,749 of its unassigned general fund balance for similar capital non-
recurring fund expenditures as well as $190,539 for the school capital fund in accordance with State legislature section 10-248a.



Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2018

Business-type activities - Amston Lake Water Pollution Control Authority

The business-type activities of the Town consist of two enterprise type proprietary funds which are being used to account for both
the operating activities and the benefit assessment activities of the Amston Lake Water Pollution Control Authority (the Authority).
The Authority was established for the purpose of operating a sewage system located around Amston Lake within the Town. The
construction of the sewage system was accounted for as a major capital project fund of the Town. Once the construction project was
completed, the resulting capital assets and long-term debt obligations were transferred to the WPCA assessment enterprise fund
of the Authority. The operations of the Authority are being accounted for within the WPCA operating enterprise fund with the costs
being funded through the billing of user fees to those properties connected to the sewage system. Benefit assessments were assessed
to all properties located along the sewage system along with a borrowed interest assessment. The revenues from these assessments
will be used to fund the long-term debt principal and interest payments relating to the construction project.

Discretely presented “component unit”

The financial reporting entity consists of the primary government and its component units, organizations for which the primary
government is financially accountable or for which the nature and significance of their relationshup with the primary government
are such that exclusion would cause the reporting entity’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. All funds,
organizations, institutions, agencies, departments, and offices that are notlegally separate are, for financial reporting purposes, part
of the primary government. Component units are legally separate organizations for which the elected officials of the primary
government are financially accountable The primary government is financially accountable if it appoints a voting majority of the
organization’s governing board and (1) it1s able to impose its will on that organization or (2) there is a potential for the organization
to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the primary government. The primary government
may be financially accountable if an organization is fiscally dependent on the primary government regardless of whether the
organization has (1) a separately elected governing board, (2) a governing board appointed by a higher level of government, or (3)
a jointly appointed board.

The Town has determined that the Lebanon Volunteer Fire Department meets the definition of a component unit due to its fiscal
dependence on the Town and the nature and significance of their relationship. For a legally separate entity to be considered fiscally
independent it must, among other things, have the authority to determine its budget without the primary government having the
authority to approve and modify thatbudget. The Town approves a certain amount of money on an annual basis to be appropriated
to the Department to fund a portion of 1ts operations During the current fiscal year this amount was appropriated for the fire
fighting operations of the Department. Although this amount was labeled as being appropriated for the fire fighting operations
of the Department, once the amount has been received it may be physically used for any purpose the Department deems necessary
for its operations as a whole. Though the Town does not directly have the authority to approve or modify the budget of the
Department, it does indirectly do this by deciding the amount that it will or will not appropriate on an annual basis. In addition,
the fire safety complex, fire trucks and ambulances used by the Department are purchased by the Town. This also creates a level
of fiscal dependence due to the fact that the Department could not function in its current capacity without this assistance. In
addition to the level of fiscal dependence between the Town and the Department, the nature and significance of the relationship
with the primary government is such that exclusion would cause the reporting entity’s financial statements to be misleading or
incomplete. This component unit has been treated as a discretely presented component unit in accordance with the provisions of
GASB Statement No. 14 as amended by Statement Nos. 39 and 61. The financial information of the Department has been included
in the government-wide statement of net position and statement of activities.

Economic factors and next year’s budgets and rates

The Town believes it has steadily maintained a sufficient unrestricted net position and unassigned fund balance to sustain the
governmental activities and operations for an estimated two month period of time. The Town sees this trend continuing through
future fiscal years. There are no currently known facts, decisions or conditions that the Town believes will significantly effect the
financial position or results of the operations of the Town in the future.

Contacting the Town's financial management

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Town’s finances, comply with finance-related laws and

regulations, and demonstrate the Town’s commitment to public accountability. If you have questions about this report or need
additional financial information, contact the Town Finance Department at 579 Exeter Road, Lebanon, Connecticut 06249.
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Assets:
Current assets:
Cash
Investments
Accounts receivable
Tax acquired property
Inventory
Prepaid items
Total current assets

Capital assets
Non-depreciable
Depreciable (net)

Total capital assets

Other assets
Restricted cash
Restricted investments
Long-term accounts receivable
Notes receivable
Internal balances
Total other assets

Total Assets

Deferred outflows of resources
Changes related to Pensions

Liabilities:

Accounts payable

Accrued hourly payroll

Other liabilities

Due to other funds

Unearned revenues

Bond anticipation note payable

Noncurrent liabilities:
Portion due within one year
Portion due after one year
Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources
Changes related to OPEB

Net Position:
Net Investment in capital assets
Restricted
Expendable
Non-expendable
Unrestricted
Total net position

Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Statement of net position
June 30, 2018

Primary government

Statement A

Component unit

Governmental Business-type Volunteer
activities activities Total fire department
$ 2,622,000 $ 100 2,622,100 $ 221,801
8,315,469 675,096 8,990,565 618,302
724,113 285,285 1,009,398 1,743
13,361 - 13,361 -
11,946 - 11,946 -
50,132 - 50,132 3,670
11,737,021 960,481 12,697,502 845,516
2,337,033 - 2,337,033 -
31,729,472 6,070,002 37,799,474 165,602
34,066,505 6,070,002 40,136,507 165,602
549,300 - 549,300 -
3,176,210 - 3,176,210 -
114,355 - 114,355 -
1,028,234 2,793,103 3,821,337 -
-950,811 950,811 - -
3,917,288 3,743,914 7,661,202 -
49,720,814 10,774,397 60,495,211 1,011,118
288,666 - 288,666 -
607,579 2,785 610,364 113,788
63,555 85 63,640 -
155,436 - 155,436 -
810 - 810 -
82,426 24,220 106,646 -
1,600,000 - 1,600,000 -
501,816 97,542 599,358 8,400
4,870,926 4,136,150 9,007,076 8,400
7,882,548 4,260,782 12,143,330 130,588
104,227 - 104,227 -
32,816,689 1,836,310 34,652,999 148,802
4,374,247 - 4,374,247 -
381,350 - 381,350 3,670
4,450,419 4,677,305 9,127,724 728,058
$ 42,022,705 $ 6,513,615 48,536,320 $ 880,530

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Primary government:

Governmental activities:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Education
Education - on behalf
Health & social
Community preservation
Unclassified and program
Capital outlay
Depreciation

General infrastructure
Debt service
Interest
Total governmental activities

Business-type activities:

WPCA operating fund

WPCA benefit assessments fund
Total business-type activities

Total primary government

Component unit:
Volunteer fire department

Statement B
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Statement of activities
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Program Revenues

Operating Capital
Charges for grants and grants and

Expenses services contributions contributions
$ -1,219,600  $ 130,252 $ 3197 $ -
-729,563 204,511 1,875 -
-1,540,941 111,745 294,211 -
-21,397,265 947,118 6,174,683 -
-2,945,941 - 2,945,941 -
-938,362 58,928 34,375 -
-242,782 19,037 26,500 -
-835,638 - 130,575 -

- - - 130,487
-512,648 - - -
-55,589 - - -

-30,418,329 1,471,591 9,611,357 130,487
-83,546 150,674 - -
-197,374 88,122 - -
-280,920 238,796 - -

$ -30699249 3 1,710,387 $ 9,611,357 $ 130,487
$ -391,932 3 179,760 $ 180,099 $ -

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Primary government:

Governmental activities:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Education
Education - on behalf
Health & social
Community preservation
Unclassified and program
Capital outlay
Depreciation

General infrastructure
Debt service
Interest
Total governmental activities

Business-type activities:

WPCA operating fund

WPCA benefit assessments fund
Total business-type activities

Total primary government

Component unit:
Volunteer fire department

General revenues:
Property tax revenues
State property tax relief revenues
Other unclassified state revenues
Net change in fair value of investments
Interest and dividends
Miscellaneous
Transfers
Total general revenues

Change in net position
Net position - July 1
Prior period adjustment - Note 17

Net position - July 1 - restated

Net position - June 30

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Statement of activities
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Statement B (continued)

Net (expenses) revenues and changes in net position

Primary government Component unit
Governmental Business-type Volunteer
activities activities Total fire department
$ -1,086,151  $ - -1,086,151 $ -
-523,177 - -523,177 -
-1,134,985 - 1,134,985 -
-14,275,464 - -14,275,464 -
-845,059 - -845,059 -
-197,245 - -197,245 -
-705,063 - -705,063 -
130,487 - 130,487 -
-512,648 - -512,648 -
-55,589 - -55,589 -
-19,204,894 - -19,204,894 -
- 67,128 67,128 -
- -109,252 -109,252 -
- -42,124 -42,124 -
-19,204,894 -42,124 19,247,018 -
- - - -32,073
18,638,510 - 18,638,510 -
8,653 - 8,653 -
112,247 - 112,247 -
-49,118 - -49,118 10,324
136,732 1,679 138,411 17,147
452,734 9,602 462,336 35,336
19,299,758 11,281 19,311,039 62,807
94,864 -30,843 64,021 30,734
43,146,529 6,544,458 49,690,987 849,796
-1,218,688 - -1,218,688 -
41,927,841 6,544,458 48,472,299 849,796
5 42,022,705 % 6,513,615 48,536,320 $ 880,530
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Assets
Cash
Investments
Receivables (net of allowance)
Property taxes
Intergovernmental
Other
Notes receivable
Tax acquired property
Inventory
Prepaid items
Due from proprietary funds
Due from private purpose trusts
Due from other funds
Total assets

Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued hourly payroll
Other habilities
Unearned revenues
Bond anticipation note
Due to proprietary funds
Due to private purpose trusts
Due to other funds

Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources
Unavailable revenue -
Property taxes

Fund balances
Nonspendable
Restricted
Commutted
Assigned
Unassigned

Total fund balances

Total liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources and fund balances

Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Balance sheet - Governmental funds

Statement C

June 30, 2018
Trumbull Town Small cities ~ Non-major
General investment capital program  governmental

fund funds funds funds funds Totals
$ 2,671,580 $ - % - % 75462 $ 337911 $ 3,084,953
6,674,523 2,830,286 1,626,626 - 360,244 11,491,679
604,147 - - - - 604,147
- - - - 52,678 52,678
58,269 - 9,019 - - 67,288
- - - 1,028,234 - 1,028,234
13,361 - - - - 13,361
- - - - 11,946 11,946
47,282 - 1,350 - 1,500 50,132
25,841 - - - - 25,841
415 - - - - 415
331,297 - 1,599,525 - 1,012,675 2,943,497
$ 10,426,715 $ 2,830,286 $ 3,236,520 $ 1,103,696 $ 1,776,954  $ 19,374,171
$ 346402 $ - $ 155852 $ 24,040 $ 78303 % 604,597
53,947 - - - 9,608 63,555
154,536 - - - 900 155,436
- - 1,600,000 - - 1,600,000
950,811 - - - - 950,811
1,225 - - - - 1,225
2,611,080 - 216,778 2,400 113,239 2,943,497
4,118,001 - 1,972,630 26,440 202,050 6,319,121
500,753 - - - - 500,753
47,282 - 1,350 - 332,718 381,350
- 2,830,286 - 1,077,256 501,443 4,408,985
- - 1,459,051 - 524,563 1,983,614
47,688 - - - 217,157 264,845
5,712,991 - -196,511 - -977 5,515,503
5,807,961 2,830,286 1,263,890 1,077,256 1,574,904 12,554,297
$ 10,426,715 $ 2,830,286 $ 3,236,520 $ 1,103,696 $ 1,776,954  $ 19,374,171

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Reconciliation of Statement C to Statement A
for all governmental funds and activities
June 30, 2018

Fund balances of governmental funds as shown on Statement C

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements
(Statement A) differ from the amounts reported in the fund financial statements (Statement C):

1 Capital assets used 1 governmental activities are not financial resources and are not
reported on Statement C however they are reported on Statement A and must be added in:
Cost
Less accumulated depreciation

2 Themajority of the property tax receivable long-term assetis notavailable to pay for current
period expenditures and therefore it is reported as deferred inflows of resources on
Statement C however this amount is considered earned when billed and 1n turn recorded
as revenue on Statement A and therefore must be added back in:

3 Certain grantrevenuesreceived by the Town arerecorded as revenue when the amounts are
available and measurable in the fund financial statements on the modified accrual basis of
accounting. However, the government-wide financial statements record revenues when
they have been earned on the accrual basis of accounting and therefore these revenue
amounts are deferred on Statement A and therefore must be subtracted out:

4 Deferred outflows and inflows of resources represent a consumption or acquisition of net
position that applies to a future period, and therefore will not be recognized as an
expenditure or revenue until then, and therefore, they are not reported in the fund financial
statements:

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions
Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB

5 Long-term liabilities, are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not
reported on Statement C however they are reported on Statement A and therefore they must
be subtracted out:

Bonds, notes and capital leases payable
Accrued compensated balances
Accrued landfill post-closure costs

Net pension liability

Total OPEB liability

6 Delinquent interest and lien fees are recorded as revenue when received and when they
become available and measurable in the fund financial statements however these amounts
are recorded on Statement A due to the fact that the amounts are viewed to have been
earned and therefore they must be added back in:

7 The assets, liabilities and net position of the internal service fund are not reported on
Statement C however they are reported on Statement A and therefore the net position
balance of this fund must be added back in*

Net position of governmental activities as shown on Statement A

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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76,600,533

-42,534,028

288,666

-104,227

-1,249,816
-93,021
-18,631

-848,408

-3,162,866

$ 12,554,297

34,066,505

500,753

-82,426

184,439

-5,372,742

114,355

N

57,524

$ 42,022,705



Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances - Governmental funds

Revenues
Property tax revenues
Intergovernmental - education
Intergovernmental - on behalf
Intergovernmental - tax relief
Intergovernmental - other
Tuition
Charges for services
Net change in investment fair value
Interest and dividends
Miscellaneous

Total revenues

Expenditures
Current:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Education
Education - on behalf
Health & social
Community preservation
Unclassified and program
Capital outlay
Debt service:
Principle
Interest
Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in

Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balance

Fund balances - July 1

Fund balances - June 30

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Statement D

Trumbull Town Small cities ~ Non-major
General investment capital program  governmental

fund funds funds funds funds Totals
$ 18,433,694 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 18,433,694
5,093,940 - - - 1,075,225 6,169,165
2,945,941 - - - - 2,945,941
8,653 - - - - 8,653
394,509 - 130,487 130,575 99,109 754,680
742,506 - - - - 742,506
454,412 - - - 274,673 729,085
- -43,554 - - -5,564 -49,118
29,373 90,651 4,031 - 12,677 136,732
253,985 - 71,635 120,333 113,613 559,566
28,357,013 47,097 206,153 250,908 1,569,733 30,430,904
931,658 - 187,428 - 69,340 1,188,426
537,426 - - - 10,452 547,878
1,359,612 - 1,789 - 13,824 1,375,225
18,976,370 - 132,964 - 1,333,994 20,443,328
2,945,941 - - - - 2,945,941
204,268 - 422 - 649,174 853,864
153,782 - 51,200 - 37,800 242,782
639,500 - - 195,305 - 834,805
- - 1,595,183 - 24,213 1,619,396
402,112 - 135,882 - - 537,994
50,897 - 4,692 - - 55,589
26,201,566 - 2,109,560 195,305 2,138,797 30,645,228
2,155,447 47,097  -1,903,407 55,603 -569,064 -214,324
409 - 1,844,524 - 618,486 2,463,419
-2,371,629 -90,806 - - -984 -2,463,419

-2,371,220 -90,806 1,844,524 - 617,502 -
-215,773 -43,709 -58,883 55,603 48,438 -214,324
6,023,734 2,873,995 1,322,773 1,021,653 1,526,466 12,768,621
$ 5807961 $ 2830286 $ 1,263,890 $ 1,077,256 $ 1,574904 $ 12,554,297

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Reconciliation of Statement D to Statement B
for all governmental funds and activities
June 30, 2018

Net changes in governmental fund balances as shown on Statement D

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements
(Statement B) differ from the amounts reported in the fund financial statements (Statement D):

1 Capital asset purchases are recorded as expenditures in Statement D and are capitalized and
shown as depreciation expense over there estimated useful lives in Statement B:
Current year capital asset purchases
Current year depreciation expense on capital assets
Current year net revenue received relating to a capital asset disposal

2 Property tax revenues are recognized on Statement D as described in note 1E to the financial
statements however they are recorded in the amount of the annual levy in Statement B and
therefore the current year adjustment described in note 1E must be eliminated:

3 The basis of presentation and revenue recognition is different from the government-wide
financial statements and the fund financial statements:
Prior year unearned revenue amounts to be recognized
Current year revenue amounts to be recorded as unearned

4 Deferred outflows and inflows of resources represent a consumption or acquisition of net
position that applies to future periods, therefore it will not be recognized as an expenditure
or revenue until then, and therefore, they are not reported in the fund financial statements
but they are recorded in the government-wide financial statements:

Amortization of and changes in deferred outflows for pensions
Amortization of and changes in deferred inflows for OPEB

5 Current year employer pension contributions represent a use of current financial resources
and are recorded as expenditures in the fund financial statements. These contributions are
reported as deferred outflows of resources in the government-wide financial statements and
therefore they must be added back in for current year contributions and subtracted out for
prior year contributions.

Prior year employer pension contributions
Current year employer pension contributions

6 Payments on and changes in long-term liabilities are recorded as current year activities on
Statement D however they are shown as increases or decreases in liability accounts in the
government-wide financial statements and therefore must be adjusted accordingly:

Bond, note and capital lease payable principal repayments
Accrued compensated balances increase

Accrued landfill post-closure costs decrease

Net pension liability decrease

Pension contribution payable decrease

Total OPEB liability decrease

7 Estimated accounts receivable for delinquent interest and lien fees are recorded as revenue
when received on Statement D and as a reduction in a recorded receivable on Statement B:
Prior year recorded delinquent interest and lien receivable balance

Current year recorded delinquent interest and lien receivable balance

8 Net income from the internal service fund is not reported in Statement D however it is
reported in Statement B and therefore must be added back in:

Change in net position of governmental activities as shown on Statement B

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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1,644,455
-1,832,473

-85,950

45,849

-82,426

-223,325

-104,227

-151,426

163,855

537,994
-11,379
12,000
158,988
9,079

31,325

-82,415

114,355

-214,324

-273,968

172,876

-36,577

-327,552

12,429

738,007

31,940

-7,967

94,864



Revenues
Property tax revenues
Intergovernmental - education
Intergovernmental - tax relief
Intergovernmental - other
Tuition
Charges for services
Interest and dividends
Miscellaneous

Total revenues

Expenditures
General government:
Legal counsel
Selectmen
Elections
Probate court
Board of finance
Finance office
Tax collector
Board of appeals
Town clerk
Assessor
Auditor
Town report
Computer service
Town hall
Insurance

Public safety:
Police services
Lebanon volunteer fire department
Fire marshall
Burning official
Building department
Fire safety complex
Tree warden

Public works:
Department of public works
Buildings and grounds
Snow removal
Street lights
Solid waste facility
Cemetery commission
Water pollution control

Education

Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance

Budget and actual - Budgetary basis - General fund
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Statement E

Original Budget Final
budget revisions budget Actual Variance
$ 18,492,591 $ - $ 18492591 $ 18433694 $ -58,897
5,139,884 - 5,139,884 5,093,940 -45,944
3,431 - 3,431 8,653 5,222
399,260 - 399,260 394,509 -4,751
874,793 - 874,793 742,506 -132,287
441,344 - 441,344 454,412 13,068
18,000 - 18,000 29,373 11,373
85,800 - 85,800 253,985 168,185
25,455,103 - 25,455,103 25,411,072 -44,031
40,000 2,098 42,098 38,740 3,358
148,890 - 148,890 143,183 5,707
36,698 - 36,698 25,377 11,321
2,422 - 2,422 2422 -
3,350 - 3,350 1,681 1,669
150,549 - 150,549 145,697 4,852
81,295 - 81,295 61,997 19,298
1,000 186 1,186 1,186 -
99,093 - 99,093 89,609 9,484
76,296 - 76,296 74,170 2,126
23,000 - 23,000 19,500 3,500
1,000 - 1,000 928 72
118,457 - 118,457 116,554 1,903
80,589 - 80,589 74,593 5,996
159,411 - 159,411 136,021 23,390
1,022,050 2,284 1,024,334 931,658 92,676
270,773 - 270,773 258,555 12,218
175,000 - 175,000 175,000 -
19,433 - 19,433 16,725 2,708
3,500 - 3,500 2,555 945
61,221 - 61,221 56,466 4,755
26,787 1,258 28,045 28,045 -
185 - 185 80 105
556,899 1,258 558,157 537,426 20,731
780,000 - 780,000 776,487 3,513
135,505 - 135,505 133,012 2,493
219,934 35,571 255,505 257,904 -2,399
2,422 - 2,422 2,394 28
191,782 - 191,782 174,389 17,393
13,755 - 13,755 13,556 199
5,194 - 5,194 1,870 3,324
1,348,592 35,571 1,384,163 1,359,612 24,551
19,053,937 - 19,053,937 18,974,532 79,405

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Health & social’
Health department
Vna
Human services
Wemh Paramedic program
United services
Switch board
Special events
Senior center operations

Community preservation:
Planning and zoning
Zoning board of appeals
Economic development commission
Inland wetlands
Conservation commission

Unclassified and program-
Social security
Medical life dental insurance
Pension plan
Unemployment compensation
Contingency

Debt service:
Principal
Interest

Total expenditures

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)

Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance

Budget and actual (Budgetary basis) - General fund

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Statement E (continued)

Utilization of unassigned fund balance

Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balance

Current year encumbrances
Prior year encumbrances

Non-budgeted State on-behalf revenue
Non-budgeted State on-behalf expenditure

Fund balances - July 1

Fund Balance - June 30

Original Budget Final
budget revisions budget Actual Variance
$ 47474 $ - $ 47474 % 47,474 -
1,000 - 1,000 - 1,000
21,254 - 21,254 20,949 305
35,123 - 35,123 31,693 3,430
5,252 - 5,252 5,252 -
19,879 - 19,879 19,729 150
1,000 - 1,000 777 223
82,888 - 82,888 78,394 4494
213,870 - 213,870 204,268 9,602
150,195 - 150,195 149,087 1,108
5,060 - 5,060 1,069 3,99
2,000 - 2,000 1,490 510
2,000 - 2,000 1,984 16
250 - 250 152 98
159,505 - 159,505 153,782 5,723
122,939 - 122,939 107,499 15,440
366,101 - 366,101 363,689 2,412
170,061 - 170,061 163,427 6,634
5,500 - 5,500 4,885 615
130,000 -39,113 90,887 - 90,887
794,601 -39,113 755,488 639,500 115,988
402,112 - 402,112 402,112 -
50,908 - 50,908 50,897 11
453,020 - 453,020 453,009 11
23,602,474 - 23,602,474 23,253,787 348,687
1,852,629 - 1,852,629 2,157,285 304,656
- 519,000 519,000 - -519,000
- - - 409 409
1,852,629 -519,000 2,371,629 -2,371,629 -
-1,852,629 - 1,852,629 -2,371,220 -518,591
- - - -213,935 -213,935
47,688
-49,526
2,945,941
2,945,941
6,023,734
$ 5,807,961

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Assets:

Current assets:

Cash

Investments

Accounts receivables

Current portion of benefit assessment notes

Delinquent benefit assessment notes

Delinquent borrowed interest receivable
Total assets

Capital assets

Non-depreciable

Depreciable (net)
Total capital assets

Other assets

Non-current portion of benefit assessment notes

Internal balances
Total other assets

Total Assets

Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued hourly payroll
Unearned revenues
Due to other funds
Long-term debt
Portion due within one year
Portion due after one year
Total liabilities

Net Position:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Expendable
Non-expendable
Unrestricted
Total net position

Total liabilities and net position

Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Statement of net position

Statement F

Proprietary funds
June 30, 2018
Governmental
Business-type activities activities
Internal
Enterprise funds service fund
WPCA WPCA
operating assessment
fund fund Total Dental fund
$ 100 $ - 3 100 $ 86,347
- 675,096 675,096 -
21,396 1,839 23,235 -
- 180,710 180,710 -
- 52,983 52,983 -
- 28,357 28,357 -
21,496 938,985 960,481 86,347
- 6,070,002 6,070,002 -
- 6,070,002 6,070,002 -
- 2,793,103 2,793,103 -
421,432 529,379 950,811 -
421,432 3,322,482 3,743,914 -
$ 442928 $ 10,331,469 $ 10,774,397 $ 86,347
$ 2,785 $ - $ 2,785 $ 2,982
85 - 85 -
24,220 - 24,220 -
- - - 25,841
- 97,542 97,542 -
- 4,136,150 4,136,150 -
27,090 4,233,692 4,260,782 28,823
- 1,836,310 1,836,310 -
- - - 57,524
415,838 4,261,467 4,677,305 -
415,838 6,097,777 6,513,615 57,524
$ 442,928 $ 10,331,469 $ 10,774,397 $ 86,347

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Statement G
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position
Proprietary funds
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Governmental
Business-type activities activities
Internal
Enterprise funds service fund
WPCA WPCA
operating assessment
fund fund Total Dental fund
Operating revenues:
Benefits assessment $ - $ 15392 $ 15,392 $ -
Borrowed interest assessment - 72,730 72,730 -
Charges for services 150,674 - 150,674 172,178
Other fees 3,656 5,772 9,428 -
Other operating revenues 174 - 174 -
Total operating revenues 154,504 93,894 248,398 172,178
Operating expenses:
Personal services 25,379 - 25,379 -
Contractual services - - - 180,145
Operation and maintenance 56,982 - 56,982 -
Depreciation - 86,714 86,714 -
Administrative costs 1,185 - 1,185 -
Total operating expenses 83,546 86,714 170,260 180,145
Total operating income (loss) 70,958 7,180 78,138 -7,967
Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Investment earnings - 1,679 1,679 -
Fiscal charges - - - -
Interest expense - -110,660 -110,660 -
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) - -108,981 -108,981 -
Total Income (loss) 70,958 -101,801 -30,843 -7,967
Contributions and transfers:
Capital contributions - - - -
Transfers in - - - -
Transfers out - - - -
Total contributions and transfers - - - -
Change in net position 70,958 -101,801 -30,843 -7,967
Net position - July 1 344,880 6,199,578 6,544,458 65,491
Net position - June 30 $ 415,838 $ 6,097,777 % 6,513,615 $ 57,524

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Statement of cash flows
Proprietary funds

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Cash flows from operating activities:

Receipts from employees and town

Receipts from customers and users

Payments for goods and services

Payments to employees

Other items

Utlization of general fund cash account
Net cash from operating activities

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:

Transfers to or from other funds
Interest paid
Net cash from noncapital financial activities

Cash flows from capital and related

financing activities:

Principal payments of long-term debt

Interest payments of long-term debt
Net cash from capital and related
financing activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Investment additions
Interest and other receipts

Net cash from investing activities

Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents - July 1

Cash and cash equivalents - June 30

Reconciliation of operating income (loss)
to net cash from operating activities:
Operating income (loss)
Adjustments:
Depreciation
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
(Increase) decrease 1n internal balances
{Increase) decrease in accounts receivable
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities
Increase (decrease) in unearned revenue

Net cash from operating activities

Statement H

Governmental
Business-type activities activities
Internal
Enterprise funds service fund
WPCA WPCA
operating assessment
fund fund Total Dental fund
$ - - - $ 159,532
146,751 300,459 447,210 -
-66,485 - -66,485 -178,377
-25,294 - -25,294 -
175 - 175 -
-55,147 2,925 -52,222 -
- 303,384 303,384 -18,845
- -192,724 -192,724 -
- -110,660 -110,660 -
- -303,384 -303,384 -
- 1,679 1,679 -
- 1,679 1,679 -
- 1,679 1,679 -18,845
100 673,417 673,517 105,192
$ 100 675,096 675,196 $ 86,347
$ 70,958 7,180 78,138 $ -7,967
- 86,714 86,714 -
-55,147 2,925 -52,222 -12,646
-4,871 206,565 201,694 -
-6,919 - -6,919 1,768
-964 - -964 -
-3,057 - -3,057 -
$ - 303,384 303,384 $ -18,845

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Statement of fiduciary net position and Statement of changes

in fiduciary net position - Fiduciary funds
As of and for the year ended June 30, 2018

Statement I

Private
purpose Agency
trusts funds Total

Assets:
Cash $ - $ 129,073 % 129,073
Investments 72,186 25,656 97,842
Receivables - - -
Due from other funds 1,225 - 1,225

Total assets $ 73411 % 154,729 % 228,140
Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ - $ - $ -
Unearned revenues - - -
Due to student groups - 125,320 125,320
Due to other groups - 29,409 29,409
Due to other funds 415 - 415

Total liabilities 415 154,729 155,144
Net position:
Restricted

Expendable 72,996 - 72,996

Non-expendable - - -
Unrestricted - - -

Total net position 72,996 - 72,996
Total liabilities and net position $ 73,411 $ 154,729 % 228,140
Additions
Property tax revenues $ - $ - $ -
Intergovermnental revenues - - -
Interest and dividends 638 - 638
Net change in investment fair value -286 - -286
Miscellaneous - - -

Total additions 352 - 352
Deductions
Salary and wages - - -
Program operating costs 2,200 - 2,200
Capital expenditures - - -

Total deductions 2,200 - 2,200
Transfers
Transfers in - - -
Transfers out - - -

Total transfers - - -
Change in net position -1,848 - -1,848
Net position - July 1 74,844 - 74,844
Net position - June 30 $ 729%  $ - $ 72,996

See the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Notes to the basic financial statements
June 30, 2018

The Town of Lebanon, Connecticut (the Town) is located in the central section of Connecticut. The Town is a municipal corporation
which is governed by an elected Board of Selectmen and Board of Finance.

Note 1 - Summary of significant accounting policies

The financial statements of the Town have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (GAAP). The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard setting body for
governmental accounting and financial reporting. Standards of accounting and financial reporting issued by the Financial
Accounting Standards Board, Accounting Principles Board Opinions, and the Accounting Research Bulletins of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants Committee on Accounting Procedure on or before November 30, 1989, generally are
followed in the government-wide financial statements, when applicable, to the extent that those standards do not conflict with or
contradict pronouncements of the GASB. The basic financial statements of the Town consist of government-wide financial
statements and fund financial statements. The basis of presentation, measurement focus, and basis of accounting differ for these
two types of financial statements and are described separately i Section B and C below. The other following sections represent a
summary of the significant accounting policies as applied by the Town

A. Reporting entity

The financial reporting entity consists of the primary government and its component units, organizations for which the primary
government is financially accountable or for which the nature and significance of their relationship with the primary government
are such that exclusion would cause the reporting entity’s financial statements to be musleading or incomplete. All funds,
organizations, institutions, agencies, departments, and offices thatare notlegally separate are, for financial reporting purposes, part
of the primary government. Component uruts are legally separate organizations for which the elected officials of the primary
government are financially accountable. The primary government is financially accountable if it appoints a voting majority of the
organization’s governing board and (1) itis able to impose its will on that organization or (2) there is a potential for the organization
to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the primary government. The primary government
may be financially accountable if an organization is fiscally dependent on the primary government regardless of whether the
organization has (1) a separately elected governing board, (2) a governing board appointed by a higher level of government, or (3)
a jointly appointed board.

The Town has determined that the Lebanon Volunteer Fire Department meets the definition of a component unit due to its fiscal
dependence on the Town and the nature and significance of their relationship. For alegally separate entity to be considered fiscally
independent it must, among other things, have the authority to determine 1ts budget without the primary government having the
authority to approve and modify that budget. The Town approves a certain amount of money on an annual basis to be appropriated
to the Department to fund a portion of 1ts operations. During the current fiscal year this amount was appropriated for the fire
fighting operations of the Department. Although this amount was labeled as being appropriated for the fire fighting operations
of the Department, once the amount has been received it may be physically used for any purpose the Department deems necessary
for its operations as a whole. Though the Town does not directly have the authority to approve or modify the budget of the
Department, 1t does indirectly do this by deciding the amount that it will or will not appropriate on an annual basis. In addition,
the fire safety complex, fire trucks and ambulances used by the Department are purchased by the Town. This also creates a level
of fiscal dependence due to the fact that the Department could not function in its current capacity without this assistance. Inaddition
to the level of fiscal dependence between the Town and the Department, the nature and significance of the relationship with the
primary government is such that exclusion would cause the reporting entity’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete.
This component unit has been treated as a discretely presented component unit in accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement
No. 14 as amended by Statement Nos. 39 and 61. The financial information of the Department has been included in the government-
wide statement of net position and statement of activities.

The Department also provides ambulance services for which it receives ambulance billing revenue. This revenue is classified as
“charges for services” revenue in the financial statements. This revenue is used by the Department to fund its ambulance services.
A portion of this ambulance billing revenue is associated with ALS services for which the Town presently has an agreement with
and pays Windham Hospital Paramedics. The Department is of the belief that the portion of their ambulance billing revenue that
relates to these ALS services should be returned to the Town. The Department returned $9,019 to the Town during the current fiscal
year. This amount is shown as a miscellaneous revenue item within the capital and non-recurring major fund of the Town and as
an expenditure within discretely presented component unit. The Department also receives memorial and trust funds as designated
by the individual donor. These funds are shown as part of the general operating fund of the Department as part of the discretely
presented component unit. The Hinckley and Bender memorial funds have been internally designated by the Department to be used
for items associated with the fire safety complex The memorial fund trust is to be used for memorial type activities.

24



Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Notes to the basic financial statements
June 30, 2018

B. Government-wide financial statements
1. Basis of presentation

The government-wide financial statements consist of a statement of net position and a statement of activities. Theses statements
report information about the Town as a whole without displaying individual funds or fund types. These statements distinguish
between the primary government and the discretely presented component unit as well as the governmental and business-type
activities of the Town. These statements do not include information about the fiduciary activities and funds of the Town or
component units which are fiduciary in nature. Fiduciary activities and funds report assets which are held by the Town in a trustee
or agency capacity and which cannot be used to support the activities and programs of the Town.

The statement of net position presents the financial position of the governmental and business-type activities of the primary
government of the Town and the discretely presented component unit at the end of the fiscal year. This statement reports the assets,
liabilities, and net position of the Town. The assets and liabilities are presented in the order of their relative liquidity. The liquidity
of assets is determined by how readily they are expected to be converted into cash and whether there are restrictions in place
limiting their use by the Town. The liquidity of liabilities is determined by their maturity or by when cash will be used to liquidate
them. The net position balance of the Town consists of the net investment in capital assets (total capital assets net of accumulated
depreciation and reduced by the total outstanding debt incurred to purchase the assets), restricted and unrestricted amounts.
Restricted net position is present when constraints are imposed externally by creditors, grantors, contributors, other governments,
or by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Unrestricted net position consists of all net position balances
not meeting the definition of net investment in capital assets or restricted. Internal balances between individual funds within the
governmental activities are eliminated in this statement to minimize the “grossing-up” of assets and liabilities. These internal
balances are also known as inter-fund receivables and payables and are shown in the fund financial statements as due to and due
from other funds. Any residual amounts due between the governmental and business-type activities of the Town would be shown
as an internal balance on the statement of net position which would cancel out in the total column for the primary government.

The statement of activities presents the operations of the governmental and business- type activities of the primary government of
the Town and the discretely presented component unit of the Town for the fiscal year. The operations of the Town are shown in a
format which reports the net (expense) revenue of the individual functions of the Town. The purpose of this net (expense) revenue
format is to report the relative financial burden of each of the Town’s functions on the taxpayers. Program revenue is applied to
each function based on which function generated the specific charges for services and for which functions the operating and capital
grants have been received. All taxes are shown as general revenues regardless of whether they where levied for a specific purpose
or function. The categories of individual functions correspond to the different departments and operations of the Town. Indirect
expenses which benefit the Town as a whole are not required to be allocated among the other functions of the Town and therefore
they arenotallocated. Depreciation expenseis allocated to the specific functions (sometimes referred to as departments) of the Town
based on which function purchased or benefits from the assets. Depreciation on assets shared between two or more functions is
allocated based on the percentage purchased by each function. If the benefit received from these assets shifts from the function
making the purchase to another function in a material amount, the depreciation amount being charged will be shifted accordingly.
Depreciation on capital assets which benefit all of the functions of the Town, such as infrastructure assets, is shown as a separate
line item. Internal activity between individual funds within the governmental activities are eliminated in this statement. This
internal activity is also known as transfers in and out and is shown in the fund financial statements as such. The above information
relating to the government-wide financial statements basis of presentation is in reference to both governmental and business-type
activities. Internal activity between the governmental and business-type activities of the Town would be shown as transfers on the
statement of activities which would cancel out in the total column for the primary government.

2. Measurement focus and basis of accounting

The statement of net position and the statement of activities are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting. The accrual basis of accounting would be used for both governmental and business-type activities of
the primary government of the Town and the discretely presented component unit. Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and
liabilities resulting from exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized when the exchange takes place. In other words,
revenues and the related assets are recognized when they are earned and expenses and the related liabilities are recognized when
they are incurred. The Town does not have an established policy relating to the use of restricted and unrestricted resources when
an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position is available. Absent of an established
policy which addresses this situation, accounting guidance states that it should consider that restricted amounts would be reduced
first and then unrestricted amounts.
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C. Fund financial statements
1. Basis of presentation

The fund financial statements of the Town consist of a balance sheet with a reconciliation to the government-wide statement of net
position, a statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances with a reconciliation to the government-wide
statement of activities, a budgetary comparison schedule for the general fund, a statement of net position - proprietary funds, a
statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position - proprietary funds, a statement of cash flows - proprietary funds, and
a statement of fiduciary net position and a statement of changes in fiduciary net position. These fund financial statements are
designed to report additional and more detailed information about the primary government. A fund 1s defined as an independent
fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts which records cash and other financial resources, together with
all related liabilities and residual equities or balances, and changes therein which are segregated for the purpose of carrying on
specific activities or attaining certain objectives in accordance with any special regulations, restrictions, or limitations which may
exist. The types of funds shown for the Town are governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds. The focus of these
fund financial statements are on major funds as defined by GASB Statement No. 34. All major funds are reported in a separate
column with all non-major funds being aggregated and reported in a single column.

Governmental fund reporting focuses primarily on the sources, uses, and balances of the current financial resources of the Town.
The governmental funds used by the Town include the general fund, and other non-major governmental fund types such as special
revenue funds, capital project funds, and permanent funds The general use and purpose of these individual governmental fund
types are as follows. The individual names of each fund within each non-major governmental fund type can be found in the
accompanying combining schedules and the purpose of the fund 1s generally self explanatory within each title.

a. General fund - The general fund is the general operating fund of the Town and accounts for all revenues and expenditures of
the Town with the exception of those required to be accounted for in another fund. All general tax revenues and other receipts
that (a) are notallocated by law, contractual agreement, governing body motion or town meeting to other funds or (b) thathave
not been restricted, committed, or assigned to other funds are accounted for in the general fund.

b. Special revenue funds - Special revenue funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of specific revenue sources that
arerestricted or committed to expenditure for specified purposes other than debt service or capital projects. The term proceeds
of specific revenue sources establishes that one or more specific restricted or committed revenues should be the foundation for
a special revenue fund. The specific restricted or committed revenues may be initially received in another fund and
subsequently distributed to a special revenue fund, however, those amounts should not be recognized as revenue in the fund
initially receiving them but rather be shown as revenue in the special revenue fund in which they will be expended for the
specified purpose. Therestricted or committed proceeds of the specific revenue sources should be expected to continue to make
up a substantial portion of the resources flowing into the fund. Other financial resources such as investment income and
transfers from other funds may also be reported within a special revenue fund as long as those resources are restricted,
committed or assigned to the specified purpose of the fund.

c.  Capital project funds - Capital project funds are used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted, commutted
or assigned to expenditure for capital outlays, such as the acquisition or construction of capital facilities and other capital assets
or for the accumulation of funds for these purposes. The Town currently only has one non-major capital project fund which
is the Lake Williams project fund which 1s currently being used for capital and operating upkeep costs of Lake Williams.

d. Permanent funds - Permanent funds are used to account for and report resources that are restricted as only earnings, and not
principal, may be used for purposes that support the Town's programs and in effect the benefit of the Town or its citizens.

Proprietary and fiduciary fund reporting focuses on net position and changes in net position. The proprietary funds of the town
consist of two enterprise funds which are used to account for the user fees and benefit assessments relating to the Amston Lake
Water Pollution Control Authority (the Authority) and an internal service fund which is used to account for the self funding dental
activities of the town. Fiduciary funds are used to report assets held in a trustee or agency capacity for others and therefore cannot
be used to support the programs of the Town. The fiduciary funds of the Town consist of private purpose trust funds and agency
funds. Private purpose trust funds account for the assets held by the Town in a trustee capacity on behalf of the schools in the form
of scholarship funds and on behalf of the library and cemeteries in similar funds. All of the resources of these funds, including any
earnings on mvested resources, may be used to support their activities. There is no requirement that any portion of these resources
be preserved as capital. Agency funds are used to report resources held by the Town in a purely custodial capacity. Agency funds
of the Town consist of the student activity accounts located at the Board of Education and funds received from Board of Education
retirees to be put toward the payment of health insurance benefits.
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e. Enterprise funds - Enterprise funds are used to account for those operations that are financed and operated in a manner which
is simular to private business operations or where the Town has decided that the periodic determination of revenues earned,
expenses incurred, and /or net income is necessary for management accountability Enterprise funds may be used to report
any activity for which a fee is charged to external users for goods or services. However, certain instances require the use of an
enterprise fund, for example, if the pricing policies of the activity establish fees and charges designed to recover its costs,
including capital costs. The Town uses enterprise funds to account for both its operating activities which are funded through
user fees and its benefit assessments fund which is funded through the actual benefitassessment as well as a borrowed interest
assessment both of which relate to the Authority.

f Internal service funds - Internal service funds can be used for any activity that provides goods or services to other funds,
departments, or agencies of the primary government and its component units, or to other governments, on a cost-
reimbursement basis when the reporting government is the predominant participant in the activity. The Town uses an internal
service fund to account for its self funding dental activities.

g. Private-purpose trustfunds- All trustarrangements other then those defined as pension trust funds and investment trust funds
are described as private-purpose trust funds under which the principal and income of the fund benefit individuals, private
organizations, or other governments.

h. Agency funds - Agency funds represent resources held in a purely custodial capacity for individuals, private organizations,
or other governments.

The balance sheet is used to report information about the current financial resources (assets, liabilities, and fund balances) of each
major governmental fund and for all non-major governmental funds in the aggregate. The fund balance amounts within the
governmental funds are segregated between nonspendable, restricted, commutted, assigned and unassigned amounts These
balances are shown on the face of the balance sheet with a description of the meaning and purpose of each category being shown
in note 1S starting on page 33. An accompanying schedule is required to reconcile the total governmental fund balance to the total
net position balance of the governmental activities of the Town as shown on the government-wide statement of net position.

The statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances is used to report information about the inflows, outflows,
and balances of current financial resources of each major governmental fund and all non-major funds in the aggregate. Revenues
are classified by major revenue sources while expenditures are classified by categories of individual functions corresponding to the
different departments and operations of the Town. The proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt and operating transfers
between individual funds are shown as other financing sources and uses An accompanying schedule is also required to reconcile
the total change in governmental fund balances to the total change in net position of the governmental activities of the Town as
shown on the government-wide statement of activities.

The budgetary comparison information is required to be presented for the general fund and each major special revenue or capital
project fund thathas a legally adopted annual budget. This statement shows the original budget as voted on and appropriated, the
changes made to each individual departmental line item within the budget, and the final budget which is compared to the actual
revenue and expenditure balances to come up with the favorable or unfavorable variance numbers.

The statement of net position presents the financial position of the proprietary funds at the end of the fiscal year. This statement
reports the assets, liabilities, and net position of the these funds. The assets and liabilities are presented 1n a classified format to
distinguish between current and long-term assets and liabilities. In addition, the assets and liabilities are presented in the order of
their relative liquidity. The liquidity of assets is determined by how readily they are expected to be converted into cash and whether
there are restrictions in place limiting their use by the Town. The liquidity of liabilities is determined by their maturity or by when
cash will be used to liquidate them. The net position balance of the Town consists of the net investment in capital assets, restricted
and unrestricted amounts. Restricted net position is present when constraints are imposed externally by creditors, grantors,
contributors, other governments, or by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Unrestricted net position
consists of all net position balances not meeting the definition of net investment in capital assets or restricted. Capital contributions
arenotdisplayed as a separate component of net position. Inaddition, any designations that the Town may make of the unrestricted
net position balance will not be reported on the face of the statements but will rather be disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements. Internal balances between individual funds within the governmental activities are eliminated in this statement to
minimize the “grossing-up” of assets and liabilities. These internal balances are also known as inter-fund receivables and payables
and are shown in the fund financial statements as due to and due from other funds. Any residual amounts due between the
governmental and business-typeactivities of the Town would be shown as an internal balance on the statement of net position which
would cancel out in the total column for the primary government.
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The statement of revenues, expenses and changes in fund net position is the operating statement of proprietary funds. The Town’s
business-type operations are accounted for as an enterprise fund which is a proprietary fund. The revenues on this statements
should be reported by major sources. This statement also segregates revenues and expenses between the category of operating and
non-operating. Operating revenues and expenses are subtracted to come up with the operating income or loss from operations.
Non-operating revenues and expenses are then shown by line item in a section following the results of the operations. If the
proprietary fund of the Town were to have any revenues from capital contributions, special or extraordnary items or transfers, they
would be accounted for in a section after the non-operating results section. The results of all three of these sections would then be
consolidated to come up with a changes in net position balance

The proprietary funds of the Town also utilize a statement of cash flows. The purpose of the statement of cash flows is to provide
relevant information about the cash receipts and payments made by the Town during each reporting period. The cash flow
statement is broken down between different sections. These sections are an operations section, a non-capital financing transactions
section, a capital and related financing transactions section and an investing section These sections report the relevant cash flow
results of each specific activity that occurred during the reporting period A reconciliation of operating income to the net cash flows
from operating activities should also be shown. This reconciliation is designed to provide information about the net affects of
operating transactions and other events that effect operating income and cash flows in different periods.

The statement of fiduciary net position shows information in regard to the assets and liabilities of the fiduciary funds of the Town
which consist of private-purpose trust funds and agency funds. The statement of changes in fiduciary net position shows
information in regard to the additions to, subtractions from, and net increase or decrease for the year in fiduciary fund net position.

2. Measurement focus and basis of accounting

Inregard to the governmental activities of the Town, the balance sheet and the statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes
infund balances are prepared using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting
for all governmental and fiduciary funds. Capital assets and long-term debt are not recorded as assets or liabilities on the balance
sheet of the Town. The basis of accounting relates to the timing of the measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus
applied. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting revenues are recognized when they become measurable and available as
net current assets. Property tax revenues are recognized when they become available. Available includes those property taxes
receivable which are expected to be collected within the first sixty days after the end of the current fiscal year, when applicable.
Miscellaneous revenues are recorded when recerved because they are generally not measurable until actually received.
Intergovernmental revenues are accrued, when their receipt occurs soon enough after the end of the accounting period so as to be
both measurable and available. The Town generally considers intergovernmental revenues which are received within the first sixty
days after the end of the current fiscal year to be both measurable and available. Expenditures are generally recognized under this
basis of accounting when the related fund liability is incurred. Exceptions to this general rule include general long-term debt
principal and interest which is recognized when due.

In regard to the proprietary fund activities of the Town, the statement of net position, the statement of revenues, expenses and
changes in net position and the statement of cash flows are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from exchange and exchange-like
transactions are recognized when the exchange takes place. In other words, revenues and the related assets are recognized when
the are earned and expenses and the related liabilities are recognized when they are mcurred. The Town does not have an
established policy relating to the use of restricted and unrestricted resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which
both restricted and unrestricted net position is available. Absent of an established policy which addresses this situation, accounting
guidance states that it should consider that restricted amounts would be reduced first and then unrestricted amounts.

D. Deposits and investments

Cash and cash equivalents include amounts in demand deposit accounts as well as all highly liquid short-term investments with
a maturity date within three months of the date acquired by the Town. The Town values investments at their fair value. Money
marketaccounts and certificates of deposit may be classified as investments regardless of maturity in order to more accurately reflect
how the Town’s cash balances are being used for the benefit of the Town. The Town does have other types of investments that
represent assets which have been donated to the Town and therefore are not subject to specific State statute limitations. These
donated investments are reported within the Trumbull investment funds as well as permanent and private purpose trust funds.
Note 3 starting on page 36 more fully describes certain State statutes regarding the deposit and investing of public funds.
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E. Revenue recognition - property taxes

The Town's property tax for the current year was levied May 19, 2017 on the grand list as of October 1, 2016, for the real, motor
vehicle and personal property located in the Town ata rate of 28.9 mills. Real estate, personal property and motor vehicle taxes were
due on July 1, 2017, and January 1, 2018. Supplemental motor vehicle taxes were due on January 1, 2018. Interest on unpaid taxes
commenced 30 days after the aforementioned due dates, at 18% per annum or 1.50% per month. As described earlier, in the fund
financial statements property tax revenues are recorded in the amount of the annual principal property tax assessment with an
adjustment being made for the amount of principal expected to be collected within the first sixty days after the end of the current
fiscal year. In the government-wide financial statements, only the current year principal assessment 1s recorded as revenue.

F. Receivables - governmental activities and funds

All property tax, intergovernmental, and other receivables are reported net of any allowance for doubtful accounts. On the
government-wide financial statements, the current year accounts receivable balance of $724,113 is made up of general property taxes
receivable of $604,147, state, federal and other grantreceivables of $50,272 and other miscellaneous recervables of $69,694. The long-
term accounts receivable balance of $114,355 is made up of the accumulated delinquent interest and fees on active property tax
principal amounts. Delinquentinterestand fees on suspense tax receivable principal balances are not included. The notesreceivable
balance of $1,028,234 is related to a CDBG grant and loan fund program received and entered into by the Town which is more fully
described in note 10 on page 44. All of the above mentioned receivable amounts are also recorded on the fund financial statements
with the exception of the accumulated delinquent interest and fees on property tax principal amounts which are only required to
be reported on the government-wide financial statements. The Town will book an unbilled receivable in situations when a grant
or contract has incurred expenditures which will be reimbursed by a funding source but which have not yet been fully received in
cash for the amount incurred. The current allowance for doubtful accounts in relation to the above mentioned accounts receivable
balances was estimated to be $0. The Town considers past experience with receivable balance collections and current aging report
details when determining its calculation for an allowance for doubtful accounts. Receivables are only written off once it has been
determined that all other methods of collection have been utilized without success.

G. Sewer benefit assessment, user fees and related receivables

Properties located along the Lebanon Amston Lake Sewer District “the District” were levied a benefit assessment upon the
completion of the sewage system construction project at the flat rate amount of $16,683 per assessable lot. This benefit assessment
was due August 1, 2013. This assessment could have been paid in full by September 1, 2013 with no borrowed interest charges or
it could be paid over a period not to exceed 20 years including borrowed interest charges at a rate of 2.50%. The benefit assessment
is billed in two semi-annual installments of $543 which includes a principal and interest portion. The semi-annual benefit
assessment installments are due April 1* and October 1* until such time that the principal portion of the benefit assessment has been
paid in full. The borrowed interest portion of the semi-annual installments is the amount which is to be collected relating to the
interest which will be payable on the debt which was issued to finance the construction project. The benefit assessment or any
installment thereof not paid within thirty (30) days after the due date, shall be delinquent and shall be subject to interest from such
due date at the rate and in the manner provided by the General Statutes for delinquent property taxes, together with attorney's fees
and costs of collection. If all or any part of a property which has been levied this benefit assessment is sold or transferred, the
remaining portion of the assessment may be assumed by the transferee. Current fiscal year assessment principal collections totaled
approximately $210,994 leaving a currentand long-term receivable amount due of $3,026,796. Currentfiscal year borrowed interest
collections totaled approximately $68,300 including currently billed amounts and previously billed amounts leaving a outstanding
receivable of $28,357. Current fiscal year user fee collections totaled approximately $145,802 including currently billed amounts
and previously billed amounts leaving a outstanding receivable of $21,396.

H. Tax acquired property

Property which has been foreclosed on by the Town due to non-payment of taxes or other similar situations is classified as tax
acquired property at the value of the original outstanding tax receivable amount. Interest and fees on the property are recorded
at such time when the property is sold. The current value of the recorded tax acquired property of the town was $13,361 as of the
end of the current fiscal year.
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I. Inventories

On the government-wide financial statements, inventories are presented at the lower of cost or market on a first-in, first-out basis
and are expensed when used which is in accordance with the consumption method. On the fund financial statements, inventories
are presented at cost on a first-in, first-out basis and are recorded as an expenditure when used. The Town currently has recorded
an inventory amount of $11,946 as it relates to the school lunch program

J. Capital assets

Capital assets of the Town includeland, land improvements, buildings, building improvements, vehicles equipment, infrastructure,
and all other tangible and intangible assets which may arise that are used in operations and that have an initial useful life extending
beyond asingle fiscal year. Infrastructureassets and improvements thereto arelong-lived capital assets that are normally stationary
in nature and can normally be preserved for a significantly greater number of years than most capital assets. The types of
infrastructure assets recorded by the Town include but are not limited to improved town roads, unimproved town roads, bridges
and water and pollution control improvements. All improvements to infrastructure and other capital assets are capitalized which
add to the value or materially extend the life of the asset. All capital assets of the Town are recorded at historical cost or estimated
historical cost when the actual amount is not available. The historical cost of these assets includes not only the cost of the asset but
also capitalized interest charges and other direct costs associated with placing the asset into its intended location and its intended
use. The Town maintains a capitalization threshold of $5,000 for all capital assets with the exception of land purchases which are
recorded regardless of amount. Donated capital assets are reported at their estimated fair value at the time of acquisition plus other
direct costs associated with placing the asset into its intended location and intended use. Capital assets are only shown on the
government-wide statement of net position and the proprietary funds statement of net position. The capital assets of the component
unit of the Town are accounted for in the same manner.

Land and land improvements are not depreciated. All other individual capital assets of the Town are depreciated over their
estimated useful lives using the straight line method. Under this method, the recorded cost of each capital asset less any estimated
residual value is divided by the estimated useful life resulting in an even amount of depreciation to be taken on an annual basis.
The estimated residual value is the amount that the capital asset is expected to be worth at the end of its useful life. The general
estimated useful lives for specific types of capital assets are 3 - 10 years for equipment, 5 - 10 years for vehicles, 30 - 50 years for
buildings and building improvements and infrastructure and 75 years for water and pollution control systems. Capital assets which
are under construction but not yet completed are recorded as construction in progress. These capital assets will not begin to be
depreciated until they are completed. Depreciation expense is allocated to the specific functions (sometimes referred to as
departments) of the Town based on which function purchased or benefits from the assets. Depreciation on assets shared between
two or more functions is allocated based on the percentage purchased by each function If the benefit received from these assets
shifts from the function making the purchase to another function in a material amount, the depreciation amount being charged
will be shifted accordingly. Depreciation on capital assets which benefit all functions of the Town, such as infrastructure assets, is
shown as a separate line item. Depreciation expense on capital assets is only shown on the government-wide statement of activities
and related proprietary fund statements and is added to the individual function or department as described above.

K. Prepaid items

Payments made to vendors for goods and services that will benefit periods beyond the end of the fiscal year are recorded as prepaid
items using the consumption method by recording an asset for the prepaid amount and reflecting the expense-expenditure n the
subsequent year (s) in which the goods or services are consumed. Expenditures relatively minor in nature for insurance and similar
services extending over more than one accounting period need not be allocated between or among accounting periods, but may be
accounted for as expenditures of the period of acquisition. The Town considers relatively minor in nature to include aggregated
similar items not exceeding $5,000. Payments made to vendors for goods and services that will only benefit periods beyond the end
of the fiscal year which are related to grants are recorded as prepaid items regardless of the dollar amount.

L. Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, requires

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and the accompanying
notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
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M. Inter fund receivables and payables

Inter fund receivables and payables represent the balance of activity between the different funds of the Town. These activities
include butarenot limited to transfers which were not physically made, a portion of the annual tax commitment applicable to certain
special revenue and other funds of the Town which are shown as transfers within the annual budget document approved by the
inhabitants of the Town and cash receipts which may have been deposited in the cash account of one fund but which are for the use
of another fund. The actual receipt of this tax and other revenue is deposited into the general fund and accounted for as an inter
fund receivable. Expenditures for one fund paid for out of another fund are also included in these balances. The inter fund balances
and related activities of the governmental funds have been eliminated in the government-wide statement of net position and the
statement of activities, however, the inter fund balances and related activity between the governmental and business-type and
private purpose trust activities of the Town are not eliminated on these statements.

N. Unearned revenue and Deferred inflows and outflows of resources

In the government-wide financial statements, revenue amounts which have been received in cash but not yet earned are recorded
as unearned revenue. The current fiscal year unearned revenue balance of the governmental activities of the Town as shown on
the statement of net position totaled $82,426. This balance represents unspent state, federal and other grant program balances which
will be used in the upcoming fiscal year. The current fiscal year unearned revenue balance of the business-type activities of the
Town as shown on the statement of net position totaled $24,220 which represents user fee collections received by the town not due
until the upcoming fiscal year. In the fund financial statements, revenues are recognized when they are both measurable and
available to pay current liabilities. There are currently no unearned revenue balances shown on the balance sheet.

In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This
separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents aconsumption of net position thatapplies to a future
period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense) until that time. The deferred outflows relate to the net
pension liability, which include the Town's current fiscal year contributions made subsequent to the measurement date, which are
recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the subsequent fiscal year. They also may include changes in actuarial
assumptions, differences between expected and actual experience, and changes in employer proportional share, which would be
deferred and amortized over the average expected remaining service lives of active and inactive members in the pension plan. They
may also include the net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments, which would be deferred
and amortized over a five-year period. The current fiscal year deferred outflows of resources balance of the governmental activities
of the Town as shown on the statement of net position totaled $288,666. This balance is made up of current fiscal year pension
contributions made by the town in the amount of $163,855 and the actuarial determined differences between expected and actual
experience, changes in employer proportional share and the net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan
investments as applicable, in the amount of $124,811.

Inaddition to liabilities, the statement of net position and balance sheet will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows
of resources. This separate financial statement element represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s)
and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The governmental activities have deferred inflows
thatrelate to the total OPEB liability, which may include changes in actuarial assumptions, differences between expected and actual
experience, and changes in employer proportional share, which would be deferred and amortized over the applicable period. The
current fiscal year deferred inflows of resources balance of the governmental activities of the Town as shown on the statement of
net position totaled $104,227. This balance is made up of the actuarial determined differences between expected and actual
experience and changes in actuarial assumptions related to the total OPEB liability. The governmental funds of the Town currently
report on the balance sheet unavailable revenue from property taxes which is calculated when considering the amount of property
taxes receivable not expected to be received within the first 60 days after the fiscal year end in this category. This amountis deferred
and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available. The current fiscal year deferred inflow
of resources balance relating to these property taxes receivable is $500,753.

O. Unclassified and program expenditures
The Town uses a departmental expenditure category labeled unclassified and program to account for certain items that they do not

feel truly fall into the traditional departmental expenditure categories. The general fund classifies town wide fringe benefits and
the small cities program fund classifies operating expenditures into this departmental expenditure category.
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P. Accounts payable, accrued payroll and other liabilities

The accounts payable balance of the town is used to account for the expenses or expenditures related to invoices for the current fiscal
year which have been received but which have not yet been paid. Under both the accrual and modified accrual basis of accounting
expenses and expenditures are recorded when they are incurred. The accrued payroll balance is made up of amounts earned
through hours worked prior to the end of the fiscal year which were not physically paid until after the end of the fiscal year. The
other liabilities balance of $155,436 is made up of tax refunds issued but not yet paid of $45,554, driveway and performance bonds
which have been received butnot yet fulfilled and thus not yet returned of $95,710, payroll withholding and state amounts due of
$4,441, unclaimed property checks to either be repaid or sent to the state of $8,101 and other miscellaneous items of $1,630.

Q. Long-term obligations and related costs

Long-term debtand other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities on the governmental-wide statement of net position. Bond
premuums and discounts are capitalized and amortized over the life of thebonds using the straightline method, which approximates
the effective interest method The unamortized portion is presented in the government-wide Statement of Net Position as a
component of bonds payable Bond issuance costs are reported as expenses when incurred. The governmental fund financial
statements recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond issuance costs, during the period incurred. The face amount
of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources
while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt
proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures.

R. Major funds - Fund financial statements only

The focus of the governmental funds of the Town is on the major funds. The general fund of the Town must always be shown as
a major fund. In addition, other governmental funds are shown as major based on the following criteria.

a. The total assets and deferred outflows of resources, hiabilities and deferred inflows of resources, revenues, and expenditures
of an individual governmental or enterprise (if present) fund are at least 10% of the corresponding totals for all funds of the
governmental or enterprise (if present) fund type and

b. The total assets and deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, revenues, and expenditures
of an individual governmental or enterprise (if present) fund are at least 5% of the corresponding totals for all governmental
and enterprise (if present) funds combined.

¢.  Any other mndividual governmental or enterprise (if present) fund that the Town believes is particularly important to the
financial statement users whether because of public interest, consistency, or other reasons.

For the purposes of the current fiscal year fund financial statements, the following individual governmental funds have been
classified as major. A brief description of these funds and the activities reported within each fund is as follows. Additional financial
information on these funds can be found in Sub-Schedules A through D on pages 76 through 80 of the financial statements.

d. Trumbull investments fund - This fund is used to account for three sets of investments donated to the town by Hugh Trumbull
Adams with the interest and dividend revenue generated by these investments to be used to help fund the operations of the
town library, the Adams community center, and the Jonathan Trumbull Jr. house.

e. Town capital funds-This fund is used to account for financial resources to be used by the Town to purchase or construct capital
assets or projects. The capital assets purchased or constructed through this fund are usually more costly then those purchased
and accounted for within other funds, functions, and departments. The activities within this fund are financed through annual
appropriations as approved as part of the annual budget, long-term and short term fnancing and through other miscellaneous
grants and revenues. This fund is individually made up of the capital non-recurring fund which accounts for a number of
capital purchases and other internal funds which the town uses to keep track of individual town construction projects.

f.  Small cities program fund - This fund is used to account for and report the proceeds and activity of housing rehabslitation
Community Development Block Grants received from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. The purpose
of these grants is to provide assistance to low to moderate income residents for addressing housing needs with a priority being
placed on public health and safety code violations and to establish a permanent loan fund using the proceeds. Each resident
receiving benefits under these grants is required to sign a deferred promissory note of which ten percent of the principal balance
of the note is forgiven each of the first five years of the note. The residual of this fund is accounted for as restricted net position
and fund balance as the Town feels that the recorded revenue has been earned and is both measurable and available to pay all
applicable current liabilities of the program fund
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Fund balance classification policies and procedures - fund financial statements only

The fund balance amounts of the governmental funds of the Town on the balance sheet are broken down between nonspendable,
restricted, committed, assigned and unassigned. These fund balance classifications are described as follows:

a.

Nonspendable fund balance - Nonspendable fund balance include amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (a) not
in a spendable form such as inventories or prepaid expenditures or (b) they are legally or contractually required to be
maintained intact such as the principal portion of a permanent fund. The nonspendable funds balance amounts as reported
by the Town consistsolely of the principal portion of its permanent funds and a corresponding amount for the recorded amount
of inventory and prepaid expenditures, when applicable.

Restricted fund balances - Restricted fund balance include amounts that are restricted to a specific purpose when the restraints
are placed on the use of the resources either by (a) externally imposed creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations
of other governments or (b) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Enabling legislation
authorizes the Town to assess, levy, charge or otherwise mandate payment of resources from external sources and includes a
legally enforceable requirement that those resources be used only for the specific purposes stipulated in the legislation. The
restricted fund balance amounts of the Town consist of the residual fund balance amounts at the end of the fiscal year as they
relate to grants received from either State, Federal or local funding sources or donations received to be spent for specific
purposes. These amounts are restricted to be expended on the items outlined within the funding agreement with the Town
and cannot be used for any other specified purposes. In addition, the Town has created a special revenue fund to account for
and report the proceeds of funds collected by the town clerks office as mandated by the State of Connecticut in relation to
historic document preservation fees and locip surcharge assessment fees. These mandated fees are considered a form of
enabling legislation imposed by the State and therefore the funds collected by the Town are restricted to be expended based
on the parameters of the enabling legislation. Other funds restricted by the Town include the balance of the housing
rehabilitation income fund which relates to housing rehabilitation grants received by the Town and the non-principal portion
of permanent funds.

Committed fund balance - Committed fund balance include amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to
constraints imposed by formal action of the Town's highest level of decision making authority. These committed amounts
cannot be used for any other purpose unless the Town removes or changes the specified use by taking the same type of action
itemployed to previously commit those amounts. The Board of Finance is considered to be the highest level of decision making
authority within the Town for determining committed fund balance amounts. The Board of Finance has the final approval for
the budget amounts which are presented to the citizens of the Town for approval and in turn the establishment of the related
special revenue or capital project funds. The approval of the annual town budget includes amounts characterized as specific
revenue sources as a portion of either the annual tax commitment or other specific revenue sources contained and voted on
within the annual budget. An example of a committed fund balance amount would relate to an approved transfer to an
established special revenue fund or the capital nonrecurring fund. The residual fund balance amount within these funds at
the end of the fiscal year would be classified as committed fund balance. Any subsequent change in the specific purpose or
use of these committed funds would need to be approved either at the annual town meeting or a special town meeting.

Assigned fund balance - Assigned fund balance include amounts that are constrained by the Town with the intent to be used
for specific purposes, but which are neither restricted or committed. The intent to use funds for specific purposes is to be
assigned by either town meeting appropriations or the Board of Finance. The First Selectman has the authority to accept funds
on behalf of the Town which are specific revenue sources to be used for specific purposes and to establish special revenue or
capital project funds to account and report these amounts in accordance with the direction received from the Board of Finance.
Assigned special revenue and capital project funds are usually made up of small streams of specific revenue sources for specific
purposes for which there is a perceived benefit to segregating and reporting the funds rather then including them within the
general fund. In addition, any annual budgetary encumbrances outstanding at the end of the fiscal year may be classified by
the Town as assigned amounts within the general or specific special revenue or capital project funds. Subsequent fiscal year
budgeted appropriations of the unassigned general fund balance would also be reported as assigned fund balance amounts
of the general fund at the end of the current fiscal year.

Unassigned fund balance - Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the general fund of the Town. This
classification represents fund balance amounts that have not been assigned to other funds and that have not been restricted,
commutted or assigned to specific purposes within the general fund. Inaddition, individual governmental funds whose ending
fund balance is negative are also classified as unassigned within the specific fund.
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The Town does not have an established policy relating to the use of unrestricted fund balance amounts as it relates to when it
considers committed, assigned or unassigned amounts to have been spent when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which
amounts in any of these three unrestricted classifications could be used. Absent of an established policy which addresses this
situation, accounting guidance states that it should consider that committed amounts would be reduced first, followed by assigned
amounts and then unassigned amounts In addition, restricted fund balance amounts are considered to have been spent prior to
unrestricted amounts under the same circumstances. The following table is designed to provide more detailed information
regarding the aggregated fund balance classifications which are included on the balance sheet.

Trumbull Town Small cihes ~ Non-major
General investment capital program  governmental
fund funds funds funds funds Totals
Fund balances:
Nonspendable:
Prepaid and inventory items $ 47,282 % - $ 1,350 $ - $ 13,446 $ 62,078
Permanent funds principal - - - - 319,272 319,272
47,282 - 1,350 - 332,718 381,350
Restricted:
Town grants - - - - 46,274 46,274
Education grants - - - - 36,152 36,152
Trumbull donations funds - 2,830,286 - - 218,893 3,049,179
Other town donation funds - - - - 81,298 81,298
Housing rehab income fund - - - 1,077,256 - 1,077,256
Enabling legislation funds - - - - 81,720 81,720
Permanent funds non-principal - - - - 37,106 37,106
- 2,830,286 - 1,077,256 501,443 4,408,985
Committed:
Town construction projects - - 146,092 - - 146,092
Capital nonrecurring balances - - 1,065,747 - - 1,065,747
School capital fund - - 247,212 - - 247,212
Lebanon public library - - - - 178,867 178,867
Lebanon recreation commission - - - - 17,916 17,916
Jonathan Trumbull Jr house - - - - 30,570 30,570
Adams community center - - - - 68,443 68,443
Town improvement program - - - - 151,984 151,984
Senior vans program - - - - 44,116 44,116
Lake Williams project - - - - 32,667 32,667
- - 1,459,051 - 524,563 1,983,614
Assigned:
Dog fund - - - - 8,982 8,982
Town donation funds - - - - 16,790 16,790
Fema storm grant funds - - - - 34,728 34,728
Summer dance festival - - - - 17,579 17,579
Cemetery lot funds - - - - 13,167 13,167
Historic building funds - - - - 10,480 10,480
Education programs - - - - 15,412 15,412
Education activity accounts - - - - 100,019 100,019
School encumbrances 47,688 - - - - 47,688
47,688 - - - 217,157 264,845
Unassigned:
General fund 5,712,991 - - - - 5,712,991
Town construction projects - - -196,511 - - -196,511
Education grants - - - - -35 -35
Permanent funds principal - - - - -942 -942
5,712,991 - -196,511 - 977 5,515,503
Total fund balances $ 5807961 $ 2,830,286 $ 1,263,890 $ 1,077,256 $ 1,574904 $ 12,554,297
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T. Encumbrance accounting

Encumbrances are notliabilities and, therefore, are not recorded as expenditures until receipt of materials or services. For budgetary
purposes, appropriations lapse at fiscal year-end. The Town does utilize encumbrance accounting. The assignment of fund balance
at June 30, 2018 was $47,688 for the general fund as it relates to the Board of Education, and $0 for the non-major special revenue
funds as they relate to the State and Federal grant programs of the Board of Education.

U. Budget

The Town's policy is to adopt an annual budget for operations The budget is presented on the modified accrual basis of accounting
(except in relation to teacher on-behalf payments made by the State which are not budgeted for and encumbrances) which is
consistent with generally accepted accounting principles. In addition, the budget calls for certain amounts to be transferred or
allocated to specific funds which have been set up by the Town for specific purposes. A portion of the budgeted revenues to be
raised by the annual tax commitment are considered by the Town to be a specific revenue source which are committed to
expenditure for these specified purposes. The budget calls for the revenue to be shown within the general fund and a transfer out
to be shown to each of these specific funds. These specific portions of the annual tax commitment are shown within each specific
special revenue and capital project fund as a transfer in rather then as property tax revenue. The legal level of control (the level at
which expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations) for each adopted annual operating budget generally is the department
level within each general function of the Town. Only the Board of Finance may approve budget transfers within and between
expenditure classes and individual departments in accordance with applicable State statutes. The bottom line budgeted revenue
and expenditure amounts can only change upon approval of the inhabitants of the Town through a special town meeting. The
procedures followed in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements are as follows:

a. Early in the second half of the last fiscal year the Town's selectmen, departments, boards and commissions submitted budget
requests for the year beginning July 1. The operating budgets include proposed expenditures and the means of financing them.

b. Hearings are then held for the submitted budget requests by functions' (1) Selectmen’s budget, (2) departments, (3) boards and
commissions, (4) capital and nonrecurring requests and (5) Board of Education.

¢. A meeting of the inhabitants of the Town is then called for the purpose of adopting the proposed budget after public notice of
the meeting had been given. The current fiscal year budget was originally presented for approval on May 1, 2017 at which time
it was rejected by the inhabitants of the Town The current fiscal year budget was then presented again for approval on
November 20, 2017 at which time it was adopted by the inhabitants of the Town.

Other financing Net change in
Town general fund Revenues Expenditures sources (uses) fund balance
GAAP basis - Statement D $ 28,357,013 $  -26,201,566 $ -2,371,220 $ -215,773
Current fiscal year encumbrances - -47,688 - -47,688
Prior fiscal year encumbrances - 49,526 - 49,526
State on-behalf benefits related to pensions -2,670,539 2,670,539 - -
State on-behalf benefits related to OPEB -275,402 275,402
Budgetary basis - Statement E $  25411,072 $  -23,253,787 $ 2,371,220 $ -213,935
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Note 2 - Restricted cash and investments - government-wide financial statements only

The Town breaks cash and investments down between a regular current asset and an other assetrestricted on the government-wide
statement of net position. The other asset restricted investment amount of $3,176,210 is made up of the balance of the investments
which have been donated to the Town and whose interest and earnings are used to partially fund the operations of the Towns
library, community center, and the Jonathan Trumbull Jr. house. A portion of this restricted investments balance in the amount of
$2,830,286 can also be seen on the fund financial statements balance sheetas the major fund labeled the Trumbull investment funds.
In addition, the permanent funds include restricted investments in the amount of $345,924. The other assets restricted cash balance
is made up of cash balances relating to restricted net position balances which are restricted for specific purposes in subsequent fiscal
years. The current year amount shown on the government-wide statement of net position can be broken down as follows.

Community development grants and programs $ 75,462
Unearned state, federal, and other grant program balances 82,426
Principal balance of non-major permanent funds 9,501
Restricted donation funds 300,191
Enabling legislation program funds 81,720

$ 549,300

Note 3 - Deposits and investments

The deposit of public funds 1s controlled by the Connecticut General Statutes Section 7-402. Deposits may be made in a qualified
public depository as defined by the statute or, in amounts not exceeding FDIC insurance limits, in an out of state bank as defined
by the statute, which is not a qualified public depository. Section 7-400 of the statutes permit municipalities to invest public funds
in: 1) obligations of the United States and its agencies, 2) highly rated obligations of any state of the United States or of any political
subdivision, authority or agency thereof, and 3) shares or other interests in custodial arrangements or pools maintaining constant
net asset values and in highly rated no-load open-end money market and mutual funds (with constant or fluctuating net asset
values) whose portfolios are limited to obligations of the United States and its agencies, and repurchase agreements fully
collateralized by such obligations. Other provisions of the statutes cover specific municipal funds with particular investment
authority. The Town does have other types of investments that represent assets which have been donated to the Town and therefore
are not subject to specific state statute limitations.

Deposits - Primary government

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the Town will not be able to recover 1ts deposits or
will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The Town does not have a formal
deposit policy for custodial credit risk beyond the requirements of State statutes. FDIC insurance covers all deposit accounts,
including checking and savings accounts, money market deposit accounts and certificates of deposit. The standard insurance
amount is $250,000 per depositor, per msured bank, for each account ownership category. For government accounts the ownership
category is per official custodian. Atyear end, the carrying amount of the Town's deposits was $12,339,045 which is shown in the
financial statements as cash balances of $3,300,473 and investment balances of $9,038,572 which represent money market accounts,
certificates of deposit and other higher yielding accounts. The corresponding bank balances of these accounts at varjous financial
institutions totaled $13,250,381 with the difference between the two amounts being represented by timing differences with
outstanding checks, deposits in transit and cash on hand. Of these bank balances, $1,093,954 was covered by FDIC with the
remaining $12,156,427 representing balances that where uninsured and collateralized in part, as described in the following
paragraph, by securities held by the pledging financial institutions” trust department or agent but not in the Town's name.

The Town does not have a formal deposit policy for custodial credit risk beyond the requirements of State statutes. All of the
Town's deposits are in qualified public institutions as defined by state statute. Under this statute, any bank holding public deposits
must at all times maintain, segregated from its other assets, eligible collateral in an amount equal to a certain percentage of its public
deposits. The applicable percentage is determined based on the bank'’s risk-based capital ratio. The amount of public deposits is
determined based on erther the public depositsreported on the most recentquarterly call report, or the average of the public deposits
reported on the four most recent quarterly call reports, whichever 1s greater. The collateral 1s kept in the custody of the trust
department of either the pledging bank or another bank in the name of the pledging bank.
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Deposits - Discretely presented component unit

The Lebanon Volunteer Fire Department is reported within the government-wide financial statements of the Town as a discretely
presented component unit. The Department does nothave a formal deposit policy for custodial credit risk beyond the requirements
of State statutes. At year end, the carrying amount of the Department’s deposits was $532,450 which is shown in the financial
statements as cash balances of $221,801 and investment balances of $310,649 which represent money market accounts, certificates
of deposit and other higher yielding accounts. The corresponding bank balances of these accounts at various financial institutions
totaled $537,456 with the difference between the two amounts being represented by timing differences with outstanding checks and
deposits in transit. Of these bank balances, $250,000 was covered by FDIC with the remaining $287,456 representing balances that
where uninsured and collateralized in part, as described in the previous paragraph, by securities held by the pledging financial
institutions’ trust department or agent but not in the Department’s name.

Investments - Primary government

The following schedule shows the different types of investments held by the Town, the maturities of those investments and the
associated credit ratings as of June 30, 2018.

Credit
Maturities in years ratings
Fair Less than 1-5 6-10 More than
Type value 1 year years years 10 years S&P
Governmental & business type:
CT short term investment fund $ 25604 $ 25604 $ - $ - $ - AAAmM
Preferred stocks 10,252 10,252 - - - not rated
Exchange traded funds 353,536 353,536 - - - not rated
Unit trusts 695 695 - - - not rated
Money market and certificates 8,956,758 8,956,758 - - - not rated
Municipal bonds 48,761 - - 48,761 - AAA
Municipal bonds 46,517 - - 16,135 30,382 AA+
Municipal bonds 94,260 - - 79,260 15,000 AA
Municipal bonds 11,106 - - - 11,106 BBB+
Corporate bonds 75,823 - 69,940 5,883 - AA-to AA+
Corporate bonds 171,967 - 157,555 3,987 10,425 A-to A+
Corporate bonds 80,990 - 4,927 76,063 - BBB+
Corporate bonds 24,278 - 24,278 - - BB-
9,900,547 $ 9,346,845 $ 256,700 $ 230,089 $ 66,913
Stock equities 1,842,154
Mutual fund equities 424,074
$12,166,775
Fiduciary funds:
Money market and certificates $ 81814 $ 81814 $ - $ - $ - notrated
Mutual fund equities 16,028
$ 97,842

Interest Rate Risk - The Town does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of managing
its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. Credit Risk - The Town does not have a formal investment
policy that would further limit its investment choices beyond those limited by Connecticut State statutes. Concentration of Credit
Risk - The Town has no policy linuting an investment in any one issuer that is in excess of 5% of the Town's total investments.
Custodial Credit Risk - For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a counterparty, the Town
will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The Town
does not have a formal policy for custodial credit risk.
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Investments are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Recurring fair value measurements are those that GASB statements
require or permit in the Statement of Net Position or Balance Sheet at the end of each reporting period. Fair value measurements
are categorized based on the valuation inputs used to measure an asset's fair value: Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets
for 1dentical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to access at the measurement date; Level 2 inputs are other
than quoted prices in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, or similar assets or liabilities either directly or indirectly
through corroboration with observable market data; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs that are supported by little
or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

Fair value measurement

Fair
Investments value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Governmental & business type:
CT short term investment fund $ 25604 $ 25604 S - $ -
Preferred stocks 10,252 10,252 - -
Exchange traded funds 353,536 353,536 - -
Unit trusts 695 695 - -
Money market and certificates 8,956,758 8,956,758 - -
Municipal bonds 200,644 200,644 - -
Corporate bonds 353,058 353,058 - -
Stock equities 1,842,154 1,842,154 - -
Mutual fund equities 424,074 424,074 - -
$12,166,775  $12,166,775 $ - $ -
Fiduciary funds:
Money market and certificates $ 81,814 $ 81,814 $ - $ -
Mutual fund equities 16,028 16,028 - -
$ 97842 $ 97842 $ - $ -

Investments - Discretely presented component unit

The following schedule shows the different types of investments held by the Lebanon Volunteer Fire Department, the maturities
of those investments and the associated credit ratings as of June 30, 2018.

Credit
Maturities in years ratings
Fair Less than 1-5 6-10 More than
Type value 1 year years years 10 years S&P
Money market and certificates $ 310649 $ 216833 $ 93816 $ - $ - not rated
Stock equities 9,223
Mutual fund equities & unit trusts 298,430
$ 618,302

Interest Rate Risk - The Department does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of
managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. Credit Risk - The Department does not have a
formal investment policy that would further limit its investment choices beyond those limited by Connecticut State statutes.
Concentration of Credit Risk - The Department has no policy limiting an investment in any one issuer that is in excess of 5% of the
Department’s total investments Custodial Credit Risk - For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the
failure of a counterparty, the Department will not be able to recover the value of 1ts investments or collateral securities that are in
the possession of an outside party. The Department does not have a formal policy for custodial credit risk. As described above, all
of the Departments investments are recorded at fair value and as such the fair value measurement level must be disclosed. The
investments of the Department were all measured at level 1 as of June 30, 2018
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Note 4 - Inter fund receivables, payables, and transfers

Inter fund receivables and payables - The Town maintains a cash pool that is available for use by all funds. Each fund's portion
of this pool is displayed on the balance sheet as "due to or from other funds" under each fund's caption. The purpose for inter fund
balances is to keep track of each fund’s position in this cash pool. These balances are not always expected to be repaid due to the
fact that they normally represent funds collected or spent by one fund on behalf of another fund. The following information
represents inter fund receivables and payables by individual major fund and non-major funds in the aggregate. Only the balances
for major funds are being shown below as is required. The following fund financial statement inter fund balances are eliminated
in the government-wide financial statements with the exception of the proprietary enterprise funds and private purpose trust fund
balances which are shown as internal balances on the Statement of net position when present.

Receivable Payable
due from due to
General fund:
Town capital funds $ 216,778 $ 1,599,525
Small cities program funds 2,400 -
Non-major special revenue funds 110,422 974,123
Non-major capital project funds - 32,667
Non-major permanent funds 1,697 4,765
331,297 2,611,080
Proprietary enterprise funds - 950,811
Proprietary internal service funds 25,841 -
Private purpose trust funds 415 1,225
3 357,553 $ 3,563,116
Town capital funds:
General fund $ 1,599,525 $ 216,778
Small cities program funds:
General fund $ - $ 2,400

Inter fund transfers - Transfers in and out represent budgeted transfers which are not always physically made but need to be
recorded to keep track of the individual fund balances. There were no transfers made by the Town during the current fiscal year
which were significant which have been deemed not to have occurred on a routine basis and which are inconsistent with the
activities of the fund (s) making the transfer (s). The following general fund transfer out amounts were approved at annual town
meeting or subsequent special town meetings. The Board of Finance voted to approve the concept of transferring a portion of the
remaining unspent education budget to the school capital fund in accordance with State legislature section 10-248a though no
current fiscal year amount was approved to be transferred. The following information represents inter fund transfers by individual
major fund and non-major funds in the aggregate. The amounts shown below for general fund transfers out to the non-major special
revenue funds represent each funds portion of the annual tax commitment which is considered each funds specific revenue source
n relation to meeting the defmition of a special revenue fund. The following fund financial statement inter fund transfers are
eliminated in the government-wide financial statements with the exception of proprietary fund transfers which are shown as
transfers on the Statement of activities when present.

Transfers in Transfers out

General fund:

Town capital funds $ - $ 1,844,524

Non-major special revenue funds - -527,105

Non-major permanent funds 409 -

$ 409 $ -2,371,629

Trumbull investment funds:

Non-major special revenue funds $ - $ -90,806
Town capital funds:

General fund $ 1,844,524 $ -
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June 30, 2018

The following schedule shows the capital asset activity for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. Information about the specific
accounting policies of the Town 1n relation to capital assets can be found in item J of note 1 on page 30 of the notes to the financial

statements.

Governmental activities:

Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land and improvements
Construction in progress

Total capital assets not being depreciated

Capital assets being depreciated.
Buildings and improvements
Vehicles
Equipment
Infrastructure

Total capital assets being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation for.
Building and improvements
Vehicles
Equipment
Infrastructure

Total accumulated depreciation

Total capital assets being depreciated (net)

Total capital assets (net)

Balance Balance

07/01/17 Additions Retirements 06/30/18
$ 2,228,189 $ - $ - $ 2,228,189
108,844 - - 108,844
2,337,033 - - 2,337,033
37,093,685 292,504 - 37,386,189
4,416,725 679,511 -137,888 4,958,348
1,449,533 168,921 - 1,618,454
29,760,221 503,519 - 30,263,740
72,720,164 1,644,455 -137,888 74,226,731
-16,664,569 - -930,555 -17,595,124
-2,695,038 36,769 -275,603 -2,933,872
-979,378 - -113,667 -1,093,045
-20,362,570 - -512,648 -20,875,218
-40,701,555 36,769 1,832,473 -42,497,259
32,018,609 1,681,224 -1,970,361 31,729,472
$ 34,355,642 $ 1,681,224 $ -1,970,361 $ 34,066,505

Depreciation expense taken on the governmental activities capital assets of the town are charged by function or department in the
government-wide financial statements During the current fiscal year depreciation was charged to general government - $5,580,
public safety - $181,685, public works - $155,050, health and social - $88,934, education - $888,576 and general infrastructure -
$512,648 for a total current fiscal year depreciation expense amount of $1,832,473.

Business-type activities:
Capital assets being depreciated:

Lebanon Amston Lake Sewage System

Less accumulated depreciation

Total capital assets being depreciated (net)

Component unit:
Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings, vehicles and equipment

Less accumulated depreciation

Total capital assets being depreciated (net)

Balance Balance
07/01/17 Additions Retirements 06/30/18
$ 6,503,574 $ - $ - $ 6,503,574
-346,857 - -86,715 -433,572
$ 6,156,717 $ - $ -86,715 $ 6,070,002
Balance Balance
07/01/17 Additions Retirements 06/30/18
$ 355,747 $ 53,126 $ - $ 408,873
-228,587 - -14,684 -243,271
$ 127,160 $ 53,126 $ -14,684 $ 165,602
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Note 6 - Long-term debt and other liabilities

The long-term debt and other liabilities of the Town are made up of the following individual debt agreements and amounts. Long-
term debt liabilities are shown on the government-wide financial statements as both governmental activities items and business-type
activities items on the statement of net position. They are also shown on the proprietary funds statement of net position within the
fund financial statements of the Town.

Amount due

Balance Balance within
Governmental activities: 07/1/17 Additions Reductions 06/30/18 ore year
Outstanding payables:
$5,750,000 bond payable $ 1,520,000 $ - $ -380,000 $ 1,140,000 $ 380,000
$486,650 note payable 22,112 - -22,112 - -
$294,000 capital lease payable 102,164 - -50,586 51,578 51,578
$104,888 capital lease payable 30,261 - -30,261 - -
$115,000 capital lease payable 65,706 - -39,268 26,438 26,438
$81,823 capital lease payable 62,736 - -30,936 31,800 31,800
Total outstanding payables 1,802,979 - -553,163 1,249,816 489,816
Other liabilities:
Accrued comp. absences - school 34,597 10,384 - 44,981 -
Accrued comp. absences - town 47,045 995 - 48,040 -
Accrued landfill post-closure costs 30,631 - -12,000 18,631 12,000
Pension contribution payable 9,079 - -9,079 - -
Net pension liability 1,007,396 - -158,988 848,408 -
Total OPEB liability 3,194,191 - -31,325 3,162,866 -
Total other liabilities 4,322,939 11,379 -211,392 4,122,926 12,000
Total long-term liabilities $ 6,125,918 $ 11,379 $ -764,555 $ 5,372,742 $ 501,816
Business-type activities:
Outstanding payables:
$5,105,000 bond payable $ 4,426,416 $ - $ -192,724 $ 4,233,692 $ 97,542
Component unit:
Outstanding payables-
$25,200 capital lease payable $ - $ 25,200 $ -8,400 $ 16,800 $ 8,400

Outstanding bonds and notes payable - Governmental activities

$5,750,000 bond payable issued in August of 2005 to finance two school renovation projects and a fire safety

complex project. Annual principal installments range from $385,000 to $380,000 through August of 2021.

Interest on the outstanding principal balance is at a rate of 3.80% $ 1,140,000
Outstanding bonds payable - Business-type activities

$5,105,000 bond payable issued in January of 2013 to finance the Amston Lake sewer construction project.

Annual principal installments are $203,384 through January of 2049. Interest on the outstanding principal
balance 1s at a rate of 2 50%. $ 4,233,692
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The following is a surnmary of the total outstanding bond and notes payable principal and interest cash flow requirements for the
aforementioned bonds and notes payable of the governmental activities and the busmness-type activities of the own for the fiscal
years ending June 30,:

Governmental activities Business-type activities
Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Total

2019 $ 380,000 $ 36,100 $ 416,100 $ 97,542 % 105,842 $ 203,384
2020 380,000 21,660 401,660 99,980 103,404 203,384
2021 380,000 7,220 387,220 102,480 100,904 203,384
2022 - - - 105,042 98,342 203,384
2023 - - - 107,668 95,716 203,384
2024 - 2028 - - - 580,086 436,834 1,016,920
2029 - 2033 - - - 656,314 360,606 1,016,920
2034 - 2038 - - - 742,559 274,361 1,016,920
2039 - 2043 - - - 840,137 176,783 1,016,920
2044 - 2048 - - - 901,884 66,384 968,268
$ 1,140,000 $ 64,980 $ 1,204,980 $ 4233692 $ 1,819,176 $ 6,052,868

Outstanding capital leases payable - Governmental activities:

The Town has a capital lease related to a lease purchase agreement for a portion of the costs for a 2013 FDIC rescue truck. This lease
purchase agreement runs from July of 2013 through July of 2018 with annual payments of $52,629 which includes interest at a rate
of 200%. The gross amount of this truck recorded as a vehicle type capital asset is $511,000 which is made up of $217,00 paid by
the town and the $294,000 capital lease This item is being amortized over a 15 year period and the accumulated amortization
(depreciation) taken as of June 30, 2018 was $177,569. The total annual payment on this lease for the next fiscal year is equal to
approximately $52,630. The amount of this payment representing interest 1s equal to approximately $1,052 leaving the net present
value of future minimum lease payments equaling $51,578.

The Town has a capital lease related to a lease purchase agreement for a portion of the costs for a 2016 International truck. This lease
purchase agreement runs from March of 2016 through February of 2019 with monthly payments of $3,372 which mcludes interest
at a rate of 2.50%. The gross amount of this truck recorded as a vehicle type capital asset is $145,000 which is made up of $30,000
paid by the town and the $115,000 capital lease. This item is being amortized over a 10 year period and the accumulated
amortization (depreciation) taken as of June 30, 2018 was $39,875. The total monthly payments on this lease over the next fiscal year
are equal to approximately $26,974. The amount of these payments representing interest is equal to approximately $536 leaving
the net present value of future minimum lease payments equaling $26,438.

The Town has a capital lease related to a lease purchase agreement for a 2016 CAT 420F2 backhoe loader. This lease purchase
agreement runs from November of 2016 through June of 2019 with monthly payments of $2,682 which includes interest at a rate
of 3.75%. The gross amount of this truck recorded as a vehicle type capital asset is $104,165 whuch is made up of $22,342 paid by
the town and the $81,823 capital lease These items are being amortized over a 15 year period and the accumulated amortization
(depreciation) taken as of June 30, 2018 was $8,680. The total monthly payments on this lease over the next fiscal year are equal to
approximately $32,190 The amount of these payments representing interest is equal to approximately $390 leaving the net present
value of future minimum lease payments equaling $31,800.

Outstanding capital leases payable - Component unit:

The Department has a capital lease related to a lease purchase agreement for a power pro ambulance cot and stair pro. This lease
purchase agreement runs from April of 2018 through April of 2020 with annual principal only payments of $8,400. The gross
amount of this equipment type capital asset is $25,200. This item is being amortized over a 7 year period and the accumulated
amortization (depreciation) taken as of June 30, 2018 was $450. The total annual payment on this lease for the next two fiscal year
is equal to approximately $16,800. The amount of these payment representing interest is equal to approximately $0 leaving the net
present value of future minimum lease payments equaling $16,800.
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Accrued compensated absences

Employees of the Town and the Board of Education are allowed to earn paid absences for vacations and/or sick time. The
employee’s right to be paid for these future vacation and sick time absences are attributable to services already performed and
earned vacation and sick time balances do accumulate. Town accumulated balances are paid when an employee leaves. Therefore,
the probabulity of these benefits being paid can be determined and a liability has been recorded in the accompanying government-
wide financial statements on the statement of net position. School accumulated vacation balances are also paid when employees
leave. However, school accumulated sick balances are only paid when an employee retires. Therefore, the probability of these
school accumulated vacation benefits being paid can be determined and a liability has been recorded in the accompanying
government-wide financial statements on the statement of net position. The probability of school accumulated sick benefits being
paid cannot be determined and therefore no liability for these benefits has been recorded. As of June 30, 2018, school accumulated
sick balances totaled approximately $328,708. A current portion of these recorded liabilities has not been estimated due to the fact
that these benefits (accumulated sick and vacation time) may be used by the employees during the course of the fiscal year or they
may be paid out upon retirement or termination. An estimate could be made based on prior year activity but the Town believes
there are too many variables which could render this estimate useless

Accrued landfill post-closure costs

The Town of Lebanon municipal solid waste landfill was closed in October of 1993 due to new regulations imposed by the United
States Environmental Protection Agency which the town was unable to meet. The cost of capping the landfill was paid for out of
the Town’s annual operating budget. The post-closure monitoring, which will continue for up to 30 years from the date of closure,
will also be paid for out of the Town’s annual operating budget. The Town set up a long-term liability to account for these funds
being set aside for this post-closure care. The expense for this liability was to be recorded in each period based on the landfill
capacity used to date As of June 30, 2018 the amount outstanding for post-closure monitoring was $18,631 which is shown as a
long-tem liability on the government-wide statement of net position. A current portion of this liability has been estimated based
on prior fiscal year amounts.

Pension contribution payable, net pension liability and total OPEB liability

Payables to a defined benefit pension plan include short-term payables for legally or contractually required contributions
outstanding as of the end of the reporting period, as well as long-term payables, such as those arising from amounts assessed to an
individual employer upon joining a multiple-employer pension plan. The net pension liability is measured as the portion of the
actuarial present value of projected benefits that is attributed to past periods of employee service (total pension hability), net of the
pension plan’s fiduciary net position. The pension plan’s fiduciary net position is determined using the same valuation methods
that are used by the pension plan for purposes of preparing its statement of fiduciary net position. The net pension liability is
measured as of a date (measurement date) no earlier than the end of the employer’s prior fiscal year, consistently applied from
period to period. The total OPEB liability is measured as the portion of the actuarial present value of projected benefits that is
attributable to past periods of employee service. The total OPEB liability is measured as of a date (measurement date) no earlier
than the end of the employer’s prior fiscal year and no later then the end of the current fiscal year, consistently applied from period
to period.

Note 7 - Short-term debt

The prior fiscal year outstanding bond anticipation note payable in the amount of $2,240,000 was paid in full with interest at 1.19%
on July 13, 2017 and replaced with the current fiscal year outstanding bond anticipation note payable in the amount of $1,600,000
due July 12, 2018 with interest at 1.35%. Both of these notes have and are being used to finance costs related to the town bridges
project and is recorded as a current liability in both the government-wide financial statements and the fund financial statements.

Note 8 - Interest expense

The total interest expense incurred by the Town during the current fiscal year totaled $166,249. The entire amount of interest
expense incurred was charged to expense. For the governmental activities and funds of the town, $50,897 was shown as a general
fund line item and $4,692 was shown in the Town capital funds relating to the capital leases of the town. For the business-type
activities of the town, $110,660 was shown as part of the WPCA benefit assessment proprietary fund.
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Note 9 - Net position balances - net investment in capital assets

Thenetinvestmentin capital assets net position balance on the government-wide statement of net position consisted of the following
items as of June 30, 2018 for the primary government of the town as well as the discretely presented component unit of the town.
The business-type activities balances shown below can also be found within the fund financial statements on the proprietary funds
statement of net position.

Primary government Component unit
Governmental Business-type Volunteer

activities activities Total fire department

Recorded value of capital assets $ 76,563,764 % 6,503,574 % 83,067,338 $ 408,873
Less accumulated depreciation -42,497,259 -433,572 -42,930,831 -243,271
Book value of capital assets 34,066,505 6,070,002 40,136,507 165,602
Less capital assets related debt 1,249,816 -4,233,692 -5,483,508 -16,800
$ 32,816,689 $ 1,836,310 3 34,652,999 $ 148,802

Note 10 - Net position and fund balances - restricted

The Town has received a number of housing rehabilitation CDBG grants from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban
Development. The purpose of these grants is to provide assistance to low to moderate income residents for addressing housing
needs with a priority being placed on public health and safety code violations and to establish a permanent loan fund using the
proceeds described as follows. Each resident receiving benefits under these grants is required to sign a deferred partially forgivable
promissory note. These notes must be repaid to the Town as prescribed in the agreement with the proceeds being deposited into
the aforementioned loan fund and permanently used by the Town for other stmilar programs Program income including interest
income earned on repaid funds before the funds are reused must be deposited into this loan fund. The principal amount of the loan
will automatically be reduced by 10% on each consecutive anniversary of the note agreement for a maximum of 5 years or 50% of
the original note balance. This annual forgiven portion is shown as a miscellaneous expenditure item and reduces the restricted
net position balance 1n the government-wide financial statements and the restricted fund balance in the fund financial statements.
The residual of this fund is accounted for as restricted net position and fund balance as the Town feels that the recorded revenue
has been earned and is both measurable and available to pay all applicable current liabilities of the program fund. As of June 30,
2018, the following balances represent the loan fund described above.

Cash and restricted cash $ 75,462

Notes receivable (net of allowance) 1,028,234

Accounts payable -24,040

Due to other funds -2,400

Restricted net position and restricted fund balance 1,077,256
$ -

Note 11 - Deficit fund balances

In accordance with GAAP, all deficit fund balances and their nature must be disclosed. As of June 30, 2018, the town capital funds
major fund included one individual project cost center with a deficit fund balance. The town bridges project fund 244 had a
unassigned deficit fund balance of ($196,511). The town bridges project is currently being funded with a short-term bond
anticipation note but is also expected to be financed during an upcoming fiscal year with long-term bonds. As of June 30, 2018, the
town non-major special revenue funds included one individual grant with a unassigned deficit fund balance. The prior fiscal year
Title IT grant had an unassigned deficit fund balance of ($35). This grant deficit is expected to be absorbed by future grant or
miscellaneous revenues As of June 30, 2018, the town non-major permanent funds included two individual funds which had
unassigned deficit fund balances. The Flora Williams scholarship fund had an unassigned deficit fund balance of ($665) and the
Elizabeth Grant scholarship fund had an unassigned deficit fund balance of ($277) both of which represent an expenditure of the
nonspendable portion of the fund balance. These unassigned deficit fund balances may be funded through future investment
earnings or the deficits may continue depending on the amounts expended from the fund.
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Note 12 - Employees' retirement plans
Connecticut Municipal Employees Retirement System

Plan description - The Connecticut Municipal Employees Retirement System is a cost-sharing multiple-employer public employee
retirement system established by the State of Connecticut and administered by the State Retirement Commission to provide pension
benefits to employees of participating municipalities. Chapters 7-425 to 7-451 of the State of Connecticut General Statutes, which
can be amended by legislative action, establishes plan benefits, member contribution rates and other plan provisions. The plan is
considered to be part of the Sate of Connecticut’s financial reporting entity and is included in the State’s financial reports as a
pension trust fund. Those reports can be obtained at www ct.gov.

Municipalities may designate which departments (including elective officers if so specified) are to be covered under the Connecticut
Municipal Employees Retirement System. This designation may be the result of collective bargaining. Only employees covered
under the State Teachers Retirement System may notbe included. There are no minimum age or service requirements Membership
is mandatory for all regular full time employees of participating departments except Police and Fire hired after age 60. The plan
is made up of the following four sub plans.

* General employees with social security

* General employees without social security

¢ Policemen and firemen with social security

¢ Policemen and firemen without social security

Benefits provided - The plan provides retirement, disability and death benefits. General employees are eligible to retire at age 55
with 5 years of continuous service, or 15 years of active aggregate service, or 25 years of aggregate service. The compulsory
retirement age for police and fire members is age 65.

Normal retirement - For members not covered by social security, the benefit is 2% of average final compensation times years of
service. For members covered by social security, the benefit is 1% % of the average final compensation not in excess of the year's
breakpoint plus 2% of average final compensation in excess of the year's breakpoint, times years of service. The maximum benefit
is 100% of average final compensation and the minimum benefit is $1,000 annually. Both the minimum and the maximum include
workers' compensation and social security benefits. If any member covered by social security retires before age 62, the benefit until
age 62 1s reached or a social security disability award is received, the benefit is computed as if the member is not under social
security.

Early retirement - Employees are eligible after 5 years of continuous or 15 years of active aggregate service. The benefitis calculated
on the basis of average final compensation and service to date of termination. Benefits are deferred to the normal retirement age,
or an actuarially reduced allowance may begin at the time of separation.

Disability retirement - Employees are eligible for service-related disability benefits from being permanently or totally disabled from
engaging in the service of the municipality provided such disability has arisen out of and in the course of employment with the
municipality. Disability due to hypertension or heart disease, in the case of firemen and policemen, is presumed to have been
suffered in the line of duty. Disability benefits are calculated based on compensation and service to the date of the disability with
a minimum benefit (including workers' compensation benefits) of 50% of compensation at the time of disability. Employees are
eligible for non-service-related disability benefits with 10 years of service and being permanently or totally disabled from engaging
mn gainful employment in the service of the municipality. Disability benefits are calculated based on compensation and service to
the date of the disability.

Pre-retirement death benefits - The plan offers a lump sum return of contributions with mterest or surviving spouse benefit
depending on length of service.

Contribution requirements - Participating municipalities make annual contributions consisting of a normal cost contribution, a
contribution for the amortization of the net unfunded accrued liability and a prior service amortization payment which covers the
liabilities of the system not met by member contributions. Employees not covered by social security are required to contribute 5%
of their compensation. Employees covered by social security are required to contribute 2 1/4% of their compensation up to the social
security taxable wage base plus 5% of compensation, if any, in excess of such base.
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Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions -
AtJune 30, 2018, the Town is reporting a liability of $848,408 for its proportionate share of the net pension hability. The net pension
liability was measured at June 30, 2017, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by
an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2016. The Town’s proportion of the net pension hability was calculated based on upon the
Town's pro rata share of the 2016 actuarial (expected) payroll amounts as reported by participating employers. Expected payroll
adjusts actual payroll for known changes in the status of employees, annualized salaries for partial year employees and anticipated
salary increases. At June 30, 2018, the Town’s proportion was .513251 percent. There was no current year change in proportion

For the year ended June 30, 2018, the Town's actuarial determined pension expense as a percentage of the total plan pension expense
was $213,376 At June 30, 2018, the Town reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred

outflows of inflows of

resources resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $ 16,129 $ -
Changes of assumptions - -
Changes in proportional share of employer 40,745 -
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on Plan investments 67,937 -
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 163,855 -
Total $ 288,666 $ -

The $163,855 of deferred outflows of resources resulting from the Town's contributions subsequent to the measurement date will
be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ending June 30, 2019. Other amounts reported as deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Fiscal year ended June 30:

2019 $ 41,138
2020 83,400
2021 36,805
2022 -36,532

$ 124,811

Actuarial assumptions - The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2017, using the
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement.:

Inflation 3.25%

Salary increases 4.25% to 11.00%, including inflation

Investment rate of return 8.00%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation

Mortality rates Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table for

annuitants and non-annuitants with a one-year set forward for males and a
one-year set back for females.

Future cost of living adjustments Future Cost-of-Living adjustments for members who retire on or after January
1, 2002 are 60% of the annual increase in the CPI up to 6%. The minimum
annual COLA is 2.5% and the maximum is 6%.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2016 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience study for the
period July 1, 2007 - June 30, 2012.
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Long-term rate of return - The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a statistical
analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment
expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate
of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected
mflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the plan’s target asset allocation are

summarized in the following table:

Long-term

Target expected real
Asset class allocation rate of return
Large cap U.S. equities 16 0% 5.8%
Developed non U.S. equities 14.0% 66%
Emerging markets (non U.S.) 7.0% 8.3%
Core fixed income 8.0% 1.3%
Inflation linked bond fund 5.0% 1.0%
Emerging markets bond fund 8.0% 3.7%
High yield bonds 14.0% 39%
Real estate 7.0% 51%
Private equity 10 0% 7.6%
Alternative investments 8.0% 4.1%
Liquidity fund 3.0% 04%

Total 100.0%

Discount rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 8.00%. The projection of cash flows used to
determine the discountrate assumed that plan member coniributions will be made at the current contribution rate and thatemployer
contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate
Based on those assumptions, the pension plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future
benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was
applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the Town's proportionate share of the net pension liabilities to changes in the discount rate - The following
presents the Town’s proportionate share of the net pension liability, calculated using the discount rate of 8 00%, as well as what the
Town’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that1s 1 percentage point
lower (7.00%) or 1 percentage point higher (9.00%) than the current rate:

1% Current 1%
Decrease discount rate Increase
(7.00%) (8.00%) (9.00%)
Town's proportionate share of the net pension hability $ 1,450,048 $ 848,408 $ 338,105

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Detailed information about the Connecticut Municipal Employees Retirement System plan's
fiduciary net position is available in the separately 1ssued State of Connecticut Comprehensive Annual Financial Report as of and

for the year ended June 30, 2017 available at www.ct.gov.

Other Information - Additional information is included in the required supplementary information section of the financial
statements.

47



Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Notes to the basic financial statements
June 30, 2018

Note 13 - Employees' retirement plans
Connecticut Teachers” Retirement System

Plan description - Teachers, principals, superintendents or supervisors engaged 1n service of public schools are provided with
pensions through the ConnecticutState Teachers' Retirement System, a cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan
administered by the Teachers Retirement Board. Chapter 167a of the State Statutes grants authority to establish and amend the
benefit terms to the Teachers Retirement Board. The Teachers Retirement Board issues a publicly available financial report that can
be obtained at www.ct.gov.

Benefits provided - The plan provides retirement, disability and death benefits. Employees are eligible to retire at age 60 with 20
years of credited service in Connecticut, or 35 years of credited service including at least 25 years of service in Connecticut. In
relation to normal retirement, retirement benefits for employees are calculated as 2% of the average annual salary times the years
of credited service (maximum benefit is 75% of average annual salary during the 3 years of highest salary). In addition, amounts
derived from the accumulation of 1% contributions made prior to July 1, 1989 and voluntary contributions are payable. In relation
to early retirement, employees are eligible after 25 years of credited service including 20 years of Connecticut service, or age 55 with
20 years of credited service including 15 years of Connecticut service. Benefit amounts are reduced by 6% per year for the first 5
years preceding normal retirement age and 4%, per year for the next 5 years preceding the normal retirement age. Effective July 1,
1999, the reduction for individuals with 30 or more years of service is 3% per year as retirement precedes normal retirement date.
In relation to disability retirement, employees are eligible for service-related disability benefits regardless of length of service. Five
years of credited service is required for non-service related disability eligibility. Disability benefits are calculated as 2% of average
annual salary times credited service to date of disability, but not less than 15% of average annual salary, nor more than 50% of
average annual salary. In addition, disability benefits under this plan (without regard to cost-of-living adjustments) plus any initial
award of social security benefits and workers' compensation cannot exceed 75% of average annual salary.

In relation to minimum benefits, effective January 1, 1999, Public Act 98-251 provides a minimum monthly retirement benefit of
$1,200 to teachers who retire under the Normal Benefit provisions and who have completed atleast 25 years of full time Connecticut
service at retirement. In relation to prorated benefits, A plan member who leaves service and has attained 10 years of service will
be entitled to 100% of the accrued benefit as of the date of termination of covered employment. Benefits are payable at age 60 and
early retirement reductions are based on the number of years of service the member would have had if they had continued to work
until age 60. In relation to pre-retirement death benefits, the plan also offers a lump sum return of contribution with interest or
surviving spouse benefit depending on the length of service.

Contribution requirements - Per Connecticut General Statutes Section 10-183z (which reflects Public Act 79-436 as amended),
contribution requirements of active employees and the State of Connecticut are approved, amended and certified by the State
Teachers Retirement Board and appropriated by the General Assembly. The statutes require the State of Connecticut to contribute
100% of each school districts' required contributions, which are actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with
employee contributions, is expected to finance the costs of the benefits earned by employees during the year, with any additional
amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. School District employers are not required to make contributions to the plan.
Effective July 1, 1992, each teacher is required to contribute 6% of salary for the pension benefit. Effective January 1, 2018, the
required contribution increased to 7% of the pensionable salary.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions -
The Town reports no amounts for its proportionate share of the net pension liability, and related deferred outflows and inflows due
to the statutory requirement that the State pay 100%, of the required contribution. The amounts recognized by the Town as 1ts
proportionate share of the net pension liability, the related state support, and the total portion of the net pension liability that was
associated with the Town were as follows. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2017, and the total pension liability
used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2016 At June 30, 2018, the Town
has no proportionate share of the net pension liability. For the year ended June 30, 2018, the Town recognized pension revenue and
expense of $2,670,539 for on-behalf amounts for the benefits provided by the State.

Town's proportionate share of the net pension liability $ -
State's proportionate share of the net pension liability associated with the Town 23,087,407
Total $ 23,087,407
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Actuarial assumptions - The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2017, using the following
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 2.75%

Salary increases 3.25% to 6.50%, including inflation

Investment rate of return 8.00%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation
Administrative expenses $0 assumption as expenses are paid for by the General Assembly

Mortality rates Mortality rates were based on the RPH-2014 White Collar table with employee and

annuitant rates blended from ages 50 to 80, projected to the year 2020 using the BB
improvement scale

Future cost-of-living mcreases for teachers who retired prior to September 1, 1992, are made in accordance with increases in the
Consumer Price Index, with a minimum of 3% and a maximum of 5% per annum. For teachers who were members of the Teachers’
Retirement System before July 1, 2007, and retire on or after September 1, 1992, pension benefit adjustments are made that are
consistent with those provided for Social Security benefits on January 1 of the year granted, with a maximum of 6% per annum. If
the return on assets in the previous year was less than 8 5%, the maximum increase is 1 5%. For teachers who were members of the
Teachers’ Retirement System after July 1, 2007, pension benefit adjustments are made that are consistent with those provided for
Social Security benefits on January 1 of the year granted, with a maximum of 5% per annum. If the return on assets in the previous
year was less than 11.5%, the maximum increase is 3%, and if the return on the assets in the previous year was less than 8.5%, the
maximum increase is 1 0%.

Long-term rate of return - The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a log-normal
distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan
investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term
expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding
expected inflation The target asset allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major class are
summarized in the following table:

Long-term

Target expected real
Asset class allocation rate of return
Large cap U.S. equities 21.0% 58%
Developed non U.S. equities 18.0% 6.6%
Emerging markets (non U.S) 9.0% 8.3%
Real estate 7.0% 5.1%
Private equity 11.0% 7.6%
Alternative investments 8.0% 4.1%
Core fixed income 7.0% 1.3%
High yield bonds 5.0% 3.9%
Emerging markets bond fund 5.0% 3.7%
Inflation linked bond fund 3.0% 10%
Cash 6.0% 0.4%

Total 100.0%

Discount rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension hability was 8.00%. The projection of cash flows used to
determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that State
contributions will be made at the actuarially determined contribution rates in the future years. Based on those assumptions, the
pension plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
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Sensitivity of the Town's proportionate share of the net pension liabilities to changes in the discount rate - The Town’'s
proportionate share of the net pension liability is $0 and, therefore, the change mn the discount rate would only impact the amount
recorded by the State of Connecticut.

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the
separately issued financial statements available at www.ct gov.

Other Information - Additional information is included in the required supplementary information section of the financial
statements. A schedule of contributions is not presented as the Town has no obligation to contribute to the plan.

Note 14 - Other Post Employment Benefits - OPEB
Connecticut Teachers” Retirement System

Plan description - The faculty and professional personnel of the Town's Board of Education participates in the State of Connecticut’s
Teachers’ Retirement System (“TRS”), which is a cost sharing multiple employer defined benefit pension plan that provides
retirement, disability, survivorship and health insurance benefits to plan members and their beneficiaries The TRS is governed by
Connecticut General Statue (“CGS”) Title 10, Chapter 167a and is administered by the Connecticut State Teachers’ Retirement Board
(the “Board”) The OPEB trust fund is included in the TRS, and the TRS is included in the State of Connecticut audit as a pension
trust fund

Benefits provided - The Plan covers retired teachers and administrators of public schools in the State who are receiving benefits
from the Plan. The Plan provides healthcare msurance benefits to eligible retirees and their spouses. Any member that is currently
receiving a retirement or disability benefit through the Plan s eligible to participate in the healthcare portion of the Plan. Subsidized
Local School District Coverage provides a subsidy paid to members still receiving coverage through their former employer and the
TRB Sponsored Medicare Supplemental Plans provide coverage for those participating in Medicare, but not receiving Subsidized
Local School District Coverage.

Any member thatis not currently participating in Medicare Parts A & B is eligible to continue health care coverage with their former
employer. A subsidy of up to $110 per month for a retired member plus an additional $110 per month for a spouse enrolled in a local
school district plan is provided to the school district to first offset the retiree’s share of the cost of coverage, any remaming portion
is used to offset the district’s cost. The subsidy amount is set by statute, and has not increased since July of 1996. A subsidy amount
of $220 per month may be paid for a retired member, spouse or the surviving spouse of a member who has attained the normal
retirement age to participate in Medicare, is not eligible for Part A of Medicare without cost, and contributes at least $220 per month
towards coverage under a local school district plan.

Any member that 1s currently participating in Medicare Parts A & B is eligible to either continue health care coverage with their
former employer, if offered, or enroll in the plan sponsored by the System. If they elect to remain in the plan with their former
employer, the same subsidies as above will be paid to offset the cost of coverage If a member participating in Medicare Parts A &
B so elects, they may enroll in one of the CTRB Sponsored Medicare Supplemental Plans. Active members, retirees, and the State
pay equally toward the cost of the basic coverage {medical and prescription drug benefits). Employees are eligible to retire at age
60 with 20 years of credited service n Connecticut, or 35 years of credited service including at least 25 years of service in
Connecticut

Contributions - Per CGS 10 183z, which reflects Public Act 79 436 as amended), contribution requirements of active employees and
the State of Connecticut are amended and certified by the TRB and appropriated by the General Assembly. The State pays for one
third of plan costs through and annual appropriation in the General Fund. School district employers are not required to make
contributions to the Plan. The cost of providing plan benefits is financed on a pay as you go basis as follows: active teachers’ pay
for one third of the Plan costs through a contribution of 1.25% of their pensionable salaries, and retired teachers pay for one third
of the Plan costs through monthly premiums, which helps reduce the cost of health insurance for eligible retired members and
dependents. Administrative costs of the Plan are to be paid by the General Assembly per Section 10-183r of the Connecticut General
Statutes
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OPEB liabilities, OPEB expense, deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB - The Town
reports no amounts for its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability, and related deferred outflows and inflows due to the
statutory requirement that the State pay 100%, of the required contribution. The amounts recognized by the Town as its
proportionate share of the net OPEB liability, the related state support, and the total portion of the net OPEB liability that was
associated with the Town were as follows. The net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2017, and the total OPEB liability
used to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2016. At June 30, 2018, the Town
has no proportionate share of the net OPEB liability. For the year ended June 30, 2018, the Town recognized OPEB revenue and
expense of $275,402 for on-behalf amounts for the benefits provided by the State

Town's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability $ -
State's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability associated with the Town 5,942,421
Total $ 5,942,421

Actuarial assumptions and other inputs - The total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2016
using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 2.75%

Real wage growth 0.50%

Wage inflation 3.25%

Salary increases 3.25% - 6.50%, including inflation

Long-term investment rate of return 2.75%, net of OPEB plan investment expense, including inflation

Discount rate 3.56% as of June 30, 2017 which is equal to the published Bond Buyer Go 20-Bond
Municipal Index rate as of the measurement date

Healthcare cost trend rates 7.25% for 2017, decreasing .50% per year, to an ultimate rate of 5.00% for 2022 and
later

Mortality rates Mortality rates were based on the RPH-2014 White Collar table with employee

and annuitant rates blended from ages 50 to 80, projected to the year 2020 using
the BB improvement scale.

Long-term rate of return - The long-term expected rate of return on plan assets is reviewed as part of the GASB 75 valuation process.
Several factors are considered in evaluation the long-term rate of return assumption, including the Plan’s current asset allocations
and a log-normal distribution analysis using the best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected return, net
of investment expense and inflation) for each major asset class. The long-term expected rate of return was determined by weighing
the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and then adding expected inflation. The assumption
isnot expected to change absent a significant change in the asset allocation, a change in the inflation assumption, or a fundamental
change in the market that alters expected returns in future years. The target asset allocation and best estimates of geometric real
rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Expected 10-Year

Target geometric real Standard
Asset class allocation rate of return deviation
U.S. Treasuries (cash equivalents) 100 0% 0.04% 2.79%
Price inflation 2.75%
Expected rate of return (rounded nearest 0 25%) 2.75%
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Discountrate - The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 3.56 %. The projection of cash flows used to determine
the discount rate was performed in accordance with the applicable standards. The projection’s basis was an actuarial valuation
performed as of June 30, 2016. In addition to the actuarial methods and assumptions of the June 30, 2016 actuarial valuation, the
following actuarial methods and assumptions were used in the projection of cash flows:

*  Total payroll for the initial projection year consists of the payroll of the active membership present on the valuation date. In
subsequent projection years, total payroll was assumed to increase annual at a rate of 3.25%.

*  Employee contributions were assumed to be made at the current member contribution rate.

*  Employee contributions for future plan members were used to reduce the estimated amount of total service costs for future
plan members.

*  No future employer contributions were assumed to be made.

*  Forfuture plan members, contribution inflows were further reduced by the esttmated amount of total service costs for future
plan members not financed by their member contributions.

Based on those assumptions, the Plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be depleted m 2018 and, as a result, the Municipal
Bond Index Rate was used in the determination of the single equivalent rate.

Sensitivity of the Town’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate and changes in the
healthcare cost trend rates - The Town’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability is $0 and, therefore, the change in the discount
rate and the healthcare cost trend rates would only impact the amount recorded by the State of Connecticut.

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position and other information - Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position
is available in the separately issued financial statements available at www.ct.gov.

Other Information - Additional information is included in the required supplementary information section of the financial
statements. A schedule of contributions is not presented as the Town has no obligation to contribute to the plan.

Note 15 - Other Post Employment Benefits - OPEB
Post-Retirement Healthcare Plan

Plan description - The Board of Education of the Town provides a single employer defined benefit healthcare plan (the “Plan”) to
its employees upon retirement in the form of the ability to be part of the health insurance plan while paying the full amount of the
premium charged for active employees and receiving no physical subsidy from the Town. As aresult, the Town does not have an
explicit liability for these post-employment benefits because retirees pay the full health insurance premium. However, the Town
does have an implicit rate subsidy that recognizes the expected higher health costs atiributed to retirees. The provisions of the Plan
were established by the Board of Education along with the respective bargaining units of each group in conjunction with all
applicable state statutes. The Plan therefore would be amended through the action of these same groups. These benefits will
continue for the life of the retiree and the retiree’s spouse once they are a part of the Plan. The Plan does notissue a publicly available
financial report and is not included in the financial statements of another entity.

Benefits provided - The OPEB Plan provides a benefit for retired teachers and administrators. Non-certified Board employees are
eligible to participate in the Plan upon reaching age 55 with at least 5 years of service or upon 25 years of service. Both the retiree
and the retiree’s spouse are eligible to participate in the Plan and they must pay 100% of the cost for medical coverage. A number
of different plan coverages are available. Certified Board employees are eligible to participate in the Plan upon reaching age 50 with
atleast 25 years of service, age 55 with at least 20 years of service or age 60 with atleast 10 years of service. Both the retiree and the
retiree’s spouse are eligible to participate in the Plan and they must pay 100% of the cost for medical coverage. A number of
different plan coverages are available. Surviving spouses are permitted to continue coverage after the death of the retiree, but are
responsible for continuing to pay the same monthly premium amount or percentage that was being paid while the retiree was alive.
The funding and payment for these postemployment benefits are accounted for within the Board of Education budget within the
general fund of the Town on a pay-as-you-go basis.
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Employees covered by benefit terms - The following employees were covered by the benefit terms of the Plan as of July 1, 2016,

the date of the last actuarial valuation.

Participant
count
Active plan members 132
Inactive plan members or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 10
Inactive plan members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 0
142

Total OPEB liability - The Town's total OPEB liability was $3,162,866 as of June 30, 2018. The July 1, 2016 actuarial valuation
directly calculated the July 1, 2016 liability. The July 1, 2016 liability was increased by service cost and interest and decreased by
benefit payments to estimate the total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2018. The liability as of June 30, 2018 was also adjusted to reflect
any material plan changes after the valuation, if applicable.

Actuarial assumptions and other inputs - The total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2018 was determined using the following actuarial
assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified.

Actuarial valuation date
Actuarial cost method
Amortization method
Amortization period
Asset valuation method
Actuarial assumptions

Inflation

Discount rate

Rate of compensation increase
Healthcare cost trend rates

Mortality rates

July 1, 2016 as adjusted for June 30, 2018 reporting
Entry age normal

Level percentage of salary

30 years on an open basis, as a level dollar amount
Not applicable as this is an unfunded plan

2 60%

3.87% as of June 30, 2018 which is equal to the published Bond Buyer Go 20-Bond
Municipal Index effective as of June 30, 2018.

260%

7.50% for 2016, decreasing .50% per year, to an ultimate rate of 4.60% for 2022 and
later

RP-2014 adjusted to 2006 Total Dataset Mortality Table projected to valuation date
with Scale MP-2016

Changes in the total OPEB liability - The changes in the total OPEB liability of the Plan are made up of the following items as of

June 30, 2018:
Total OPEB
liability
Balance as of June 30, 2017 - restated $ 3,194,191
Changes for the year:

Service cost 72,176
Interest 115,194
Differences between expected and actual experience -17,430

Changes of benefit terms -
Changes of assumptions -103,082
Benefit payments -98,183
Net changes -31,325
Balance as of June 30, 2018 $ 3,162,866
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Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate - The following presents the total OPEB liability of the Town,
as well as what the Town’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower
(2 87%) or 1 percentage point higher (4.87%) than the current discount rate:

1% Current 1%
Decrease discount rate Increase
(2.87%) (3.87%) (4.87%)
Total OPEB liability $ 3,540,078 $ 3,162,866 $ 2,841,952

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates - The following presents the total OPEB liability
of the Town, as well as what the Town's total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are
1 percentage point lower or 1 percentage point higher than the current healthcare cost trend rates:

1% Current 1%
Decrease trend rates Increase
(6.50% decreasing (7.50% decreasing (8.50% decreasing
to 3.60%) t0 4.60%) t0 5.60%)
Total OPEB liability $ 2,819,165 $ 3,162,866 $ 3,575,164

OPEB expense and Deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB - For the year ended June 30, 2018, the Town's
actuarial determined OPEB expense was $149,880. AtJune 30,2018, the Town reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred

outflows of inflows of

resources resources
Differences between expected and actual experience $ - 3 15,075
Changes of assumptions - 89,152
Total $ - $ 104,227

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred mflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in the
actuarial determined OPEB expense as follows:

Fiscal year ended June 30:

2019 $ -16,285
2020 -16,285
2021 -16,285
2022 -16,285
2023 -16,285
Thereafter -22,802

$ -104,227
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Note 16 - Risk management, commitments and contingencies

The Town is at risk of loss due to items such as lawsuits, automobile claims, and theft. The Town has purchased commercial
insurance coverage for any of these types of loss which may occur. The Town believes the amounts of coverage in force are adequate
and in compliance with all applicable laws, rules, and regulations The Town is a member in the Connecticut Inter-local Risk
Management Agency (CIRMA), a public entity risk management program pursuant to the provisions of Section 7-479a of the
Connecticut General Statutes for workers compensation pool coverage. The Town pays annual premiums for its coverage. CIRMA
1s designed to be self-sustaining through member premium’s, however it does reinsure for each claim occurrence in excess of
$1,000,000. Members may be subject to supplemental assessments in the event of fund deficiencies, however, these potential
supplemental assessments are limited pursuant to its by-laws. The Town has not had any significant reductions in insurance
coverage from the prior fiscal year by major category of risk. The amount of settlements have not exceeded insurance coverage
during any of the previous three fiscal years. Town management and legal counsel are unaware of any litigation, pending litigation,
claims or disputes that would have a direct and material affect on the Town’s financial position.

The Town and Board of Education of the Town lease a number of photocopiers under lease agreements which are classified as
operating leases. The first lease agreement for the school is for a period of five years through June of 2023 with monthly payments
of $946 which equals annual payments of $11,352. The second lease agreement for the school is for a period of five years through
September of 2020 with monthly payments of $1,165 which equals annual payments of $13,980. The first lease agreement for the
town s for a period of five years through February of 2022 with monthly payments of $246 which equals annual payments of $2,952.
The second lease agreement for the town is for a period of five years through February of 2023 with monthly payments of $236
which equals annual payments of $2,832. The third lease agreement for the town is for a period of five years through July of 2020
with monthly payments of $210 which equals annual payments of $2,520 The senior van program of the Town is also leasing a van
under a lease agreement which is being classified as an operating lease. The lease agreement is for a period of three years through
May of 2020 with monthly payments of $464 which equals annual payments of $5,568. The Town and the Board of Education have
a number of other immaterial operating type lease agreements which have not been included here.

The Board of Education has entered into a number of maintenance and service agreements prior to the end of the current fiscal year
which extend beyond the end of the current fiscal year. The Board entered into a bus transportation agreement for the purpose of
providing transportation services for the school children of the Town of Lebanon in compliance with local policies and legal
requirements. This agreementincludes both typeIand typeIlbuses as outlined in the agreement and runs fromJuly 1, 2018 through
June 30, 2023. Payment terms are based on specific daily and hourly rates for regular route hours and trips and non-route hours
and trips, however, the base annual contact amounts included in the agreement are $824,906, $853,785, $883,651, $918,135 and
$953,923, respectively. The Board entered into a one year contract for a working facilities manager and a general maintenance
technician through June 30, 2018 with two one year optional extensions at annual costs of $257,616, $261,468 and $265,380,
respectively. The Board entered into a one year turf and landscaping contract through June 30, 2019 at an annual cost of $49,428.
The Board entered into three year refuse and recycling agreements through June 30, 2021 relating to each of the three schools at a
combined annual base cost of $24,179. The Board entered into a one year agreement through June 30, 2019 with the option of two
additional one year renewal periods for management services related to the school lunch program. The monthly management fee
is $523 for ten months at a total cost of $5,230 and a monthly administrative fee of $2,095 for ten months at a total cost of $20,950.
The Board entered into a three year athletic training services agreement through June 30, 2019 at an annual cost of $18,900. The
Board entered into a one year facilities management system, system support services and temperature control agreement through
June 30, 2019 at a cost of $17,568. The Board entered into a two year internet service agreement through June 30, 2019 at an annual
cost of $14,400

The Town has entered into a number of maintenance and service agreements prior to the end of the current fiscal year which extend
beyond the end of the current fiscal year. The Town entered into a two year mowing and grounds maintenance contract through
December 1, 2018 at an annual cost of $17,495 payable in nine equal monthly installments. The Town entered into a two year
cemetery maintenance contract through November 1, 2018 at an annual cost of $16,500 payable in nine equal monthly installments.
The town clerks office entered into a three year hosted services contract through August 31, 2019 with monthly payments of $1,315
atanannual costof $15,780. The Town entered into a one year managed supportservices and software resources agreement through
June 30, 2019 at a cost of $15,168. The Town entered into two one year cleaning services contracts each through June 30, 2019 ata
cost of $13,640 and $10,404. The Town and the Board of Education entered into a one year agreement through June 30, 2019 to
purchase heating o1l, diesel fuel and gasoline at agreed upon per gallon rates, excluding applicable taxes, for a specified minimum
number of gallons. Heating fuel will be purchased at a rate of $2.1604 for a minimum of 89,600 gallons or $193,572. Diesel fuel will
be purchase at a rate of $2.1539 for a minimum of 46,000 gallons or $99,079. Gasoline will be purchased at a rate of $2.1437 for a
minimum of 18,000 gallons or $38,587. The Town and Board of Education have a number of other smaller contracts and
maintenance and service agreements. These agreements are considered individually immaterial. Additional information on these
contracts and other agreements can be found at the administrative offices of both the Town and the Board of Education.
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The Town participates in numerous Federal and State grant programs, which are governed by various rules and regulations of the
grantor agencies. Costs charged to the respective grant programs are subject to audit and adjustment by the grantor agencies;
therefore, to the extent that the Town has not complied with the rules and regulations governing the grants, refunds of any monies
received as of and through June 30, 2018 may be impaired. In the opinion of the management of the Town, there are no unrecorded
significant contingent liabilities relating to compliance with the rules and regulations governing the respective grants, therefore,
no provision has been recorded in the accompanying basic financial statements for such possible contingencies In addition, the
Town occasionally books unbilled accounts receivable representing earned or recognized grant or contract dollars which have not
yet been billed or received. Any subsequent modification or amendments to these grants or contracts could result in a loss to the
Town. However, in the opinion of the management of the Town there are no unrecorded significant contingent liabilities in regard
to these unbilled accounts receivable. Any material subsequent modifications or amendments would be shown by the Town as a
restatement of the prior fiscal year results in which the applicable unbilled receivable had been booked.

Note 17 - Implementation of Accounting Standards

Effective July 1, 2017, the Town adopted the provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 81,
Irrevocable Sphit Interest Agreements, GASB Statement No. 85, Omibus 2017, and GASB Statement No 86, Certain Debt Extinguishment
Issues. The adoption of these statements did not have a material effect on the Town’s financial statements.

Effective July 1, 2017, the Town adopted the provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 75,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. GASB Statement No. 75 established standards for
recognizing and measuring liabilities, deferred outflows and inflows of resources, and expenses/ expenditures for postemployment
benefits other than pensions This standard identifies the methods and assumptions that are required to be used to project benefit
payments, discount projected benefit payments to their actuarial present value, and attribute that present value to periods of
employee service. In addition, this statement provides for certain required supplementary information and note disclosures about
post employment benefits other than pensions. This liability relates to the Post-Retirement Healthcare Plan administered by the
Board of Education of the Town. The Town has reported the following cumulative effect of applying GASB Statement No 75 as
a prior period adjustment of beginning net position balance of the governmental activities as of July 1, 2017 as shown on the
statement of activities. Additional comparative balances within the notes to the financial statements as well as the management
discussion and analysis section were also restated as a result of this change when possible. Inaddition, an adjustment was necessary
to correct prior period recorded town pension contributions.

Governmental
activities

Net position - July 1 $ 43,146,529
Adjustment to remove the net other postemployment benefit

obligation recognized under GASB Statement No. 45 1,962,100
Adjustment to record net other postemployment liability

recognized under GASB Statement No. 75 -3,194,191
Adjustment to correct recorded town pension contributions

in accordance with GASB Statement No. 68 13,403
Net position - July 1 - restated 3 41,927,841

Note 18 - Recently issued accounting standards

In November 2016, the GASB issued Statement No. 83, Certain Asset Retirement Obligations. This Statement addresses accounting and
financial reporting for certain asset retirement obligations. (AROs). An ARO 1s a legally enforceable liability associated with the
retirement of a tangible capital asset. A government that has legal obligations to perform future asset retirement activities related
to its tangible capital assets should recognize a liability based on the guidance in this Statement which (1) establishes criteria for
determining the timing and pattern of recognition of a liability and a corresponding deferred outflow of resources for AROs, (2)
requires the measurement of an ARO to be based on the best estimate of the current value of outlays expected to be mncurred, and
(3) requires the current value of a government’s AROs to be adjusted for the effects of general inflation or deflation atleast annually.
The requirements of this statement are effective for the Town’s reporting period beginning July 1, 2019. The Town does not currently
expect this statement to have a material effect on its financial statements.
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In January 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities The objective of this Statement is to improve guidance
regarding the identification of fiduciary activities for accounting and financial reporting purposes and how those activities should
be reported. This Statement establishes criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local governments. The focus of
the criteria generally 1s on (1) whether a government is controlling the assets of the fiduciary activity and (2) the beneficiaries with
whom a fiduciary relationship exists. Separate criteria are included to identify fiduciary component units and postemployment
benefit arrangements that are fiduciary activities. The requirements of this statement are effective for the Town’s reporting period
beginning July 1, 2019. The Town has not yet determined the impact that this statement might have on its financial statements.

In June 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases. The objective of this Statement is to better meet the information needs of
financial statement users by improving accounting and financial reporting for leases by governments. Thus Statement increases the
usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that
previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as mnflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment
provisions of the contract. It establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are
financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this Statement, a lessee 1s required to recognize a lease liability and an
mtangible right to use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby
enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about governments’ leasing activities. The requirements of this statement
are effective for the Town's reporting period beginning July 1, 2020. The Town has not yet determined the impact that this statement
might have on its financial statements

In April 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowings and Direct Placements
The primary objective of this Statement is to improve the information that is disclosed in notes to government financial statements
related to debt, including direct borrowings and direct placements. It also clarifies which habilities governments should include
when disclosing information related to debt The requirements of this Statement are effective for the Town's reporting period
beginning July 1, 2018. The Town has not yet determined the impact that this statement might have on its financial statements.

In June 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction Period. The
objective of this Statement are (a) to enhance the relevance and comparability of information about capital assets and the cost of
borrowing for a reporting period and (b) to simplify accounting for interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period.
The requirements of this Statement should be applied prospectively and are effective for the Town’s reporting period beginning
July 1, 2020. The Town has not yet determined the impact that this statement might have on its financial statements.

Note 19 - Subsequent events
The Town has evaluated subsequent events through December 31, 2018, the date to which the financial statements were available

to be issued. The Town entered into a bond anticipation note agreement dated July 12, 2018 to provide interim funding for town
bridges project The amount of the note is $2,600,000 with a maturity date of July 11, 2019 with interest at a rate of 2.45%.
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Town's proportion of the net pension liability

Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Schedule of Town's proportionate share of the net pension hability
Connecticut Municipal Employees Retirement System

Last ten fiscal years (for all years available)

RSI-1

Town's proportionate share of the net pension liability ~ $

Town's covered-employee payroll $

Town’s proportion share of the net pension liability

as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of

the total pension liability

Notes to schedule:

2018 2017 2016 2015
0.513251% 0.513251% 0.479839% 0.479839%
848408 $ 1,007,396 $ 656,951 § 465,732
1,395,698 $ 1,330,633 $ 1,250,271 $ 1,234,868
60.79% 75.71% 52.54% 37.72%
91.68% 88.29% 92.72% 90.48%

Changes in benefit terms and assumptions:

There were no changes in benefit terms. In 2013, rates of mortality, withdrawal, retirement and assumed rates of salary increase
were adjusted to more closely reflect actual and anticipated experience. These assumptions were recommended as part of the
Experience Study for the System for the five year period ended June 30, 2012.

Methods and assumptions used in calculations of actuarial determined contributions:

The following actuarial methods and assumptions were used to determine the most recent contributions reported in that schedule:

Inflation

Salary increases
Investment rate of return

Mortality rates

Future cost of living adjustments

3.25%

4.25% to 11.00%, including inflation

8.00%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table for annuitants
and non-annuitants with a one-year set forward for males and a one-year set back

for females

Future Cost-of-Living adjustments for members who retire on or after January 1,

2002 are 60% of the annual increase in the CPI up to 6%. The minimum annual
COLA is 2 5% and the maximum is 6%
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Schedule of Town contributions

Connecticut Municipal Employees Retirement System
Last ten fiscal years (for all years available)

Contractually required contribution

Contributions in relation to the contractually
required contribution

Contribution deficiency (excess)

Town's covered-employee payroll

Contributions as a percentage of covered
employee payroll

RSI-2

2018 2017 2016 2015
$ 163,855 151,426  $ 142,281 147,937
-163,855 -151,426 -142,281 -147,937
$ - - $ - -
$ 1,395,698 1,330,633  $ 1,250,271 1,234,868
11.74% 11 38% 11.38% 11.98%

59



Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Schedule of Town's proportionate share of the net pension liability
Connecticut Teachers” Retirement System

Last ten fiscal years (for all years available)

Town's proportion of the net pension liability

Town’s proportionate share of the net pension liability

State’s proportionate share of the net pension liability
associated with the Town

Total

Town’s covered-employee payroll

Town's proportion share of the net pension liability
as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of
the total pension liability

Notes to schedule:

Changes in benefit terms and assumptions:

RSI-3

2018 2017 2016 2015
0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
$ - $ - $ - $ -
23,087,407 24,357,391 21,730,557 20,085,545

$ 23,087,407

$ 24,357,391

$ 21,730,557

$ 20,085,545

$ 7,317,885

$ 7,053,387

$ 8,077,364

$ 7785412

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

55.93%

52.26%

59.50%

61.51%

There were no changes mn benefit terms. In 2016, rates of withdrawal, retirement and assumed rates of salary increase were
adjusted to more closely reflect actual and anticipated experience. These assumptions were recommended as part of the Experience
Study for the System for the five year period ended June 30, 2015.

Methods and assumptions used in calculations of actuarial determined

The following actuarial methods and assumptions were used to determine the most recent contributions reported in that schedule:

Inflation 2.75%
Salary increases

Investment rate of return
Administrative expenses

Mortality rates

3.25% to 6.50%, including inflation
8.00%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation

$0 assumption as expenses are paid for by the General Assembly

Mortality rates were based on the RPH-2014 White Collar table with employee and

annuitant rates blended from ages 50 to 80, projected to the year 2020 using the BB
improvement scale
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RSI-4
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Schedule of Town's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability
Connecticut Teachers’ Retirement System
Last ten fiscal years (for all years available)

2018

Town’s proportion of the net OPEB liability 0.00%
Town’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability $ -
State’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability

associated with the Town 5,942,421
Total $ 5942421
Town’'s covered-employee payroll $ 7,317,885
Town’'s proportion share of the net OPEB hability

as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll 0.00%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of

the total pension liability 1.79%

Notes to schedule:

Changes in benefit terms and assumptions:

There were no changes in benefit terms The discount rate was increased from 3.01% to 3.56% to reflect the change in the
Municipal Bond Index rate. Changes were also made to the assumed initial per capita healthcare costs, rates of healthcare inflation
used to project the per capital costs, and the rates of Plan participation based upon recent experience and current expectations. In
addition, the payroll growth rate assumption was decreased from 3.75% to 3.25% to reflect the decrease in the rate of inflation and
the decrease in the rate of real wage increase. Lastly, the salary growth assumption, the payroll growth rate, the rates of
withdrawal, the rates of retirement, the rates of mortality, and the rates of disability incidence were adjusted based upon the
experience study’s findings and their adoption by the TRB Board.

Methods and assumptions used in calculations of actuarial determined

The following actuarial methods and assumptions were used to determine the mostrecent contributions reported in that schedule:

Inflation 2.75%

Real wage growth 050%

Wage inflation 3.25%

Salary increases 3.25% - 6 50%, including inflation

Long-term investment rate of return 2.75%, net of OPEB plan investment expense, including inflation

Discount rate 3.56% as of June 30, 2017 which is equal to the published Bond Buyer Go 20-Bond
Municipal Index rate as of the measurement date

Healthcare cost trend rates 7.25% for 2017, decreasing .50% per year, to an ultimate rate of 5.00% for 2022
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Schedule of changes 1n total OPEB liability
Post-Retirement Healthcare Plan
Last ten fiscal years (for all years available)

Total OPEB liability

Service cost

Interest

Dafferences between expected and actual experience
Changes of benefit terms

Changes of assumptions

Benefit payments

Net change in total OPEB liability
Total OPEB liability - beginning

Total OPEB liability - ending
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RSI-5

2018

$ 72,176
115,194
-17,430

-103,082
-98,183

-31,325

3,194,191

$ 3,162,866



Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major governmental funds
As of and for the year ended June 30, 2018

Schedule A

Non-major Non-major Non-major
special revenue capital project  permanent
funds fund funds Totals

Assets
Cash $ 330,347 $ - $ 7,564 337,911
Investments 14,320 - 345,924 360,244
Receivables 52,678 - - 52,678
Inventory and prepaids 13,446 - - 13,446
Due from other funds 975,243 32,667 4,765 1,012,675

Total assets 1,386,034 32,667 358,253 1,776,954
Liabilities
Accrued liabilities 87,911 - - 87,911
Other liabilities 900 - - 900
Due to other funds 110,422 - 2,817 113,239

Total liabilities 199,233 - 2,817 202,050
Fund balance
Nonspendable 13,446 - 319,272 332,718
Restricted 464,337 - 37,106 501,443
Committed 491,896 32,667 - 524,563
Assigned 217,157 - - 217,157
Unassigned -35 - -942 -977

Total fund balance 1,186,801 32,667 355,436 1,574,904
Total liabilities and fund balance $ 1,386,034 $ 32,667 $ 358,253 1,776,954
Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $ 1,174,334 $ - $ - 1,174,334
Interest and investment earnings 1,533 - 5,580 7,113
Charges for services 274,673 - - 274,673
Miscellaneous 113,613 - - 113,613

Total revenues 1,564,153 - 5,580 1,569,733
Expenditures
Salary and wages 930,393 - - 930,393
Program operating costs 1,152,834 20,750 10,607 1,184,191
Capital expenditures 24,213 - - 24,213

Total expenditures 2,107,440 20,750 10,607 2,138,797
Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures -543,287 -20,750 -5,027 -569,064
Other financing sources (uses)

Transfers in 618,486 - - 618,486

Transfers out - - -984 -984
Total other financing sources (uses) 618,486 - -984 617,502
Net change in fund balance 75,199 -20,750 -6,011 48,438
Fund balance - July 1 1,111,602 53,417 361,447 1,526,466
Fund balance - June 30 $ 1,186,801 $ 32,667 $ 355,436 1,574,904
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major special revenue funds

Assets

Cash

Investments

Recervables

Inventory and prepaids

Due from other funds
Total assets

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities
Other liabilities
Due to other funds
Total liabilities

Fund balance
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total fund balance

Total liabilities and fund balance

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues
Interest and investment earnings
Charges for services
Miscellaneous

Total revenues

Expenditures

Salary and wages

Program operating costs

Capital expenditures
Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out

Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balance
Fund balance - July 1

Fund balance - June 30

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2018

Schedule B

Lebanon Krause Lebanon Jonathan Adams
public library recreation Trumbull Jr. community
library donation commission house center

fund - 213 fund - 213 fund - 206 fund - 215 fund - 204
- $ - $ 3,577 $ 40,775 $ -
190,574 6,649 21,984 - 69,462
190,574 6,649 25,561 40,775 69,462
10,807 - 7,645 918 1,019

900 - - - -

- - - 9,287 -
11,707 - 7,645 10,205 1,019

- 6,649 - - -

178,867 - 17,916 30,570 68,443

178,867 6,649 17,916 30,570 68,443

190,574 $ 6,649 $ 25,561 $ 40,775 $ 69,462
1,778 $ - % - 8 - 8 -

- - 1 614 -

- - 44,485 - 2,800
10,479 - 755 25 -
12,257 - 45,241 639 2,800

255,116 - 39,056 10,614 -
86,826 2,056 65,787 10,277 17,346
341,942 2,056 104,843 20,891 17,346
-329,685 -2,056 -59,602 -20,252 -14,546
332,403 - 57,900 16,998 25,465
332,403 - 57,900 16,998 25,465
2,718 -2,056 -1,702 -3,254 10,919
176,149 8,705 19,618 33,824 57,524
178,867 $ 6,649 $ 17,916 $ 30,570 $ 68,443
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Schedule B (continued)
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major special revenue funds

Assets

Cash

Investments

Receivables

Inventory and prepaids

Due from other funds
Total assets

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities
Other liabilities
Due to other funds
Total liabilities

Fund balance
Nonspendable
Restricted
Comumitted
Assigned
Unassigned

Total fund balance

Total liabilities and fund balance

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues
Interest and investment earnings
Charges for services
Miscellaneous

Total revenues

Expenditures

Salary and wages

Program operating costs

Capital expenditures
Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balance

Fund balance - July 1

Fund balance - June 30

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2018

Town Senior Lathrop
improvement Bright idea vans senjor vans Lebanon
program grant program donation dog fund
fund - 208 fund - 208 fund - 221 fund - 231 fund - 205
$ - 5 - 8 144 $ - 5 -
- - - 2,864 -
153,908 2,803 46,733 214 9,372
153,908 2,803 46,877 3,078 9,372
1,924 - 2,761 - 390
1,924 - 2,761 - 390
- 2,803 - - -
151,984 - 44,116 - -
- - - 3,078 8,982
151,984 2,803 44,116 3,078 8,982
$ 153,908 $ 2,803 $ 46,877 % 3,078 $ 9,372
$ - 8 -8 32597 $ - $ -
- - - 30 -
- - 4,784 - 2,519
- 5,000 - - -
- 5,000 37,381 30 2,519
- - 81,051 - -
46,093 2,197 32,411 - 25,038
- - 7,713 - -
46,093 2,197 121,175 - 25,038
-46,093 2,803 -83,794 30 -22,519
100,000 - 65,000 - 20,720
100,000 - 65,000 - 20,720
53,907 2,803 -18,794 30 -1,799
98,077 - 62,910 3,048 10,781
$ 151,984 $ 2,803 $ 44,116 $ 3,078 $ 8,982
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major special revenue funds
As of and for the year ended June 30, 2018

Schedule B (continued)

School Town clerk Town clerk Town clerk
Trumbull lunch historic mers locip
donations program document fees  document fees surcharge
fund - 218 n/a account-2214  account-2214  account- 2215
Assets
Cash $ - 46,533 $ - 8 - % -
Investments - - - - -
Receivables - 26,011 - - -
Inventory and prepaids - 11,946 - - -
Due from other funds 218,893 1,241 24,696 5,080 51,944
Total assets 218,893 85,731 24,696 5,080 51,944
Liabilities
Accrued liabilities - 58,373 - - -
Other liabilities - - - - -
Due to other funds - - - - -
Total liabilities - 58,373 - - -
Fund balance
Nonspendable - 11,946 - - -
Restricted 218,893 - 24,696 5,080 51,944
Committed - - - - -
Assigned - 15,412 - - -
Unassigned - - - - -
Total fund balance 218,893 27,358 24,696 5,080 51,944
Total liabilities and fund balance $ 218,893 85,731 $ 24,696 $ 5,080 $ 51,944
Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $ - 123,739 $ 4,000 $ - $ -
Interest and investment earnings - 15 - - -
Charges for services - 204,612 2,817 1,140 3,276
Miscellaneous 5,000 2,708 - - -
Total revenues 5,000 331,074 6,817 1,140 3,276
Expenditures
Salary and wages - - - - -
Program operating costs 2,920 329,687 4,224 - 1,961
Capital expenditures - - - - -
Total expenditures 2,920 329,687 4,224 - 1,961
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 2,080 1,387 2,593 1,140 1,315
Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in - - - - -
Transfers out - - - - -
Total other financing sources (uses) - - - - -
Net change in fund balance 2,080 1,387 2,593 1,140 1,315
Fund balance - July 1 216,813 25,971 22,103 3,940 50,629
Fund balance - June 30 $ 218,893 27,358 $ 24,696 % 5,080 $ 51,944
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Assets

Cash

Investments

Receivables

Inventory and prepaids

Due from other funds
Total assets

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities
Other liabilities
Due to other funds
Total liabilities

Fund balance
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total fund balance

Total liabilities and fund balance

Revenues
Intergovem_mental revenues
Interest and investment earnings
Charges for services
Miscellaneous

Total revenues

Expenditures

Salary and wages

Program operating costs

Capital expenditures
Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balance

Fund balance - July 1

Fund balance - June 30

Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major special revenue funds
As of and for the year ended June 30, 2018

Schedule B (continued)

Unimproved Agriculture Agriculture Clean bank Fema
town roads viability viability energy storm
grant grant grant grant grants
fund - 207 account -2217  account-2217  account - 2103 fund - 228
- % - % - 8 - 5 -
- 10,274 7,000 - -
43,471 - - - 35,279
43,471 10,274 7,000 - 35,279
- - - - 551
- 10,274 7,000 - -
- 10,274 7,000 - 551
43,471 - - - -
- - - - 34,728
43,471 - - - 34,728
43,471 $ 10,724 % 7,000 $ - $ 35,279
38,234 $ 10274 $ 7,000 $ - % -
38,234 10,274 7,000 - -
- - - - 3,564
13,824 10,274 7,000 1,000 3,937
- - - - 16,500
13,824 10,274 7,000 1,000 24,001
24,410 - - -1,000 -24,001
24,410 - - -1,000 -24,001
19,061 - - 1,000 58,729
43,471 $ - $ - $ - $ 34,728
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Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,

Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Schedule B (continued)

expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major special revenue funds

Assets

Cash

Investments

Receivables

Inventory and prepaids

Due from other funds
Total assets

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities
Other liabilities
Due to other funds
Total liabilities

Fund balance
Nonspendable
Restricted
Comumitted
Assigned
Unassigned

Total fund balance

Total liabilities and fund balance

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues
Interest and investment earnings
Charges for services
Miscellaneous

Total revenues

Expenditures

Salary and wages

Program operating costs

Capital expenditures
Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out

Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balance
Fund balance - July 1

Fund balance - June 30

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2018

Warm hearts Lathrop
donations senior center Miscellaneous Summer

program donation donations dance fest
fund - 209 fund - 231 fund - 230 fund - 216
$ -8 -8 - -
- 11,456 - -
- - 5,226 -

- - - 1,500

73,050 712 1,599 17,579

73,050 12,168 6,825 19,079
- - 1,890 -
- - 1,792 -
- - 3,682 -

- - - 1,500
73,050 - 1,599 -

- 12,168 1,544 17,579

73,050 12,168 3,143 19,079

$ 73,050 $ 12,168 $ 6,825 19,079
$ - $ - $ 5,226 -
- 121 - -
- - 4,340 -

21,008 - - 11,112

21,008 121 9,566 11,112

9,474 - 16,292 11,202

9,474 - 16,292 11,202

11,534 121 -6,726 -90

11,534 121 -6,726 -90

61,516 12,047 9,869 19,169

$ 73,050 $ 12,168 $ 3,143 19,079
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,

Schedule B (continued)

expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major special revenue funds

Assets

Cash

Investments

Receivables

Inventory and prepaids

Due from other funds
Total assets

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities
Other liabilities
Due to other funds
Total liabilities

Fund balance
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total fund balance

Total liabilities and fund balance

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues
Interest and investment earnings
Charges for services
Miscellaneous

Total revenues

Expenditures

Salary and wages

Program operating costs

Capital expenditures
Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balance
Fund balance - July 1

Fund balance - June 30

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2018

Special ed School
Cemetery Historic excess costs educational
lot sales buildings grant grants

fund - 203 fund - 201 fund - 001 fund - 002
39,412 $ 10480 $ - % 89,407
- - - 4,167
39,412 10,480 - 93,574
- - - 1,633
26,245 - - 55,824
26,245 - - 57,457
- - - 36,152

13,167 10,480 - -
- - - -35
13,167 10,480 - 36,117
39412 $ 10,480 $ -5 93,574
- 8 - 8 374,789 $ 576,697

594 158 - -

3,900 - - -
- - - 15,882
4,494 158 374,789 592,579
- - - 540,992
300 - 374,789 40,460
300 - 374,789 581,452
4,194 158 - 11,127
4,194 158 - 11,127
8,973 10,322 - 24,990
13,167 $ 10,480 $ - 5 36,117

69



Schedule B (continued)

Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major special revenue funds
As of and for the year ended June 30, 2018

LES LMS LHS
activity activity activity
accounts accounts accounts
fund - 900 fund - 900 fund - 900 Totals

Assets
Cash $ 19,217 $ 38,760 $ 42,042 % 330,347
Investments - - - 14,320
Receivables - - - 52,678
Inventory and prepaids - - - 13,446
Due from other funds - - - 975,243

Total assets 19,217 38,760 42,042 1,386,034
Liabilities
Accrued liabilities - - - 87,911
Other liabilities - - - 900
Due to other funds - - - 110,422

Total liabilities - - - 199,233
Fund balance
Nonspendable - - - 13,446
Restricted - - - 464,337
Commutted - - - 491,896
Assigned 19,217 38,760 42,042 217,157
Unassigned - - - -35

Total fund balance 19,217 38,760 42,042 1,186,801
Total liabilities and fund balance $ 19,217 $ 38,760 $ 42,042 % 1,386,034
Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $ - $ - $ - $ 1,174,334
Interest and investment earnings - - - 1,533
Charges for services - - - 274,673
Miscellaneous 3,069 7,268 31,307 113,613

Total revenues 3,069 7,268 31,307 1,564,153
Expenditures
Salary and wages - - - 930,393
Program operating costs 2,498 7,553 27,408 1,152,834
Capital expenditures - - - 24,213

Total expenditures 2,498 7,553 27,408 2,107,440
Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures 571 -285 3,899 -543,287
Other financing sources (uses)

Transfers in - - - 618,486

Transfers out - - - -
Total other financing sources (uses) - - - 618,486
Net change in fund balance 571 -285 3,899 75,199
Fund balance - July 1 18,646 39,045 38,143 1,111,602
Fund balance - June 30 $ 19,217 $ 38,760 $ 42,042 % 1,186,801
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Assets

Cash

Investments

Receivables

Inventory and prepaids

Due from other funds
Total assets

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities
Other liabilities
Due to other funds
Total liabilities

Fund balance
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total fund balance

Total liabilities and fund balance

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues
Interest and investment earnings
Charges for services
Miscellaneous

Total revenues

Expenditures

Salary and wages

Program operating costs

Capital expenditures
Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balance
Fund balance - July 1

Fund balance - June 30

Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major permanent funds
As of and for the year ended June 30, 2018

Schedule C

George Cemetery Helen Waterman Flora
Cummings Lyman perpetual Rodgers Wilson Williams
scholarship  scholarship care scholarship library library
fund-231  fund-231  fund-231 fund-231  fund-231  fund-231
$ - % -8 -8 -8 B -
215,897 46,790 11,550 10,802 10,214 7,670
734 159 - - - -
216,631 46,949 11,550 10,802 10,214 7,670
- - 546 108 1,120 -
- - 546 108 1,120 -
197,045 42,705 10,541 10,000 8,360 7,000
19,586 4,244 463 694 734 670
216,631 46,949 11,004 10,694 9,094 7,670
$ 216,631 $ 46,949 $ 11,550 $ 10,802 $ 10,214 $ 7,670
$ - § - % - 8 - 8 - 5 -
3,593 778 192 180 170 128
3,593 778 192 180 170 128
7,074 1,533 - 500 - -
7,074 1,533 - 500 - -
-3,481 -755 192 -320 170 128
- - -371 - -328 -246
- - -371 - -328 -246
-3,481 -755 -179 -320 -158 -118
220,112 47,704 11,183 11,014 9,252 7,788
$ 216,631 $ 46,949 $ 11,004 5 10,694 $ 9,094 $ 7,670
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Schedule C (continued)
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major permanent funds
As of and for the year ended June 30, 2018

Town Lebanon Royal O. Dorothy Elizabeth Flora
deposit school Woodard Hinckley Grant Williams
fund prizes scholarship  scholarship  scholarship scholarship
fund -240  fund - 231 fund - 231 fund-240  fund-231  fund-231

Assets
Cash $ 6,564 $ -5 - 8 - 8 - 8 -
Investments - 7,013 6,342 6,117 4,349 1,768
Receivables - - - - - -
Inventory and prepaids - - - - - -
Due from other funds - 1,000 - - - -

Total assets 6,564 8,013 6,342 6,117 4,349 1,768
Liabilities
Accrued liabilities - - - - - -
Other liabilities - - - - - -
Due to other funds - - 269 - 341 433

Total liabilities - - 269 - 341 433
Fund balance
Nonspendable 6,564 6,400 6,050 5,000 4,285 2,000
Restricted - 1,613 23 1,117 - -
Committed - - - - - -
Assigned - - - - - -
Unassigned - - - - -277 -665

Total fund balance 6,564 8,013 6,073 6,117 4,008 1,335
Total habilities and fund balance $ 6,564 $ 8,013 $ 6,342 % 6,117 $ 4349 $ 1,768
Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
Interest and investment earnings 3 117 107 13 74 32
Charges for services - - - - - -
Miscellaneous - - - - - -

Total revenues 3 117 107 13 74 32
Expenditures
Salary and wages - - - - - -
Program operating costs - - 500 - 500 500
Capital expenditures - - - - - -

Total expenditures - - 500 - 500 500
Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures 3 117 -393 13 -426 -468
Other financing sources (uses)

Transfers in - - - - - -

Transfers out -3 - - - - -
Total other financing sources (uses) -3 - - - - -
Net change in fund balance - 117 -393 13 -426 -468
Fund balance - July 1 6,564 7,896 6,466 6,104 4,434 1,803

Fund balance - June 30

$ 6,564 $ 8,013 $ 6,073 $ 6,117 $ 4,008 $ 1,335
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Non-major permanent funds
As of and for the year ended June 30, 2018

Schedule C (continued)

Local Vernon William Oliver &
school Boothby Taylor Lucille
fund library cemetery Manning
fund-240  fund-240  fund -231 fund - 231 Totals
Assets
Cash $ - $ 1,000 $ - $ - 7,564
Investments - - 1,096 16,316 345,924
Receivables - - - - -
Inventory and prepaids - - - - -
Due from other funds 1,937 - - 935 4,765
Total assets 1,937 1,000 1,096 17,251 358,253
Liabilities
Accrued liabilities - - - - -
Other liabilities - - - - -
Due to other funds - - - - 2,817
Total liabilities - - - - 2,817
Fund balance
Nonspendable 1,937 1,000 1,000 9,385 319,272
Restricted - - 96 7,866 37,106
Committed - - - - -
Assigned - - - - -
Unassigned - - - - -942
Total fund balance 1,937 1,000 1,096 17,251 355,436
Total liabilities and fund balance $ 1,937 $ 1,000 $ 1,096 $ 17,251 358,253
Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $ - 8 -5 - 8 - -
Interest and investment earnings - 1 19 173 5,580
Charges for services - - - - -
Miscellaneous - - - - -
Total revenues - 1 19 173 5,580
Expenditures
Salary and wages - - - - -
Program operating costs - - - - 10,607
Capital expenditures - - - - -
Total expenditures - - - - 10,607
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures - 1 19 173 -5,027
Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in - - - - -
Transfers out - -1 -35 - -984
Total other financing sources (uses) - -1 -35 - -984
Net change in fund balance - - -16 173 -6,011
Fund balance - July 1 1,937 1,000 1,112 17,078 361,447
Fund balance - June 30 $ 1,937 $ 1,000 $ 1,09 $ 17,251 355,436
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Assets

Cash

Investments

Receivables

Inventory and prepaids

Due from other funds
Total assets

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities
Other liabilities
Due to other funds
Total liabilities

Net position
Restricted
Expendable
Non-expendable
Unrestricted
Total net position

Total liabilities and net position

Additions:

Intergovernmental revenues

Schedule D
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Combining Statement of fiduciary net position and Statement
of changes in fiduciary net position - Private purpose trusts
As of and for the year ended June 30, 2018

Jared Mary Kalmon Flegert EL Reichard
Hinckley Chase Kurcinik Ausberger nursing
scholarship fund scholarship library scholarship
fund - 241 fund - 231 fund - 241 fund - 231 fund - 231

- % - % -
8,796 2,803 2,469

746 313

48,253 9,542 6,907 3,116 2,469

- - - - 415

- - - - 415

48,253 9,542 6,907 3,116 2,054

48,253 9,542 6,907 3,116 2,054

$ 48,253 $ 9,542 § 6,907 $ 3,116 $ 2,469

Interest and investment earnings 123 93 18 47 46

Charges for services
Miscellaneous
Total additions

Deductions:
Salary and wages

Program operating costs

Capital expenditures
Total deductions

Transfers
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total transfers
Change in net position

Net position - July 1

Net position - June 30

123 93 18 47 46

1,000 - 350 - 500

1,000 - 350 - 500

-877 93 -332 47 -454

49,130 9,449 7,239 3,069 2,508

$ 48,253 $ 9,542 % 6,907 % 3,116 $ 2,054
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Schedule D (continued)

Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Combining Statement of fiduciary net position and Statement
of changes in fiduciary net position - Private purpose trusts
As of and for the year ended June 30, 2018

Town Richard Robert L.
school Woyasz Hanover

prizes scholarship scholarship
fund - 231 fund - 241 fund - 241

Totals

Assets

Cash $ - $ - $ -
Investments 1,960 925 73
Receivables - - -
Inventory and prepaids -
Due from other funds 166 - -

72,186

1,225

Total assets 2,126 925 73

73,411

Liabilities

Accrued liabilities - - -
Other liabilities - - -
Due to other funds - - -

415

Total liabilities - - _

415

Net position

Restricted
Expendable 2,126 925 73
Non-expendable - - -

Unrestricted

72,996

Total net position 2,126 925 73

72,996

Total liabilities and net position $ 2,126 $ 925 $ 73

73,411

Additions:

Intergovernmental revenues $ - $ - $ -
Interest and investment earnings 20 4 1
Charges for services - - -
Miscellaneous - - -

352

Total additions 20 4 1

352

Deductions:

Salary and wages - - -
Program operating costs - - 350
Capital expenditures - - -

2,200

Total deductions - - 350

2,200

Transfers
Transfers in - - -
Transfers out - - -

Total transfers - - -

Change in net position 20 4 -349

Net position - July 1 2,106 921 422

-1,848

74,844

Net position - June 30 $ 2,126 $ 925 $ 73

$

72,996
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Trumbull Investment funds
As of and for the year ended June 30, 2018

Assets

Cash

Investments

Receivables

Inventory and prepaids

Due from other funds
Total assets

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities
Other liabilities
Due to other funds
Total liabilities

Fund balance
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total fund balance

Total habilities and fund balance

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues
Interest and investment earnings
Charges for services
Miscellaneous

Total revenues

Expenditures

Salary and wages

Program operating costs

Capital expenditures
Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balance

Fund balance - July 1

Fund balance - June 30

Jonathan

Trumbull Jr.

library fund
fund - 231

Adams
community
center fund

fund - 231

Jonathan
Trumbull Jr.
house fund

fund - 231

Sub-Schedule A

Totals

- %
1,509,896

- $
790,603

529,787

2,830,286

1,509,896

790,603

529,787

2,830,286

1,509,896

790,603

529,787

2,830,286

1,509,896

790,603

529,787

2,830,286

$

1,509,896 $

790,603 $

529,787

$ 2,830,286

- 5
25,126

- 8
13,156

8,815

47,097

25,126

13,156

8,815

47,097

25,126

13,156

8,815

47,097

-48,444

-25,365

-16,997

-90,806

-48,444

-25,365

-16,997

-90,806

-23,318

1,533,214

-12,209

802,812

-8,182

537,969

-43,709

2,873,995

$

1,509,896 $

790,603 $

529,787

$ 2,830,286
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Sub-Schedule B
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Town capital funds
As of and for the year ended June 30, 2018

Town Town Town green
Capital & library bridges School quieting
nonrecurring project project capital title project
fund - 220 fund -243  fund - 244 fund - 245 fund - 246 Totals

Assets
Cash $ -5 - % - % - $ - $ -
Investments - - 1,626,626 - - 1,626,626
Receivables 9,019 - - - - 9,019
Inventory and prepaids - - 1,350 - - 1,350
Due from other funds 1,182,888 47,212 - 261,495 107,930 1,599,525

Total assets 1,191,907 47,212 1,627,976 261,495 107,930 3,236,520
Liabilities
Accrued liabilities 120,960 - 6,359 14,283 14,250 155,852
Other liabilities - - 1,600,000 - - 1,600,000
Due to other funds - - 216,778 - - 216,778

Total liabilities 120,960 - 1,823,137 14,283 14,250 1,972,630
Fund balance
Nonspendable - - 1,350 - - 1,350
Restricted - - - - - -
Committed 1,070,947 47,212 - 247,212 93,680 1,459,051
Assigned - - - - - -
Unassigned - - -196,511 - - -196,511

Total fund balance 1,070,947 47,212 -195,161 247,212 93,680 1,263,890

Total liabilities and fund balance $ 1,191,907 $ 47212 $ 1627976 $ 261,495 $ 107,930 $ 3,236,520

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues $ - $ - $ 130487 $ - $ - $ 130,487
Interest and mvestment earnings - - 4,031 - - 4,031
Charges for services - - - - - -
Miscellaneous 71,635 - - - - 71,635
Total revenues 71,635 - 134,518 - - 206,153
Expenditures
Salary and wages - - - - - -
Program operating costs 382,024 - - 34,690 97,663 514,377
Capital expenditures 1,402,702 - 97,258 95,223 - 1,595,183
Total expenditures 1,784,726 - 97,258 129,913 97,663 2,109,560
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures -1,713,091 - 37,260 -129,913 -97,663 -1,903,407
Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 1,584,524 - 260,000 - - 1,844,524
Transfers out - - - - - -
Total other financing sources (uses) 1,584,524 - 260,000 - - 1,844,524
Net change in fund balance -128,567 - 297,260 -129,913 -97,663 -58,883
Fund balance - July 1 1,199,514 47,212 -492,421 377,125 191,343 1,322,773
Fund balance - June 30 $ 1070947 $ 47212 $ 195161 $ 247212 $ 93,680 $ 1,263,890
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General government:
Revaluation

Public safety:

Police car

Police radios

Fire apparatus reserve
Emergency services reserve
Fire exhaust system bays
Lvfd 10,000 gallon water tank
Fire safety garage doors

Fire safety passage doors

Public works:

Paving

Loader & trucks leasing
Tractor & mower leasing
Truck leasing

Truck leasing

Public works building comm.
Garage site assessment

Senior center car port

Public works compact roller
Public works extendable boom
Public works 4 m 1 clam shell
Public works fan unit

Public works leaf blower

CAT 420F2 backhoe

Bobcat A770

Two Ford F-350s

Town tree maintenance

2018 hughway truck and plow
2019 highway truck and plow
2018 highway pickup and plow
Wood and brush chipper
Cemetery repairs

Cemetery road development
Communication infrastructure

Health and social:

Aspinal tennis to basketball
Soccer field design

Tyler field well

Library renovations

Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes
in fund balances - Capital non-recurring fund
As of and for the year ended June 30, 2018

Sub-Schedule C

Fund Fund
balance Annual balance
07/01/17 appropriation  Revenues  Expenditures  Transfers 06/30/18
$ 6019 $ 85,000 $ - 5 -89,766 - $ 1,253
- 60,000 - -49,878 - 10,122
191 - - - -191 -
18,600 52,629 - -52,630 - 18,599
194,308 - 31,434 -193,839 - 31,903
12,880 - - - -12,880 -
20,000 - - - - 20,000
50 - - - -50 -
2,000 - - - - 2,000
248,029 112,629 31,434 -296,347 -13,121 82,624
305,562 460,000 - -343,060 - 422,502
15,230 - - - 15,230 -
17,657 - - - -17,657 -
4,487 36,698 - -15,261 - 25,894
6,049 40,463 - -40,463 - 6,049
16,791 40,000 - -1,789 - 55,002
128 - - - - 128
19,261 - - -19,261 - -
10,300 - - - -10,300 -
1,150 - - - -1,150 -
794 - - - -794 -
5 - - - -5 -
143 - - - -143 -
1,197 32,190 - -32,190 - 1,197
903 - - - -903 -
307 - - - - 307
- - 35,000 - - 35,000
- 190,000 - -181,173 - 8,827
- 190,000 - -186,640 - 3,360
- 72,000 - -67,981 - 4,019
- 67,000 - -66,403 - 597
7,970 75,000 - -61,700 - 21,270
8,171 - - -1,500 - 6,671
- - 5,200 - - 5,200
416,105 1,203,351 40,200 -1,017,451 -46,182 596,023
1 - - - -1 -
4,632 - - -422 - 4,210
- 10,000 - - - 10,000
1,340 - - - - 1,340
5,973 10,000 - -422 -1 15,550

78



Community preservation
Open space

Education:
School improvement plan
Technology
Athletic facilities

Unclassified
Uncommitted fund balance

Totals:

Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Combining Statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes
in fund balances - Capital non-recurring fund
As of and for the year ended June 30, 2018

Sub-Schedule C (continued)

Fund Fund
balance Annual balance
07/01/17 appropriation  Revenues  Expenditures  Transfers 06/30/18
$ 285801 50,000 $ - 8 -51,200 $ - $ 284,601
168,713 100,000 - -237,609 - 31,104
5,386 90,000 - -76,633 - 18,753
26,337 30,000 - -15,298 - 41,039
200,436 220,000 - -329,540 - 90,896
37,151 -96,456 - 59,304 -
$ 1,199,514 1,584,524 $ 71,635 $ -1,784,726 $ - $ 1,070,947
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Assets

Cash

Investments

Receivables

Inventory and prepaids

Due from other funds
Total assets

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities
Other liabilities
Due to other funds
Total liabilities

Fund balance
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total fund balance

Total liabilities and fund balance

Revenues
Intergovernmental revenues
Interest and investment earnings
Charges for services
Miscellaneous

Total revenues

Expenditures

Salary and wages

Program operating costs

Capital expenditures
Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers mn
Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balance

Fund balance - July 1

Fund balance - June 30

Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Combining Balance sheet and combining Statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances - Small cities program funds
As of and for the year ended June 30, 2018

Sub-Schedule D

Small Small Small cities
cities grant cities grant program
FY 2015 FY 2017 income
fund - 242 fund - 242 fund - 219 Totals

$ - % - 75462 % 75,462
- - 1,028,234 1,028,234

- - 1,103,696 1,103,696

- - 24,040 24,040

- - 2,400 2,400

- - 26,440 26,440

- - 1,077,256 1,077,256

- - 1,077,256 1,077,256

$ - $ - $ 1,103,696  $ 1,103,696
$ 42,325 $ 88,250 $ - $ 130,575
- - 120,333 120,333

42,325 88,250 120,333 250,908

42,325 88,250 64,730 195,305

42,325 88,250 64,730 195,305

- - 55,603 55,603

- - 55,603 55,603

- - 1,021,653 1,021,653

8 - $ - $ 1,077,256  $ 1,077,256
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Schedule of debt limitation
Connecticut General Statutes, Section 7-374 (b)

For the year ended June 30, 2018

Total tax collections (including interest and lien fees) for the current fiscal year.

Total tax collections (including interest and lien fees) of city, borough and all other

taxing districts within the Town for the current fiscal year.

Reimbursement for revenue loss on: Tax relief for the elderly - (CGS 12-129d)

Total base

Debt limitation:

21/4 times base
41/2 times base
3 3/4 times base
3 1/4 times base
3 times base

Total debt limitation

Indebtedness:

Bonds payable
Bonds authorized and unissued
Notes payable
Capital leases payable
Pension contribution payable
Accrued compensated absences:
School employees
Town employees
Accrued post closure landfill costs

Total indebtedness

Debt limitation in excess of
outstanding and authorized debt

Sub-Schedule E

$ 18,433,694

8 18433694

General Urban Pension
purposes Schools Sewers renewal deficit
$ 41475812 % - $ - $ - $ -
- 82,951,623 - - -
- - 69,126,353 - -
- - - 59,909,506 -
- - - - 55,301,082
41,475,812 82,951,623 69,126,353 59,909,506 55,301,082
273,600 866,400 4,233,692 - -
630,000 8,296,724 1,445,000 - -
109,816 - - - -
- 44,981 - - -
48,040 - - - -
18,631 - - - -
1,080,087 9,208,105 5,678,692 - -

$ 40,395,725

$ 73,743,518

$ 63,447,661

$ 59,909,506 $ 55,301,082

Note: Inno case shall total indebtedness exceed seven times annual receipts from taxation. The maximum amount permitted
under this formula would be $129,035,858 which is well above the $15,966,884 current amount of outstanding and authorized
and unissued debt of the Town. The authorized but unissued bond amounts relating to the school as of June 30, 2018 are made
up of $964,150 for middle school boiler replacementand heating system renovations, $360,000 for improvements to various school
facilities and $6,972,574 for the elementary and middle school projects. The authorized but unissued bond amounts relating to
general purpose 1tems as of June 30, 2018 equal $630,000 for the fire safety complex. The authorized and unissued bond amounts
relating to sewers as of June 30, 2018 relate to the Lebanon Amston Lake Sewer District construction project. These authorized
and unissued bond amounts have been included above due to the fact that the Town’s interpretation that the reasons for excluding
certain types of debt from inclusion in this schedule as outlined in the Connecticut General Statues Section 7-374(b) do not apply

to these items of authorized and unissued bond amounts
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Sub-Schedule F
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Schedule of property taxes levied,
collections, and outstanding balances
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Uncollected Current Lawful corrections Net
Grand taxes year taxes
list 06/30/17 taxes levied Additions Deductions collectable

2016 $ - $ 18,512,114 $ 51,680 $ -64,864 $ 18,498,930
2015 257,215 - 1,999 -8,698 250,516
2014 96,495 - - -3,080 93,415
2013 15,468 - 1,546 -2,319 14,695
2012 4,578 - - - 4,578
2011 3,377 - - - 3,377
2010 356 - - - 356
2009 527 - - - 527
2008 507 - - - 507
2007 382 - - - 382
2006 616 - - - 616
2005 286 - - - 286
2004 273 - - - 273
2003 263 - 419 - 682
2002 110 - - - 110
2001 105 - - - 105

$ 380,558 $ 18,512,114 $ 55,644 $ -78,961 $ 18,869,355
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Grand
list

2016
2015
2014
2013
2012
2011
2010
2009
2008
2007
2006
2005
2004
2003
2002
2001

Sub-Schedule F (continued)
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Schedule of property taxes levied,
collections, and outstanding balances
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Collections during the fiscal year Uncollected

Lien taxes

Taxes Interest fees Total Adjustments 06/30/18
$ 18,041,046 $ 66,672 % 3,258 $ 18,110,976 $ - $ 457,884
138,496 32,107 1,836 172,439 - 112,020
33,428 12,229 544 46,201 -39,758 20,229
8,118 3,228 144 11,490 - 6,577
2,123 1,340 120 3,583 - 2,455
1,715 1,621 72 3,408 - 1,662
- - - - - 356
- - - - - 527
- - - - - 507
- - - - - 382
- - - - - 616
- - - - - 286
- - - - - 273
419 - - 419 - 263
- - - - - 110

- - - - -105 -
$ 18,225,345 $ 117,197 $ 5,974 $ 18,348,516 $ -39,863 $ 604,147

This schedule is in effect designed to be shown on the cash basis of accounting whereas it shows the amount
being received against tax years as revenues when in effect they represent a reduction in the asset account for
each outstanding tax year. As a result, the total collections balance shown above will not tie out to the
property taxes revenues balance on Statement D, Statement E, or Sub-Schedule E. However, the following
is a reconciliation of selected balances from this schedule to the amount shown on Statement D, Statement E,
and Sub-Schedule E

$ 18,512,114 Current year taxes levied from page 82

117,197 Tax interest collections during the current fiscal year from above
5,974 Tax lien fee collections during the current fiscal year from above
17,355 Suspense principle balance collections during the current fiscal year
16,925 Suspense interest and lien collections during the current fiscal year
185 Suspense lien fee collections during the current fiscal year
-39,863 Account balance adjustments as items transferred to suspense and written off
-23,317 The net lawful corrections made during the current fiscal year from page 82
-172,876 The unearned tax revenue adjustment made as described in item number 2 on page 17

$ 18,433,694 Property taxes revenues per Statement D, Statement E, and Sub-Schedule E

Operation of Law - No tax can be collected 15 years after the original due date. The $105 adjustment shown
above for the 2001 grand list year represents a write off in accordance with this operation of law.

Taxes transferred (to) and from suspense. Though tax balances are transferred from active status to suspense
status they remain collectible. During the current fiscal year $17,355 was collected on principle suspense tax
balances owed, $16,925 of interest and $185 of lien fees were collected on principle suspense tax balances
owed. No certificates of correction were completed for taxes which had already been transferred to suspense
during the current fiscal year.
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Stephen T. Hopkins, CPA, PC

Auditing , Accounting, and Consulting Services

214 Holmes Road / Scarborough, Maine 04074 / Phone: (207) 885 - 5038 / Fax: (207) 470 - 5050

Independent Auditors' Report on internal control over financial reporting and on
compliance and other matters based on an audit of financial statements
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards

Board of Finance
Board of Selectmen
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted m the United States of America and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States
the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut, as of and for the year ended June
30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s basic
financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated December 31, 2018.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut's internal control
over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the
purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town
of Lebanon, Connecticut’s internal control.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and was not designed to
identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and, therefore, material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. However, as described in the accompanying schedule of
findings and questioned costs, we identified certamn deficiencies in internal control that we considered to be significant deficiencies.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the
normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material
weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. We do not
consider the deficiencies described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs to be material weaknesses.

A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. We do consider the deficiencies described
in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs to be a significant deficiencies. These significant deficiencies are
noted in the aforementioned schedule as item numbers 2018-01 through 2018-03.

Compliance and other matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut's financial statements are free of
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and, accordingly, we do
not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no reportable instances of noncompliance or other matters required
to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.
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The Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s Responses to Findings

The Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s responses to the findings identified in our audit are described in the accompanying schedule
of findings and questioned costs. The Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s responses were not subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on them.

Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s internal control or on compliance.
This report is an integral part of an audit performed m accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Town of
Lebanon, Connecticut’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.
Stephen T. Hopkins, CPA, PC

/_ / /J/é’t/v , (’ 2 ﬂ , ﬂ _

Scarborough, Maine
December 31, 2018
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Schedule of findings and questioned costs (continued)
June 30, 2018

2018-01 - Account reconciliations

Criteria:

The management of the Town and the Board of Education are responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of internal
controls for which the design of the system would allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis in addition to ensuring that the assets of the

Town are being safeguarded.

Condition and context:

For the current fiscal year there did not appear to be an adequate system of internal controls in place to ensure that all of the non-
cash asset and liability accounts on the trial balance of the Town were reconciled or more specifically that they were documented
when completed in accordance with the approved finance office accounting policies and procedures manual. Withoutan adequate
system of internal controls in place to ensure that allnon-cash asset and liability accounts are being reconciled and more importantly
that the reconciliation is being adequately documented, there is no way to ensure that items that may need to be corrected will be
prevented or even detected and corrected in a timely manner. We do consider this condition to represent a significant deficiency
in internal control over financial reporting.

Monthly bank reconciliations were prepared for all of the cash accounts of the Town as shown on the trial balance during the current
fiscal year and documented in accordance with the aforementioned finance office polices and procedures manual. In addition, it
does appear as though there was an adequate system of internal controls in place to review revenue and expenditure accounts to
determine if any transactions had been mis-posted and therefore needed to be corrected and that these reviews were being
adequately documented. However, it would appear as though a number of the non-cash asset and liability accounts either went
unreconciled or the reconciliation and results thereof went undocumented during the current fiscal year . If reconciliations were
prepared on these non-cash asset and liability accounts, Iwas unable to find any documentation of the reconciliations and theresults
of the reconciliations. The majority of the Town non-cash asset and liability accounts contained only immaterial remaining balance
variances which needed to be researched and adjusted. However, the miscellaneous accounts receivable asset account and the
deferred revenue property taxes liability account needed material adjustments in order to match the ending balances to adequate
supporting documentation.

An attempt was made by the Town to document the status of all non-cash asset and liability account reconciliations shown on the
trial balance as of March 31, 2018 and June 30, 2018. However, the trial balance status listing made a number of references to
accounts thatneeded to be researched and no backup documentation was included for the non-cash asset and liability accounts that
were labeled as being reconciled to match the reported balance to independent supporting documentation.

Effect and cause:

Without account reconciliations being prepared and documented for all non-cash asset and liability accounts it is difficult to have
an accurate financial picture of the Town during the fiscal year. Without an accurate financial picture there can be no reasonable
assurance present that the Town’s specific objectives are being achieved or that its” assets are bemg safeguarded. I was unable to
determine the specific reason that the non-cash asset and liability accounts either went unreconciled or that the reconciliation was
not adequately documented.

Recommendation:

We recommend that the Town follow the procedures outlined in the finance office accounting policies and procedures manual to
ensure that all non-cash asset and liability accounts are being reconciled and that these reconciliations are being adequately
documented at least on a semi-annual basis if not a quarterly basis. We also recommend that the Town continue to use the
reconciliation status sheet referenced above though adequate independent supporting documentation should be attached.

Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions:

We have discussed this finding with our auditor and we do agree with his recommendations as described above. We plan to
incorporate the above recommendations relating to the use of the current reconciliation status sheet but to also determuine the
adequate form of independent supporting documentation to be attached.
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Schedule of findings and questioned costs (continued)
June 30, 2018

2018-02 - Cash disbursements
Criteria:

The management of the Town and the Board of Education are responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of internal
controls for which the design of the system would allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis in addition to ensuring that the assets of the
Town are being safeguarded.

Condition:

During the current fiscal year audit, a number of expenditures relating to the school student activity accounts were selected for
testing within the current fiscal year and as subsequent events during the beginning of the next fiscal year. The invoices relating
to these expenditures were requested to be pulled for the review of a number of items such as the correct accounting period, the
correct amount being paid, items being paid from actual invoices, and whether or not individual invoices are nitialed as being
reviewed and approved. There did not appear to be an adequate system of internal controls in place at one of the locations tested
to ensure that only invoices containing the initials or signature of the individual approving the expenditure were being processed.
In addition, it was determined at another location tested that invoices at times included a stamped signature approving the
expenditures. Though this practice in and of itself would not necessarily constitute an internal control deficiency, the signature
stamp in question at this location was stored in the desk of the individual processing the invoices for payment. At this second
location it was also determined that the individual approving an invoice was the individual who was being paid or reimbursed
through the invoice. Wedo consider these conditions to represent a significant deficiency in internal control over financial reporting.

Context:

Twelve of the fourteen invoices that were reviewed at the first location did not contain any irutials or signature of an approving
individual. Four of the six invoices that were reviewed at the second location were approved using the above mentioned signature
stamp and the only reimbursement invoice tested at this location was approved by the individual being reimbursed. Sampling
techniques are used to select items for testing which means that not all transactions are reviewed or tested during this process. As
aresult, there could be other invoices being processed for payment without the initials or signature of the individual approving the
payment. There could also be other invoices approved using the aforementioned signature stamp as well as additional invoices
to individuals for reimbursements having been approved by those individuals.

Effect:

Withoutthe initials or signature of the individual approving the payment of invoices as well a signature stamp outside of the control
of the individual whose signature is represented, there can be no assurance that the goods or services being purchases were actually
received and creates doubt as to whether the assets of the Town are being adequately safeguarded.

Cause:

I was unable to determine the specific reason that these conditions were present during the current fiscal year.

Recommendation:

We recommend that invoices should never be paid or even entered into the accounting software at all locations of the Town without
anappropriate set of initials or a signature on the invoice approving the expenditure. In addition, we recommend thatany signature
stamps being used by mdividuals be in the possession of those individuals and that individuals being reimbursed are not the same
individuals responsible for reviewing and approving the reimbursements.

Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions:

We have discussed this finding with our auditor and we do understand the importance of an adequate invoice approval process.
Invoices being paid at all locations within the Town will be required to have appropriate approving signatures on each invoice and
reimbursements to individuals will no longer be approved by those individuals for payment.
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Schedule of findings and questioned costs (continued)
June 30, 2018

2018-03 - Compliance with the provisions of permanent trust fund principal balances
Criteria:

Permanent funds are used to account for and report resources that are restricted to the extent that only earnings, and not principal,
may be used for purposes that support the Town's programs and in effect the benefit of the Town or its citizens. Over the years,
permanent trust fund amounts have been given to the Town in this manner and with the intent that the principal portion of the trust
will stay in tact and be used to earn mcome which will in turn be used for the purposes specified within each individual trust
agreement. Within the fund financial statements, this principal portion is classified as a nonspendable fund balance amount with
any positive residual fund balance being classified as restricted and any negative residual fund balance being classified as
unassigned. Within the government-wide financial statements, this principal portion is classified as restricted and nonspendable
with any positive or negative residual fund balance being classified as either restricted and spendable or unrestricted.

Condition:

The Town currently has sixteen individual permanent fund trusts that it has been given over the years and which are accounted
for and reported within the financial statements as shown on Schedule C starting on page 71. Six of these permanent trusts relate
to amounts for which the earnings are used to benefit the Board of Education and more specifically the students in the form of
scholarships. Amounts from these six permanent fund trusts are transferred annually to the high school student activity account
where the actual scholarships are accounted for and disbursed The principal balance within two of these six permanent fund trusts
have been overspent in the aggregate amount of $942 which would seem to show that the Town is not currently in compliance with
the need to preserve the principal of these permanent fund trusts. Inaddition, a third permanent fund trust would appear as though
itwill be overspent during the upcoming fiscal year. We do consider these conditions to representa significant deficiency in internal
control over compliance and in turn financial reporting

Context and effect:

The amount of this aggregate over expenditure of the principal portion of these two permanent fund trusts of $942 would appear
to be immaterial in amount when considering that the total principal portion of these six permanent fund trusts is $262,085. This
would however bring into question the effectiveness and adequacy of the internal controls in place to ensure the preservation of
these principal balances. The Town does have other permanent fund trust agreements in which the principal portion has not been
overexpended The difference between these two groups of permanent funds is that the over expended trusts relate to scholarship
permanent funds while the other non over-expended trusts relate to library and cemetery permanent funds.

Cause:

The Town revised its investments policy for endowments and donations on July 12, 2016. In regard to principal balances the revised
policy states, “ The investment principal shall not be utilized for any endowment/donation except where the purpose is to fund
an ongoing scholarship award. Endowments or donations funding a scholarship award may utilize principal to fund the award in
order to achieve a minimum annual award of $500.00" and “When the value of an individual endowment/ donation used to fund
an annual scholarship award falls below the minimum scholarship award ($500.00) the endowment/donation shall be entirely
liquidated and the funds provided to the Lyman HS scholarship committee”. We were unable to determine that any approval had
been received from the individuals who had originally provided the nonspendable principal portion of each trust fund to the Town
that the nonspendable portion could now be expended. We were also unable to determine that any legal gurdance had been
obtained relating to the changing of the parameters and use of received and accepted nonspendable trust donations by the Town.

Recommendation:

We recommend that the Town contact each original permanent fund donee relating to these above school scholarship funds and
obtain some type of waiver or acceptance of the use of the previously donated and accepted nonspendable portions of each fund
within the parameters of the Town’s revised investment policy. We also recommend that writtenlegal guidance be obtained relating
to any original permanent fund donee that may not be reachable to provide a legal opinion or precedence for the Town changing
the agreed upon use of these accepted nonspendable funds.

Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions*

We have discussed this finding with our auditor and we believe that the Town does have the authority to change the agreed upon
use of these nonspendable funds based on the subsequently revised investment policy.
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Stephen T. Hopkins, CPA, PC

Auditing , Accounting, and Consulting Services

214 Holmes Road / Scarborough, Maine 04074 / Phone: (207) 885 - 5038 / Fax: (207) 470 - 5050

Independent Auditors Report on Compliance for each major state program and
Internal control over compliance and the Schedule of expenditures of state
financial assistance required by the State Single Audit Act

Board of Finance
Board of Selectmen
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Report on Compliance for Each Major State Program

Wehaveaudited the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the Office
of Policy and Management’s Compliance Supplentent that could have a direct and material effect on each of the Town of Lebanon,
Connecticut’s major state programs for the year ended June 30, 2018. The Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s major state programs
are identified in the summary of auditors’ results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

Management’s Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts and grants applicable to its state
programs.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s major state programs
based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained
in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the State Single Audit Act (C.G.S
Sections 4-230 to 4-236). Those standards and the State Single Audit Act require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have
a direct and material effect on a major state program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the
Town of Lebanon, Connecticut's compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major state program. However, our
audit does not provide a legal determination of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s compliance.
Opinion on Each Major State Program

In our opinion, the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut, complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major state programs for the year ended June 30, 2018.
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut, is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we
considered the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have
a direct and material effect on each major state program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate m the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance for each major state program and to test and report on
internal control over compliance in accordance with the State Single Audit Act, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance Accordingly, we do notexpress an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town
of Lebanon, Connecticut’s internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control
over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, mn internal control over compliance such that there is a reasonable
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state program will not be prevented, or detected
and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state program that is less severe than
amaterial weakness in internal control over compliance, yetimportantenough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies ininternal control over compliance that mightbe material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the State Single Audit Act. Accordingly, this report is not
suitable for any other purpose.

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance Required by the State Single Audit Act

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented
component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut, as of and
for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Town of Lebanon,
Connecticut’s basic financial statements. Wehaveissued our report thereon dated December 31, 2018, which contained unmodified
opinions on those financial statements Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements
that collectively comprise the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of
expenditures of state financial assistance is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the State Single Audit Act,
and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used
to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America Inour opinion, the schedule of expenditures
of state financial assistance is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Stephen T. Hopkins, CPA, PC

oot 7 [//M, crA, Pe

Scarborough, Maine
December 31, 2018
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance
For the year ended June 30, 2018

State grantor/pass through
Grantor/program title

Office of Policy and Management:

Payment in lieu of taxes (PILOT) on state owned property
Disabled program

Property tax relief for veterans

Local capital improvement

Municipal purposes and projects

Department of Education:

Child nutrition program state match
Healthy food initiative

Vocational Agriculture

Adult education

School breakfast program

Office of Early Childhood:

Early care and education
School readiness quality enhancement

Connecticut State Library:

Connecticard payments
Historic documents preservation grant

Department of Transportation:

Bus operations
Town aid road grants - Municipal
Town aid road grants - STO

Department of Agriculture:

Agricultural viability
FAD - Temporary holding account

Other Departments and miscellaneous awards:

Non-budgeted operating appropriations
Other expenses
Other expenses

Total State Financial Assistance before exempt programs

91

State grant program
Core-CT number

Expenditures

11000-OPM20600-17004
11000-OPM20600-17011
11000-OPM20600-17024
12050-OPM20600-40254
12052-OPM20600-43587

11000-SDE64370-16211
11000-SDE64370-16212
11000-SDE64370-17017
11000-SDE64370-17030
11000-SDE64370-17046

11000-OEC64845-16274
11000-OEC64845-16158

11000-CSL66051-17010
12060-CSL66094-35150

12001-DOT57931-12175
12052-DOT57131-43455
13033-DOT57131-43459

12060-DAG42710-90456
34003-DAG42640-42350

34001-JUD95162-40001
11000-DRS16410-10020
11000-DSS60439-10020

$ 3,140
673

4,840

130,487
30,427

3,624
6,893
245,722
7,879
8,682

112,493
3,881

1,778
4,000

32,597
134,900
159,311

22,500
35

1,875
20
20

$ 915,777



Town of Lebanon, Connecticut

Schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance (continued)

For the year ended June 30, 2018

State grantor/pass through
Grantor/program htle

Department of Education:

Education equalization grants program 82010
Special education excess costs

Department of Administrative Services:

School construction interest
School construction principle

Office of Policy and Management:

Mashantucket Pequat Grant
Municipal stabilization grant

Total exempt programs

Total expenditures of State Financial Assistance

Exempt Programs
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State grant program
Core-CT number

Expenditures

11000-SDE64370-17041
11000-SDE64370-17047

13009-DAS27636-40896
13010-DAS27636-40901

12009-OPM20600-17005
11000-OPM20600-17104

$ 4,707,282
374,789

4,420
136,516

32,377
49,368

5,304,752

$ 6,220,529



Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Notes to Schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance
For the year ended June 30, 2018

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance includes state grant activity of the Town of Lebanon,
Connecticut under programs of the State of Connecticut for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. Various departments and agencies
of the State of Connecticut have provided financial assistance through grants and other authorizations in accordance with the
General Statutes of the State of Connecticut. These financial assistance programs fund several programs including but not limited
to education, transportation, tax relief, and library programs.

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accounting policies of the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America as applicable to governments. The information in the schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance
is presented based upon regulations established by the State of Connecticut, Office of Policy and Management.

Basis of Accounting

There are two sets of basic financial statements contained in the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s annual report as required by
GAGSB Statement No. 34. The government-wide financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting, whereas,
the fund financial statements are prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting. The following is a summary of such
bases:

Accrual Basis - Government-wide financial statements:

* Revenues are recognized when they are earned.
* Expenses are recorded when they are incurred.

Modified Accrual Basis - Fund financial statements:

* Revenues are recognized when they become measurable and available. Available includes those property tax receivables
expected to be collected within sixty days after year end. Miscellaneous revenues are recorded when received in cash
because they are generally not measurable until actually received. Intergovernmental revenues, and interest income are
accrued, when their receipt occurs soon enough after the end of the accounting period so as to be both measurable and
available.

* Expenditures are recorded generally when the related fund liability is incurred. This includes reimbursable expenditures
which have been incurred by the Town and therefore included in the accompanying schedule of expenditures of state
financial assistance but which have not yet been reimbursed and are considered and recorded as accounts receivable. The
determination of when an award is expended should be based on when the activity related to the award occurs. Exceptions
to this general rule include principal and interest on general long-term debt which is recorded when due.

The expenditures reported on the Schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance are reported on the modified accrual basis
of accounting. Inaccordance with Section 4-236-22 of the Regulations to the State Single Audit Act, certain grants are not dependent
on expenditure activity, and accordingly, are considered to be expended in the fiscal year of receipt. These grant program receipts
are reflected in the expenditures column of the schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance.
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Schedule of findings and questioned costs
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Summary of Audit Results

Financial Statements:

Type of auditor’s report issued: Unmodified
Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness (es) identified? yes X no
Significant deficiency (ies) identified? X yes none reported

* Noncompliance material to the financial statements noted? yes X no
State Financial Assistance:
Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance for major programs Unmodified
Internal control over major programs:
* Material weakness (es) identified? yes X no
* Significant deficiency (ies) identified? yes X none reported
* Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with Section 4-236-24 of the
Regulations to the State Single Audit Act? yes X no

Major State Programs and percentage of coverage:

The following schedule reflects the major programs included in the audit. Sec.4-230 of the Connecticut General Statutes states
thata “major state program means any program, excluding an exempt program, determined to be a major state program by
the mmdependent auditor pursuant to the requirements of the risk based approach”. Under step two of this process all Type
A programs must be identified. Based on the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut’s non-exempt expenditures of state financial
assistance amount of $915,777, a Type A program shall be considered a non-exempt state program for which the amount of
state financial assistance expended under the program for the audit period equals or exceeds $100,000. The Town of Lebanon
has five Type A programs for the current fiscal year based on the $100,000 dollar threshold and therefore all of its remaining
programs would be considered Type B programs. The Town has two Type B programs for which a risk assessment must be
performed considering the Type B programs with expenditures in excess of $25,000.

In accordance with Subpart A of the risk assessment procedures, the following considerations have been applied to the Type
A programs of the Town to determine whether they should be considered high risk: The dollar value of the applicable
transactions, the complexity of the requirements of the program and as compared to other programs of the Town, whether
the program has been tested as major during at least one of the two most recent audit periods and an assessment based on
professional judgement. The Town’'s five Type A programs were determined to be high-risk and therefore were audited as
major programs. The two Type B programs of the Town for which a risk assessment was required were determined not to
be high-risk and thus were not audited as major programs. The total non-exempt state financial assistance expended by the
Town for the current audit period was $915,777. The programs tested as major and shown below represent approximately
85% of the total non-exempt state financial assistance expended.

State grant program

State grantor and program Core-CT number Expenditures
Local capital improvement 12050-OPM20600-40254 $ 130,487
Vocational Agriculture 11000-SDE64370-17017 245,722
Early care and education 11000-OEC64845-16274 112,493
Town aid road grants - Municipal 12052-DOT57131-43455 134,900
Town aid road grants - STO 13033-DOT57131-43459 159,311

$ 782,913
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs: $ 100,000
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Town of Lebanon, Connecticut
Schedule of findings and questioned costs (continued)
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Financial Statement Findings

We issued our report, dated December 31, 2018, on internal control over financial reporting and on compliance and other
matters based on an audit of the financial statements performed mn accordance with Government Auditing Standards.

Our report on internal control over financial reporting indicated three significant deficiencies. The details of these significant
deficiencies can be found in the schedule of findings and questioned costs labeled as item numbers 2018-01 through 2018-03

starting on page 86 We do not consider any of these significant deficiencies to be material weaknesses.

Our report on compliance indicated no reportable instances of noncompliance.

State Financial Assistance Findings and Questioned Costs

No findings or questioned costs are being reported relating to State financial assistance programs.

IV. Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings

Financial Statement Findings:

Finding No. 2017-01

Condition - There did not appear to be an adequate system of internal controls in place to ensure that all of the non-cash asset
and liability accounts on the trial balance of the Town were reconciled or more specifically that they were documented when

completed in accordance with the approved finance office accounting policies and procedures manual.

CurrentStatus - Though an attempt was made to address this finding, it was not corrected and is included as current fiscal year
finding 2018-01.

Planned Corrective Action - See response included in the current fiscal year submitted Corrective Action Plan.

Finding No. 2017-02
Condition - Bank reconciliations were not being completed for the school lunch program.

Current Status - This finding has been corrected.

Finding No. 2017-03

Condition - The bank reconciliations being prepared for the school general checking account and the school grants checking
account were not being reviewed once completed by someone outside of the accounting function.

Current Status - This finding has been corrected.
State Program Findings:

There were no findings and questioned costs related to state financial assistance award programs reported in the audit report
for the Town of Lebanon, Connecticut for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017.
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